# **DIAS report**



Plant Production no. 81 • October 2002



# Greenhouse Gas Inventories for Agriculture in the Nordic Countries

Proceedings from an international workshop Helsingør, Denmark 24-25 January 2002 funded by the Nordic Council of Ministers

Søren O. Petersen & Jørgen E. Olesen (ed.)

Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences

### Preface

The emission of greenhouse gases by agriculture constitutes, particularly for methane and nitrous oxide, a significant part of total anthropogenic emissions. National inventories are, however, characterized by uncertainties and differences which complicate the identification of effective mitigation options.

On 24-25th January 2002 a workshop was held in Snekkersten, Denmark. The aims of the workshop were three-fold:

- to discuss aspects of agricultural production in the Nordic countries relevant to greenhouse gas emissions;
- to compare emissions measurements and inventories for the Nordic countries with the IPCC methodology for calculating greenhouse gas emissions;
- to discuss the need for a common approach that takes specific conditions in the Nordic countries into consideration.

Experts were invited to present and discuss the current knowledge on various aspects of greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture. This report contains the papers presented at the workshop, as well as an overview of emissions inventories in the Nordic countries. The first chapter summarizes a number of conclusions derived from the presentations and from the general discussion at the workshop.

The workshop was organised by a joint Nordic working group including scientists and government officials from Iceland, Finland, Norway, Sweden and Denmark. The members of the working group were Jørgen E. Olesen (Denmark, chairman), Søren O. Petersen (Denmark, secretary), Kristin Rypdal (Norway), Rolf Adolfsson (Sweden), Birna S. Hallsdottir (Iceland), Martti Esala (Finland) and Jørgen Fenhann (Denmark). The working group and the workshop were funded by the Nordic Council of Ministers under contract 6700134-Y537.

Research Centre Foulum, September 2002 Jørgen E. Olesen and Søren O. Petersen

# Contents

The need for truly common Nordic guidance on greenhouse gas emissions
inventories for agriculture7
<i>General guidance and procedures for estimating and reporting national GHG emissions for agriculture</i>
Comparison of national and IPCC default methodologies to estimate methane and nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture
Methane emissions from enteric fermentation – effects of diet composition37
Methane emissions from livestock manure – effects of storage conditions and climate
A new model for calculating the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions through anaerobic co-digestion of manure and organic waste
Effects of cultivation practice on carbon storage in arable soils and grassland 64
Carbon balances for arable soils – weak data sets and strong theory
Changes in soil C and N content in different cropping systems and soil types77
Energy crops as a strategy for reducing greenhouse gas emissions
Nitrous oxide emissions from manure handling – effects of storage conditions and climate
A critical analysis of nitrous oxide emissions from animal manure
Nitrous oxide emissions from field-applied fertilizers
Nitrous oxide emissions at low temperatures135
Nitrous oxide emissions derived from N leaching143
List of participants

#### Dansk sammendrag af hovedkonklusioner

De aktuelle opgørelser af drivhusgasudledninger fra landbruget i de nordiske lande er alle baseret på det internationale klimapanel IPCC's retningslinier. Imidlertid er der forskel på de enkelte landes konkrete anvendelse af den anbefalede metodik. Forskellige detaljeringsgrader (tiers) benyttes, og i en række tilfælde er nationale tilpasninger af metodikken anvendt til estimering af kilder og emissionsfaktorer. Derfor findes der i øjeblikket ikke en fælles sammenhængende og gennemskuelig metodik til beregning af drivhusgasudledninger indenfor Norden.

Effektiv prioritering af tiltag til begrænsning af landbrugets drivhusgasudledninger forudsætter en metodik, som inkluderer alle relevante drivhusgasser, metan (CH<sub>4</sub>), lattergas (N<sub>2</sub>O) og kuldixoid (CO<sub>2</sub>). Kulstoflagring i landbrugsjord er ikke i øjeblikket inkluderet i emissionsopgørelserne, og metodikken til estimering af CO<sub>2</sub>-fluxe fra landbruget er under revision. Det største problem i opgørelsen af CO<sub>2</sub>-balancen er verificérbarheden, idet CO<sub>2</sub>-fluxen kan være høj selv ved små ændringer i jordens kulstoflager.

Der er et stort behov for forbedring af IPCC-metodikken. Den bør tilpasses lokale forhold, men på grundlag af fælles retningslinier. Klimatiske variationer indenfor Norden bør afspejle sig i opgørelserne af metanemissioner fra husdyrgødningslagre, og der er behov for en større differentiering af emissionsfaktorerne for lattergas fra både direkte og indirekte kilder. For nogle af udledningerne fra husdyrgødningshåndtering er der brug for en reevaluering af principperne bag den aktuelt anvendte IPCC-metodik.

Forbedringer af metodikken kan ikke ske uden indsigt i systemerne og de bagvedliggende mekanismer. For nogle kilder til drivhusgasser foreligger der en mængde eksperimentelle data, og tilstrækkelig med viden til at forbedringer kan gennemføres. Dette er ikke tilfældet for alle kilder, og der er et klart behov for en modelbeskrivelse af landbrugssystemet, hvorfra simple, men pålidelige metoder til forbedring af emissionsopgørelserne kan udledes.

### The need for truly common Nordic guidance on greenhouse gas emissions inventories for agriculture

Jørgen E. Olesen<sup>\*</sup> and Søren O. Petersen Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Foulum <sup>\*</sup>e-mail: JorgenE.Olesen@agrsci.dk

#### Summary

Current greenhouse gas emissions inventories for agriculture in the Nordic countries are all based on the IPCC guidelines. However, there are discrepancies between countries in the application of these methodologies. Different tiers of the methodology are used in the different countries, and national adaptations of the methodology have in many cases been used for estimating activities and emission factors. There is thus currently not a common consistent and transparent methodology for greenhouse gas emission inventories at the Nordic level.

Effective uptake of mitigation options requires a methodology that properly covers all agricultural greenhouse gases,  $CH_4$ ,  $N_2O$  and  $CO_2$ . Carbon storage in agricultural soils is currently not covered in the emission inventories, and the methodology for making inventories is currently under review. The main problem of estimating  $CO_2$  fluxes from agriculture is that of verifiability, because large fluxes may occur from only small changes in the carbon stock.

There is a great need to improve this IPCC methodology and to make it more locally adapted, but based on common guidelines. The climatic variation within the Nordic countries needs be accounted for in the estimates of methane emissions from manure, and the emission factors for nitrous oxide from both direct and indirect sources should be differentiated more than what is currently the case. For some of the emissions from manure management, there is a need to re-evaluate the principles of the current IPCC methodology.

Improvement of the methodology cannot happen without insight into the systems and the mechanisms behind. For some of the emissions sources there is a lot of experimental data available, and sufficient knowledge to improve the methodology. However, this is not the case for all sources, and there is a clear need to apply systems modelling and to derive simple, but reliable methods that can improve the emissions inventories.

#### Introduction

Agriculture contributes significantly to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, primarily due to emissions of methane and nitrous oxide. The share of agricultural  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions of the total national GHG emission vary between the Nordic countries, from 7% in Finland to 16% in Denmark.  $CO_2$  from soils is reported under Land Use Change and Forestry (LUCF), and this is currently not included in the national emissions totals.

The agricultural GHG emissions originate primarily from biological processes associated with enteric fermentation, handling of manure and from crop production. Many of these processes are complex and occur in a complex environment, which often is also not well defined. Accordingly, there are large uncertainties associated with emissions estimates (Rypdal, 2002), and these uncertainties also make it difficult to evaluate efficiencies of mitigation measures.

Current greenhouse gas emissions inventories in the Nordic countries are all based on the IPCC guidelines (IPCC, 1997, 2000). However, there are discrepancies between countries in the application of these methodologies. Different tiers of the methodology are used in the different countries, and national data have often been used for estimating activities and emission factors (Petersen et al., 2002).

The GHG emission inventories should be accurate, transparent, complete and consistent. The large differences between Nordic countries in the application of the IPCC methodology for emissions inventories reduces the comparability of the inventories, and this calls for some common guidance in the Nordic region on greenhouse gas emissions inventories from agriculture. Such common guidance should be so detailed that they would promote the uptake of cost-effective abatement strategies.

#### **Climatic conditions**

The average annual temperatures at sites representative for agricultural areas in the Nordic countries range from 3.9 to 7.1 °C (Petersen et al., 2002). This is considerably less than the limit of 15 °C set by the IPCC for cool regions. The temperature affects most biological processes, and in particular the emissions from manure management depend strongly on temperature during manure storage. It was thus demonstrated that methane emissions from stored slurry differ by 30 to 40% with the climate gradient in the Nordic countries (Petersen et al., 2002).

It has been demonstrated in several studies that nitrous oxide emissions may occur at high rates, even in frozen soil (Martikainen, 2002). In boreal regions winter emissions of nitrous oxide can account for more than 50% of the annual emissions. The emissions at low temperatures can be greatly enhanced by freezing-thawing cycles. The interactions between soil physics, chemistry, microbiology and N<sub>2</sub>O production at low temperatures are still poorly understood. These winter emissions also seem to be independent of nitrogen input (Lægreid & Aastveit, 2002). It is therefore difficult to estimate how much of the N<sub>2</sub>O emission at low temperature that is anthropogenic, i.e. attributed to agriculturally derived N or cultivation of soils. The IPCC methodology is only concerned with the emissions attributable to human interference. This calls for new experiments and studies to separate the natural from the anthropogenic influence on low temperature N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.

#### **Enteric fermentation**

Cattle are the most important methane producing animals in the Nordic countries, and dairy cattle constitute by far the largest proportion of the cattle. The dairy cows in the Nordic countries are on a global scale very productive, and this productivity has increased considerably over time, effectively reducing the methane production per unit product. The increasing productivity of dairy cows has meant a decrease in population size. However, at the same time there has been an increase in the population of beef cattle. As these suckler cows are often fed and housed differently from the dairy cows, it becomes increasingly important to separate these two groups in the emission inventories.

The IPCC tier 2 method for estimating methane from enteric fermentation is based on estimation of energy use by the animals. The methods for estimating energy content in feed vary considerably in the Nordic countries. There are thus currently four different systems in operation. For example, in Sweden a national methodology based on feed energy requirements expressed as metabolisable energy is used to estimate emissions factors for dairy cows. It was recently revised, but still gives about 10% higher values than the methodology based on net energy recommended by the IPCC. The Swedish emission factor for dairy cows, 130 kg CH4/ head/yr, also differs considerably from the 104 kg/CH4 head/yr used in Denmark (1995). However, this difference is completely eliminated when using input data valid for Danish conditions, mainly animal weight, activity, milk yield and feed quality, into the calulations scheme for the Swedish cow polulation (Staaf unpublished). This indicates that it is possible to compare the various approaches in the Nordic countries. Anyway, there may be a need to combine the specific feed energy data used in national inventories with methane conversion rates that are adapted to the local system. Despite these difficulties, estimates of methane emissions from enteric fermentation are less uncertain than many of the other sources of methane and nitrous oxide emission from agriculture. This is due to the good statistics on cattle population and productivity and the large knowledge base on the factors affecting methane production.

There are a number of ways to reduce methane emissions from enteric fermentation. However, none of the seem to be currently feasible, either due to their costs, effect on landscape or acceptance in the public (Bertilsson, 2002). One of the only effective, acceptable and economically feasible options currently available seems to be to accept and possibly reinforce the general trend of increasing the productivity of the animals.

#### Manure management

Manure management in the animal houses and during storage emits both methane and nitrous oxide to the atmosphere. For all Nordic countries two gases contributes equally to the global warming, i.e. measured in CO<sub>2</sub> equivalents (Petersen et al., 2002). However, there is some variation between the countries with the share of nitrous oxide being only 33% in Norway, but 66% in Finland. Such differences are caused by differences in manure type and handling.

The primary manure management strategies used in the Nordic countries are slurry systems, deep litter systems and separate systems, where farmyard manure and liquid manure are collected separately. The slurry and deep litter systems are becoming the dominant manure management systems.

A distinction should be made between emissions that occur during storage inside and outside animal houses. The IPCC methodology does not make this distinction, and for example methane emissions from the deep litter mat in the animal house does not seem to be included in the emissions inventories (Hansen et al., 2002). There is a major emission of methane from deep litter mats in the animal house, but almost no emission of nitrous oxide (Sommer & Petersen, 2002). Little is known about the methane emissions from slurry stored in the house. It can, however, be assumed to be significant, in particular in insulated houses, where slurry temperature is relatively high also during winter. Nitrous oxide emissions from animal houses probably mainly occur from slatted floors in slurry systems and manure/air interfaces in tie stall systems.

The emissions of both methane and nitrous oxide from solid manure stores strongly depend on the temperature and flow in the manure heap. During composting there may be a methane emissions, whereas nitrous oxide emissions primarily occur at lower temperatures in the heap. Temperature has been found to strongly affect methane from slurry storages, but the level varies considerably between stores.

The IPCC methodology assumes that the nitrous oxide emissions from manure storages is a fixed proportion of the nitrogen excreted. However, estimates of N2O emissions from slurry stores should preferably be based on surface area, ammonium content and water balance. The emissions of both methane and nitrous oxide from solid manure heaps should consider surface area and the potential for composting (bulk density and moisture content).

It should be noted that emissions of both methane and nitrous oxide from manure management have large uncertainties, as there are only few studies in this area. There is thus a great need for further studies that may serve as basis for a revision of the IPCC methodology.

#### Nitrous oxide emissions from soils

Nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural soils originate from two microbial processes that both depend on the availability of nitrogen; nitrification and denitrification. The production of N<sub>2</sub>O occurs at higher rates when the oxygen content in the soil is depleted, which may occur due to high soil moisture contents or due to locally high microbial activity in the soil. High N<sub>2</sub>O rates are therefore often also associated with availability of easy decomposable carbon sources in the soils.

The current IPCC methodology assumes that all inputs of nitrogen lead to nitrous oxide emissions. For the input of N in biological fixation, this probably leads to double counting, since the N-fixation takes place inside the plants, and the N that contributes to N<sub>2</sub>O emissions is the N made available to the soil microorganisms. This soil N from N fixation is counted in either crop residues or manure.

The IPCC methodology applies the same overall emission factor for all N inputs. This emission factor was originally derived from whole year studies in the USA and UK (Bouwman, 1996). This study showed a clear relationship between nitrogen application rate and nitrous oxide emissions, indicating that  $1.25\pm1.0\%$ of the added N was emitted as N<sub>2</sub>O during one year. However, analysis of compilations of more and newer datasets does not give as clear a picture on the effect of N application rate on nitrous oxide emissions (Kasimir Klemedtsson & Klemedtsson, 2002; Lægreid & Aastveit, 2002).

Analysis of the available datasets on nitrous oxide emissions from soil have shown that the emissions are generally higher following application of manure compared with mineral N fertilisers. Kasimir Klemedtsson (2001) suggested an emission coefficient for mineral fertiliser of 0.8% of added N and for manure 2.5% of added N. This lower emission factor for mineral N fertiliser is supported by the study of Lægreid & Aastveit (2002). However, they found that the emission factor was higher in carbon rich soils.

The IPCC emission factor is essentially based on estimates of the initial burst of N<sub>2</sub>O following fertilizer and manure application that may last for up to two months, while a second component is long-term and due to nitrogen in organic matter accumulating the soil. This second component is only partly covered by the IPCC methodology, i.e. through the effect of fertilizer and manure application on nitrogen returned in crop residues and other forms of N bound inorganic matter. The IPCC methodology may therefore overestimate effects of recent additions, but underestimate long-term effects. Kasimir Klemedtsson & Klemedtsson (2002) proposed a background emission of 0.5 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for mineral soils under Nordic conditions to compensate for the lack of an emission factor for the long-term effect due to past N additions. However, this may be an overestimation since the IPCC methodology also includes the recycling of N in manure and crop resi

dues. Also it is not clear what the true background emissions from natural ecosystems are. Here there will also be a recycling of N resulting in  $N_2O$  emissions.

There appears to be a large uncertainty regarding the estimation of amount of N in crop residues, and the methodology is also different in IPCC (2001) compared with IPCC (1997). The uncertainty can be illustrated by the fact that  $N_2O$  emissions of 6.2 kt yr<sup>-1</sup> were estimated from Denmark in 1999, but only 1.3 kt yr<sup>-1</sup> from Sweden, even though emissions from application of mineral fertiliser and manure only ranged from 8.4 kt  $N_2O$  yr<sup>-1</sup> in Denmark to 4.6 kt yr<sup>-1</sup> in Sweden (Petersen et al., 2002). These estimates were obtained using similar emission factors, and the differences must therefore be attributed to differences in the methodology for estimating N in crop residues. It seems unlikely that the amount of N in crop residues would vary by a factor of 5 between Denmark and Sweden. There is therefore a need to develop and adopt comparable methodologies on this item on a Nordic basis.

This calls for measurements of nitrous oxide emissions in long-term fertiliser and crop rotation experiments. There is also a need for use of dynamic simulation models to better understand the influence of different management factors on nitrous oxide emissions. These models may be tested against the large base of N<sub>2</sub>O measurements, but this requires that sufficient additional data is measured and reported in these studies (Lægreid & Aastveit, 2002). Such generally applicable models may also be used to derive simpler models for use in emissions inventories. This will probably lead to different emission factors for the different inputs into the system. However, there does not currently seem to be any justification for country specific emission factors for soils.

#### Indirect emissions of nitrous oxide

The indirect emissions of nitrous oxide are those associated with emissions during microbial turnover after the nitrogen has left the agricultural system. This is associated with three components; nitrate lost by leaching or runoff, ammonia volatilisation, and human sewage. Agricultural management may primarily influence the two first components.

The emission factor for nitrate leaching is the highest used in the IPCC methodology, 2.5% N<sub>2</sub>O-N of N lost by leaching. This is the sum of three components along the flow path; 1.5% from groundwater, 0.75% from rivers and 0.25% from estuaries. There are very few data in general to support emission coefficients of this type, and some data support these values, while other data suggest lower emission coefficients. However, it is clear that there is a great variation in the ability of ground water, riparian zones, wetlands, rivers and estuaries to process nitrate and produce nitrous oxide, in particular the ratio of N<sub>2</sub>:N<sub>2</sub>O may have tremendous spatial variation (Groffman et al., 2002). It may be critical to include this spatial variation in emissions in the methodology, in order to reduce uncertainties associated with this emission.

Sweden has in its national emission inventories adopted at considerably smaller emission factor of only 0.25% as opposed to the 2.5% of the official IPCC methodology (Kasimir Klemedtsson, 2001). Whereas there may be reasons to believe that the official emission factor may be too high, it remains questionable whether there currently is sufficiently documentation to substantially change this figure. During 2002 Sweden has reconsidered this low emission factor and decided to adopt the 2.5% recommended by IPCC for the calculation of emissions for 1990-2001 to be reported to UNFCCC during 2003. Given the magnitude of the nitrous oxide emissions from N lost by leaching, it should be a research priority to provide better estimates of this emission, both through more measurements and through the use of models that track the nitrogen on its path through the land-scape. This may be obtained by adding the issue of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions to current national measurement programs of movement of water and N across the landscape.

#### Carbon storage in soils

Changes in the agricultural soil carbon pool are not reported in the Agriculture chapter of the IPCC methodology, but under Land Use Change and Forestry (LUCF). The emissions and sinks reported under LUCF are currently not accounted for the national totals. However, carbon storage in cropland and grazing land are now considered in article 3.4 of the Kyoto Protocol.

The main problem of including agricultural soil carbon stock changes in the inventories of net greenhouse gas emissions is that of verifiability. The soil carbon pools are large and the changes are slow. However, even small changes in soil carbon pools may contribute significantly to national greenhouse gas emissions in the Nordic countries. Such small relative changes in soil carbon pools are very difficult to determine from soil sampling (Heidmann et al., 2002). The cost of demonstrating a change in soil carbon storage may be exceedingly large if based on soil sampling only. However, the costs may be reduced by using locally calibrated models (Andrén & Kätterer, 2002; Smith, 2002).

#### **Mitigation options**

The most cost-effective mitigation strategies for agricultural greenhouse gases simultaneously reduce the emissions of several greenhouse gases. Examples are anaerobic digestion of manure and production of biomass for energy. Both strategies reduce greenhouse emission by substituting fossil energy use. In addition production of biomass for energy may reduce nitrous oxide emissions and increase carbons storage in soils, in particular for perennial energy crops (Olesen, 2002). Anaerobic digestion reduces the methane and nitrous oxide emissions during storage, and also nitrous oxide emissions in the soil, because the amount of volatile solids (VS) in the digested slurry is lower than in the slurry (Sommer et al., 2002). The lower VS content reduces the oxygen deficiency induced by high microbial turnover rates, and this leads to lower nitrous oxide emissions.

The current IPCC methodology does not include the effects of carbon sequestration under bioenergy crops or the effects of lower VS content in the manure on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from soils. There is a need to include all effects of mitigation measures in the emissions inventories. Otherwise the full benefits of the mitigation options may not be obtained, or less efficient options may be selected based on erroneous assumptions. An example of this is bioenergy crops, where perennial energy crops provide the highest reductions of greenhouse gases, when all gases including carbon sequestration in soils are considered. However, annual bioenergy crops are almost as efficient when the soil carbon sequestration is ignored.

#### Conclusions

There are currently large differences between the Nordic countries in the application of the IPCC methodology. In some cases the estimates of activities differ considerable, e.g. the amount of N in crop residues, in other cases different emission factors were applied. The agricultural structure varies somewhat within the Nordic countries, mainly reflecting the climatic conditions, which restricts the growing season at higher latitudes. However, this cannot justify the relatively large differences in the application of the IPCC method in the different Nordic countries.

The current emission inventories are from a Nordic perspective neither transparent nor consistent. Such differences reduce the possibilities of implementing joint Nordic (or EU) schemes for mitigating agricultural greenhouse gas emissions. Many of the differences in the emission inventories arise because of uncertainties associated with the current methodology, in particular for the nitrous oxide emissions. There is a great need to improve this methodology and to make it more locally adapted, but based on common guidelines. The climatic variation within the Nordic countries should thus be accounted for in the estimates of methane emissions from manure, and the emission factors for nitrous oxide from both direct and indirect sources should be differentiated more than what is currently the case. For some of the emissions from manure management, there is a need the re-evaluate the principles of the current IPCC methodology.

Improvement of the methodology cannot happen without insight into the systems and the mechanisms behind. For some of the emissions sources there is a lot of experimental data available, and sufficient knowledge to improve the methodology. However, this is not the case for all sources, and there is a clear need to better link experimental data with the use of systems modelling, in order to improve the understanding and derive simple, but reliable methods that can improve the emissions inventories.

#### References

- Andrén, O. & Kätterer, T. (2002). Carbon balances for arable soils weak data sets and strong theory. This volume.
- Bertilsson, J. (2002). Methane emissions from enteric fermentation effects of diet composition. This volume.
- Bouwman, A.F. (1996). Direct emissions of nitrous oxide from agriculture soils. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 52, 107-121.
- Groffman, P.M., Gold, A.J., Kellogg, D.Q. & Addy, K. (2002). Nitrous oxide emissions derived from N leaching. This volume.
- Hansen, M.N., Sommer, S.G. & Henriksen, K. (2002). Methane emissions from livestock manure effects of storage conditions and climate. This volume.
- Heidmann, T., Christensen, B.T. & Olesen, S.E. (2002). Changes in soil C and N content in different cropping systems and soil types. This volume.
- IPCC (1997). Greenhouse Gas Inventory. Reference Manual. Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Volume 3. London: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- IPCC (2001). Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (J. Penman et al., eds.). IPCC National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, Technical Support Unit, Hayama, Japan.
- Kasimir Klemedtsson, Å (2001). Metodik för skattning av jordbrukets emissioner av lustgas. Underlag för Sveriges national rapport till Klimatkonventionen. Rapport 5170, Naturvårdsverkets förlag, Sweden.
- Kasimir Klemedtsson, Å. & Klemedtsson, L. (2002). A critical analysis of nitrous oxide emissions from animal manure. This volume.
- Lægreid, M. & Aastveit, A.H. (2002). N<sub>2</sub>O emission from field-applied fertilizers. This volume.
- Martikainen, P.J. (2002). Nitrous oxide emissions at low temperatures. This volume.
- Olesen, J.E. (2002). Energy crops as a strategy for reducing greenhouse gas emissions. This volume.
- Petersen, S.O., Adolfsson, R., Fenhann, J., Halsdottir, B., Hoem, B., Regina, K., Rypdal, K., Staff, H. & Olesen, J.E. (2002). Comparison of national and IPCC default methodologies to estimate methane and nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture. This volume.
- Smith, P. (2002). Effects of cultivation practice on carbon storage in arable soils and grassland. This volume.
- Sommer, S.G. & Petersen, S.O. (2002). Nitrous oxide emissions from manure handling effects of storage conditions and climate. This volume.
- Sommer, S.G., Petersen, S.O. & Møller, H.B. (2002). A new model for calculating the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions through anaerobic co-digestion of manure and organic waste. This volume.
- *Rypdal, K. (2002). General guidance and procedures for estimating and reporting national GHG emissions for agriculture. This volume.*

## General guidance and procedures for estimating and reporting national GHG emissions for agriculture

Kristin Rypdal Statistics Norway, P.O. Box 8131 Dep., N-0033 Oslo, Norway e-mail: Kristin.Rypdal@ssb.no

#### Summary

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from agriculture account for a large share of total GHG emissions in most countries. Methane from ruminants, animal manure and rice fields, and nitrous oxide from agricultural soils are among the most important sources. In general, these emission estimates also are more uncertain than most other parts of the GHG emission inventory. IPCC has developed guidelines for estimating and reporting emissions of GHG. These guidelines shall be followed to secure complete, consistent, accurate and transparent reporting of emissions. However, the recommended methodologies are tiered, and choice of methods shall preferably reflect national circumstances, the national importance of a source, and different resources to prepare inventories. A country may also apply a national methodology given that it is well documented and not in conflict with good practice. Emission data reported under the United Nation Framework Convention on Climate Change are subject to external control, and the methodologies are reviewed by experts on agricultural inventories.

#### Introduction

Inventories of GHG emissions are important in order to formulate cost-effective abatement strategies and as input to climate modelling. Official GHG inventories are reported annually by each country to the UNFCCC (United Nation Framework Convention on Climate Change). GHG inventories will also be used to monitor the commitments made under the Kyoto protocol.

The Kyoto protocol restricts the total GHG emissions of each signature country. The protocol also opens up for emission trading, which implies a need for high quality emission data. According to IPCC (2001) there are several requirements for GHG inventories:

- Accuracy (minimize uncertainties, eliminate bias)
- Transparency (reporting of detailed estimates with all data and assumptions documented)
- Completeness (emissions from all sources and sinks shall be estimated)
- Consistency (the same data and assumptions shall be used across sources and across all years).

#### GHG emissions in the Nordic countries

The GHG emissions in each Nordic country are shown in Table 1. The importance of the agricultural sector for GHG emissions is highest in Denmark, where it accounts for 16% of total emissions<sup>1</sup>. The share is lowest in Finland, 7% of the total. The emissions from Denmark are also highest in absolute terms. Agriculture is the main source of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in all countries. Agriculture is also the most important source for CH<sub>4</sub> emissions in all countries except Norway and Finland.

	$CO_2$	$CH_4$	N <sub>2</sub> O	Total <sup>1</sup>
Denmark				
Total	60.1	6.0	9.5	75.6
Agriculture	-	3.9	8.6	12.4
% agriculture	0.0	64	91	16
Finland				
Total	63.9	4.1	7.9	76.0
Agriculture	-	1.7	4.0	5.7
% agriculture	0.0	41	50	7
Iceland <sup>2</sup>				
Total	2.1	0.29	0.13	2.6
Agriculture	-	0.25	0.07	0.32
% agriculture	0.0	85	52	12
Norway				
Total	41.7	7.3	5.1	54.1
Agriculture	-	2.3	2.6	4.9
% agriculture	0.0	32	51	9
Sweden				
Total	57.0	5.4	8.0	70.3
Agriculture	-	3.5	4.9	8.2
% agriculture	0.0	62	61	12

Table 1. Total and agricultural GHG emissions from the Nordic countries in 1998 (million tonnes  $CO_2$  equivalents).

<sup>1</sup> Excluding emissions from fuel combustion, PFCs, HFC and SF<sub>6</sub> and emissions and sinks reported under LUCF. <sup>2</sup> Data for 1990

Source: UNFCCC

Emissions from various agricultural sources in the Nordic countries are shown in Table 2. According to the reported figures, emission of N<sub>2</sub>O from agricultural soils is the single most important source of GHG emissions from agriculture, while methane from enteric fermentation accounts for only half this value. It is expected that cattle, followed by sheep, contribute most. Note that there may be sources

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The figures include process related emissions only.

not reported, and that  $CO_2$  from soils is to be reported under Land Use Change and Forestry (LUCF) and not Agriculture. Emissions and sinks reported under LUCF are currently not accounted for in the national totals.

Table 2. Emissions<sup>1</sup> of  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  from agriculture in Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden in 1998, by source (million tonnes  $CO_2$  equivalents).

	$CH_4$	$N_2O$	Fraction of total emis-
			sions from agriculture
Enteric fermentation	9.6	NA	30.5
Manure management	1.8	1.5	10.6
Agricultural soils	0	18.6	59.1
Field burning of agricultural residues	NE <sup>2</sup>	NE <sup>2</sup>	-
Other	0	0	-

<sup>1</sup> The table includes process related emissions only. Emissions from transport and stationary fuel combustion are not included.

<sup>2</sup> No figures have been reported. However, field burning is not expected to be common in the Nordic countries.

Source: UNFCCC

#### Uncertainties

Estimates of uncertainties in GHG emissions from agriculture will to a large extent be based on expert judgments. According to Rypdal & Winiwarter (2001), different experts may have different opinions on the uncertainties. An overview is given in Table 3. However, all studies rank the agricultural sources to have high uncertainty compared to the national total inventory uncertainty of 10-20% (excluding LUCF). All studies also conclude that nitrous oxide from agricultural soils gives the highest contribution to total inventory uncertainty. In order to decrease the overall uncertainty in total GWP weighted emissions, it is thus crucial to reduce the uncertainty of this particular source.

Table 3. Assessed uncertainties for agricultural sources of GHG in a few countries.
Uncertainties are expressed as two standard deviations in percentage of source level.

	Austria	Norway	The Nether-	UK	USA
			lands		
Enteric fermentation $(CH_4)$	±50	±25	±25	±20	±36
Manure management (CH <sub>4</sub> )		±25	±25	±30	±36
Agricultural soils (N <sub>2</sub> O)	-68 to +934	Two orders	±75	Two orders of	-90 to
		of magnitude		magnitude	+100

Source: Rypdal & Winiwarter (2001) and references therein.

#### Methodologies and good practice for preparing GHG inventories

Methodologies for preparing GHG inventories for agriculture and other sources were proposed by IPCC (1997), the so-called IPCC guidelines. Further guidance is

given in IPCC (2001), the so-called Good Practice guidance, which supplements IPCC (1997) and also gives some corrections to algorithms and updated emission factors. It also gives advice on livestock population characterization for use in the calculations. IPCC (2001) gives general guidance on uncertainties, verification and quality assurance/quality control.

For most sources the guidelines propose methods at different levels of sophistication (tiers). Tier 1 is a default method that can be applied by all countries without extensive data collection. The higher tiers will be more accurate, but also require more input data. The higher tiers will best reflect national circumstances. For estimation of N<sub>2</sub>O from agricultural soils, only one method (tier) is proposed.

Many countries have developed national methodologies. This is particularly relevant for agricultural sources where, e.g., climate conditions and national practices may influence the results in a way that is not captured by the IPCC methods. The Good Practice guidelines allow for use of a national methodology, given that it is well documented (transparent) and is not in conflict with the general good practice guidance. It is an advantage if the national methodology has been published in a refereed scientific journal. More often, however, national emission factors are used in the higher tier methods to reflect national circumstances.

The Good Practice guidance also gives advice on choice of methods among the various tiers. The general rule is that if a source is not a key source (important with respect to the determination of the total emission level and trend), the simple Tier 1 method is appropriate. If it is a key source, efforts should be made to use the higher tier methods, preferably in combination with national, welldocumented emission factors. For example, methane from enteric fermentation in cattle will often be considered a key source, while methane from enteric fermentation in swine is not. This means that Tier 2 should be used for cattle, but that Tier 1 is appropriate for swine.

Countries are encouraged to move to higher tiers and change emission factors if this can reduce uncertainties or improve the good practice requirements in other aspects. When methodologies are changed, it is important to ensure consistency in time-series by re-calculating back to the base year (1990). This means that published emission data can be changed.

#### Control and review of GHG inventories

High quality emission inventory data are essential for the implementation of the UNFCCC protocol and the Kyoto protocol. This requirement has been met by a review system of GHG inventories. The first step is a so-called Synthesis & As-sessment, where aggregated emission factors are compared to emission factors for other countries. Also the time-series' consistency is checked. When outliers are

detected, the country will have to explain these. In the Synthesis & Assessment, comparisons with international statistics are also made, for example with respect to animal populations.

The next step is a review. A review may take place in the reporting country (Incountry review), in the country of each reviewer (Desk review) or centrally (Central review). In a review team there will be sectorial experts, as well as general inventory experts. The team will review whether the inventory methods are in accordance with good practice. They will also review assumptions and national methodologies and emission factors. The country reporting the inventory is supposed to revise its inventory based on the feedback from the reviewers.

#### Conclusions

The GHG emissions from agriculture are high and also uncertain. There is consequently a need to improve the estimates of emissions from some sources. Emissions of methane from cattle (enteric fermentation) and nitrous oxide from agricultural soils are, according to the present knowledge, the most important agricultural GHG sources.

Countries are encouraged to improve their methodologies to make the estimates compatible with good practice as adopted by IPCC. This also includes basing the estimates on national information. This is particularly relevant for the agricultural sector where climate and agricultural practices influence the emission level. Such national methodologies and emission factors, however, have to be well-documented, preferably published in refereed scientific journals and according to good practice.

Research is needed to better understand the factors influencing the variation in space and time of the emissions of these sources. This will help to more accurately quantify the emissions and to develop abatement strategies.

#### References

- IPCC (1997) IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Volume 1, 2, and 3. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, London.
- IPCC (2001) Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (J. Penman et al., eds.). IPCC National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, Technical Support Unit, Hayama, Japan.
- Rypdal, K. & Winiwarter, W. (2001) Uncertainties in greenhouse gas emission inventories - evaluation, comparability and implications. Environmental Science & Policy **4**, 107-116.

# Comparison of national and IPCC default methodologies to estimate methane and nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture

Søren O. Petersen<sup>1\*</sup>, Rolf Adolfsson<sup>2</sup>, Jørgen Fenhann<sup>3</sup>, Birna Halsdottir<sup>4</sup>, Britta Hoem<sup>5</sup>, Kristiina Regina<sup>6</sup>, Kristin Rypdal<sup>5</sup>, Håkan Staaf<sup>7</sup> and Jørgen E. Olesen<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Foulum; <sup>2</sup>Statistics Sweden, Stockholm; <sup>3</sup>Risø National Laboratory, Roskilde; <sup>4</sup>Environmental and Food Agency of Iceland, Reykiavik; <sup>5</sup>Statistics Norway, Oslo; <sup>6</sup>Agrifood Research Finland, Jokioinen; <sup>7</sup>Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Stockholm <sup>\*</sup>e-mail: Soren.O.Petersen@agrsci.dk

#### Summary

All Nordic countries use modified versions of the methodology recommended by the IPCC. These modifications, and their importance for reported emissions of methane (CH.) and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), are summarized in this chapter. Official inventories for 1999 were compared with inventories prepared according to the IPCC default method, and the major differences are discussed. The official inventory for Iceland lacked several sources, and so the IPCC default calculations presented here represent an improved estimate. In comparison with Iceland and Finland, national data have been introduced to a larger extent in Denmark, Norway and Sweden, in some cases with large consequences for total estimates. The combined effect of using the national methodology on CH, emissions ranged from -12% to +13%, whereas the range for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions ranged from -38% to +10%. National conditions may deviate systematically from the broad categories defined by the IPCC, for example with respect to climatic conditions. This was exemplified by calculations of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from animal slurry storages using temperature data from seven Nordic locations. Emissions from pig slurry deviated between -35 and +12% from the original estimate, while cattle slurry deviated between -22 and +3%. The deviations were highly correlated with the average annual temperature, indicating that a simple model could lead to improved emission estimates for this source.

#### Introduction

Although the basis for existing inventories of greenhouse gases in all Nordic countries is the methodology recommended by the IPCC (1997), each country has adopted its own approach to the definition of some activities (sources) and emission factors for methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O). This chapter summarizes these modifications and evaluates their relative importance by comparing the official inventories for the year 1999 with inventories for 1999 calculated according to the IPCC default methodology. The relatively unspecific Tier 1 was used as a reference method, except that some countries have used national data on N excretion rates and manure management for the IPCC default calculations also.

National modifications may clearly improve inventories if better statistical information or empirical data are available, or if agronomic or climatic conditions deviate systematically from the average conditions defined by IPCC for all of Western Europe. To illustrate this point, emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> from animal slurry storages were calculated using monthly temperatures from seven locations within the Nordic countries.

#### Data sources

The Danish inventory of greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture in 1999 was published by Fenhann (2001) following a critical review of the methodology (Olesen et al., 2001). The Finnish inventory was taken from a report on trends in Finland's greenhouse gas emissions 1990-1999, and methods of calculation were published by Pipatti (Pipatti, 2001). The Icelandic inventory of greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture has until now been incomplete by not taking several known sources of N<sub>2</sub>O into account. The IPCC default data for Iceland presented in this chapter therefore represents a new and improved estimate of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. The 1999 inventory for Iceland was reported to IPCC, but has not been published. The inventory of greenhouse gas emissions from Norwegian agriculture was published as part of the national Norwegian emission inventory, produced by Statistics Norway and the Norwegian Pollution Control Authority (SFT). The methodologies used in the Norwegian emission inventory are described in Flugsrud et al. (2000). The Swedish inventory for 1999 was prepared using the most recent modifications of the national method as described in Sweden's National Inventory Report from 2002.

#### National methodologies vs. IPCC default method: Overall effects

Table 1 shows  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions from agriculture in the five Nordic countries in 1999 as calculated by the default method (Tier 1) of the IPCC 1996 Revised Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (IPCC, 1997a). The principles of calculation are described in different chapters of this report. Table 2 shows the emissions for 1999 that were officially reported by each country. This section summarizes overall effects of the national modifications, while subsequent sections about individual sources specify the background for these effects.

The official inventory for <u>Denmark</u> represented a 23.4 kt decrease of  $CH_4$  emissions and a 2.5 kt increase of  $N_2O$  emissions compared to the IPCC Tier 1 default method. This corresponded to an overall reduction of 0.18 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalents, or 0.3% of total agricultural emissions in Denmark.

Compound	Source	Denmark	Finland	Iceland	Norway	Sweden
Methane	Enteric fermentation	143.2	75.4	10.3	82.7	117.6
(kt CH <sub>4</sub> )	Manure management	51.6	14.5	0.9	11.4	22.0
	Subtotal	194.8	89.9	11.2	94.1	139.6
Nitrous oxide	Manure management	2.4	1.3	0.0	0.5	1.9
$(kt N_2O)$	Mineral fertilizers	4.5	2.9	0.2	1.9	3.2
	Applied animal manure	3.5	1.0	0.1	1.1	1.5
	Nitrogen fixation	0.8	0.01	Not estimated*	0.01	0.1
	Crop residues	6.2	0.5	Not estimated*	4.0	2.4
	Industrial and urban wastes	0.2	0.04	NA	0.03	0.04
	Cultivation of organic soils	0.1	3.8	0.1	1.4	1.9
	Cultivation of mineral soils	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	N deposited during grazing	1.0	0.6	0.4	1.8	2.0
	Ammonia volatilization	1.3	0.5	0.1	0.6	0.7
	N leaching	5.2	2.9	0.3	2.9	4.0
	N2O from hayfields. etc.	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Subtotal	25.2	13.5	1.2	14.1	17.8

Table 1. Emissions of methane and nitrous oxide in the Nordic countries for 1999 as estimated by the IPCC default methodology (Tier 1).

<sup>\*</sup> Considered to be negligible; NA: Not applicable.

Compound	Source	Denmark	Finland	Iceland	Norway	Sweden
Methane	Enteric fermentation	134.7	74.0	10.3	85.0	143.5
(kt CH4)	Manure management	36.7	10.0	0.9	15.2	14.3
	Subtotal	171.4	84.0	11.2	100.2	157.8
Nitrous oxide	Manure management	2.4	1.3	Not estimated	Not estimated	1.9
(kt N2O)	Mineral fertilizers	4.9	3.2	0.2	2.0	2.2
	Applied animal manure	3.5	1.2	0.01	0.9	2.4
	Nitrogen fixation	0.8	0.0	Not estimated	0.2	0.1
	Crop residues	6.2	0.6	Not estimated	1.5	1.3
	Industrial and urban wastes	0.3	0.0	NA	Not estimated	Not estimated
	Cultivation of organic soils	0.1	3.8	Not estimated	1.4	1.3
	Cultivation of mineral soils	NA	NA	NA	NA	2.0
	N deposited during grazing	0.9	0.6	Not estimated	0.6	1.5
	Ammonia volatilization	1.2	0.05	Not estimated	0.3	0.1
	N leaching	7.4	1.5	Not estimated	1.4	0.3
	N2O from hayfields, etc.	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.5
	Subtotal	27.7	12.2	0.2	8.15	13.5

Table 2. Emissions of methane and nitrous oxide in the Nordic countries for 1999 as estimated by the official national methodologies.

NA: Not applicable.

For <u>Finland</u>, the emissions of  $CH_4$  from agriculture were 89.9 kt if calculated using the IPCC default emission factors, and 84 kt when using the national method. Hence, the official estimate of  $CH_4$  emissions was 5.9 kt lower than indicated by the IPCC default method in the reference year. The official estimate for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions was 1.3 kt lower than the IPCC default estimate. These differences together correspond to a reduction of 0.5 Mt  $CO_2$  compared to the IPCC default method. Although not considered in this chapter, cultivation of organic soils is a key source in Finland's inventory. Using national emission factors and soil classification increased the  $CO_2$  emission estimate compared to the IPCC default method by 65% (data not shown).

Methane emissions for <u>Iceland</u> were already calculated according the IPCC Tier 1 default method and so were unchanged in the comparison. For N<sub>2</sub>O, the officially reported emission in 1999 was 0.2 kt and thus several times lower than the 1.1 kt N<sub>2</sub>O estimated by the IPCC default method. In terms of CO<sub>2</sub> equivalents, the official inventory was 0.31 Mt lower than the IPCC default estimate.

The official 1999 inventory for <u>Norway</u> did not include emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from manure management or from field application of industrial and urban wastes. The official inventory estimate increased total Norwegian  $CH_4$  emissions by 6.04 kt and decreased total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by 5.9 kt compared to the IPCC default method. Using the national methodology thus decreased the Norwegian emission estimate by 1.71 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalents relative to the IPCC default method.

The official <u>Swedish</u> inventory included some sources of N<sub>2</sub>O (cultivation of mineral soils, hayfields) which are not considered by IPCC. Industrial and urban wastes were not accounted for, and reindeer were excluded from both estimates. The total effect of using the national methodology instead of the IPCC default method was to increase  $CH_4$  emissions by 18.2 kt, while N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were reduced by 4.3 kt. Altogether these deviations represent a reduction corresponding to 0.95 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalents.

The relative differences between nationally reported emissions of, e.g.,  $CH_4$  from a given source i ( $CH_{4 \text{ nat,i}}$ ) and the emission as calculated by the IPCC default method ( $CH_{4 \text{ IPCC, i}}$ ) were calculated using the total emissions of that gas, as determined by the IPCC default method, as reference:

% difference = 
$$\frac{CH_{4nat,i} - CH_{4IPCC,i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{i=n} CH_{4IPCC}} \times 100\%$$

For CH<sub>4</sub>, the adoption of national methodologies did not dramatically change the emission estimates, the differences ranging from -12 to +13% (see Table 3). In contrast, the national approaches to calculating N<sub>2</sub>O emissions had a significant impact on emission estimates for Norway and Sweden which were, respectively, 38 and 24% lower than the IPCC default estimates.

Compound	Source	Denmark	Finland	Iceland	Norway	Sweden
Methane	Enteric fermentation	-4.4	-1.6	0.0	2.4	18.6
(kt CH4)	Manure management	-7.6	-5.0	0.0	4.0	-5.5
	Subtotal	-12.0	-6.6	0.0	6.4	13.0
Nitrous oxide	Manure management	0.0	0.0	NA	NA	0.0
(kt N2O)	Mineral fertilizers	1.5	2.2	0.0	0.9	-5.6
	Applied animal manure	0.0	1.5	-7.3	-1.6	5.0
	Nitrogen fixation	0.0	0.0	NA	1.1	-0.1
	Crop residues	0.0	0.6	NA	-17.2	-6.1
	Industrial and urban wastes	0.3	0.0	NA	NA	NA
	Cultivation of organic soils	0.0	0.0	NA	0.0	-3.8
	Cultivation of mineral soils	NA	NA	NA	NA	11.0
	N deposited during grazing	-0.3	0.0	NA	-8.4	-2.9
	Ammonia volatilization	-0.3	-3.5	NA	-2.2	-3.4
	N leaching	8.7	-10.9	NA	-10.6	-20.9
	N2O from hayfields, etc.	NA	NA	NA	NA	2.9
	Subtotal	10.0	-9.9	-7.3	-38.1	-23.9

Table 3. The effect of national methodologies on the emission from individual sources are presented as percentual deviations from total emissions of that compound as calculated by the IPCC default methodology (Table 1; see formula in text).

NA: Not applicable.

#### National methodologies vs. IPCC default method: Individual sources

#### Methane from enteric fermentation

In the official inventory, Denmark used the IPCC Tier 2 method for cattle, and the IPCC Tier 1 method for other animal categories. This decreased total CH<sub>4</sub> emissions by 4.4% compared to the IPCC default method (see Table 3). Finland used IPCC Tier 2 for cattle and Tier 1 for all other animal categories. This resulted in a small reduction in the CH<sub>4</sub> emissions estimate in comparison with the default Tier 1 method. Norway used the IPCC Tier 1 method throughout, but included also ostrich and domesticated deer and reindeer. Emission factors for these animal categories were estimated from emission factors for horses, cattle and goats/sheep, respectively, by scaling according to average body weight. Including these three animal groups increased CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from enteric fermentation for Norway by 2.4% compared with the IPCC Tier 1 default method. For Sweden, emission factors for cattle were based on a national methodology similar to IPCC Tier 2 (Swedish EPA, 1992), while other animal categories were treated according to IPCC Tier 1. The national method (reindeer excluded) gave an 18.6% higher estimate than the IPCC default method, mainly due to higher CH<sub>4</sub> production rates for dairy cattle and beef cows than proposed by IPCC.

#### Methane from manure management

The major part of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from manure management in <u>Denmark</u> comes from pigs. Using the Tier 2 method for the official inventory had considerable influence on emission factors for cattle and pigs. For cattle the total effect on CH<sub>4</sub> emissions was limited, while a much lower emission factor for the category 'Other pigs' gave a reduction in total CH<sub>4</sub> emission from manure management of 7.6% compared to the IPCC default method. With both methods, biogas plants reduced total emissions from manure management by 0.9%. In Finland, IPCC Tier 2 was used, which reduced total  $CH_4$  emissions by 5% relative to Tier 1 (Tab. 3). In <u>Norway</u>, cattle are the most important source of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from manure management. The IPCC Tier 2 method was used to calculate emissions in the official inventory, but emission factors were estimated jointly by Statistics Norway and the Agricultural University of Norway<sup>2</sup>. This increased total emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> by 4%. The official <u>Swedish</u> estimate of CH<sub>4</sub> from manure management, including manure deposited on pasture, was 40% lower than that of the IPCC default method. The difference was due to the use of the IPCC Tier 2 method, and by use of national values for manure production, manure management systems and housing periods. Lower national estimates of manure production partly explained the difference, but the most important factor was a greater fraction of manure management systems with low CH<sub>4</sub> emission potentials (solid manure and daily spread). Relative to the total CH<sub>4</sub> emission estimate of the IPCC default method, the overall effect was a 5.5% reduction.

#### Nitrous oxide from manure management

In <u>Denmark</u>, the amount of manure N produced was calculated from official norms for the amounts and composition of excreta from the different animal categories and manure management systems. These norm values were also used for the IPCC default method, i.e., default N production values proposed by the IPCC were not adopted. In the official inventory, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were calculated without correction for NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization, as in the IPCC default method, and the IPCC default emission factors<sup>3</sup> of 0.1% for liquid manure and 2% for solid manure were used. Consequently, there was no difference between the IPCC default method and the official inventory for Denmark. In the official inventory for <u>Finland</u>, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from this source were calculated according to IPCC default method. In <u>Iceland</u>, this source was not taken into account in the official inventory. There is limited knowledge about the composition of excreta or the amounts handled by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Institute of Chemistry and Biotechnology, Section for Microbiology.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Fraction of total N lost as  $N_2O_2$ .

the different manure management systems. With the IPCC default method, the Tier 1 approach was therefore used, resulting in emissions of 0.04 Gg N<sub>2</sub>O (Table 1). In the <u>Norwegian</u> inventory, emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O prior to field application were not taken into account (Aakra & Bleken 1997). This lowered the total estimate of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by 3.8% relative to the IPCC default methodology (see Tab. 3). In the future, this source of N<sub>2</sub>O will be included according to the IPCC guidelines, but with Norwegian factors for N excretion from the different animal categories. In <u>Sweden</u>, national data on N excretion and manure management systems were used as input in both calculations. Hence, the methods resulted in identical estimates for this source.

#### Nitrous oxide from mineral fertilizers

The official Danish inventory used the IPCC default N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor of 1.25% for nitrogen applied as synthetic fertilizers. Still, the total emission was slightly higher than with the IPCC default method due to a lower estimate of NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization (see below). Finland also used the IPCC default emission factor of 1.25% for mineral fertilizer N, and again the difference in Tab. 3 was due to a lower estimate for NH<sub>3</sub> volatilisation. The official <u>Icelandic</u> inventory did not correct for NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization, and the emission factor used was 1%. However, using the IPCC default method by taking NH<sub>3</sub> losses into account and using an emission factor of 1.25% resulted in the same N<sub>2</sub>O emission from mineral fertilizers. Norway also used the IPCC default emission factor of 1.25% for this source, and a national estimate of NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization which is based on type of fertilizer used. Like for Denmark and Finland, this approach increased N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from mineral fertilizers slightly compared to the IPCC default method. In Sweden, the official inventory for 1999 used a national estimate of NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization that was lower that the IPCC default value, leaving more N for direct emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O. However, a national emission factor of only 0.8% was used which worked in the opposite direction. The overall result was that the official estimate of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from mineral fertilizers was 5.6% below the IPCC default estimate.

#### Nitrous oxide from applied animal manure

The <u>Danish</u> inventory for 1999 used the IPCC default value for NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization of 20%, as well as the IPCC default emission factor for N<sub>2</sub>O of 1.25%, so there was no difference between methods for this sector. <u>Finland</u>'s official inventory used a lower estimate for NH<sub>3</sub> volatilisation from manure (3%) compared to the IPCC default method, thus leading to higher direct emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from manure application. The IPCC emission factor 1.25% was applied. In <u>Iceland</u>, the official inventory for 1999 used national data on the amount and N content of manure

from each animal type, but manure management system was not considered, and an emission factor of 0.1% was used. Emissions calculated according to the IPCC default method were ten times higher, but probably overestimated since domestic animals in Iceland are generally smaller than in other parts of Europe. In the official Norwegian inventory, the amount of manure was estimated from animal numbers (Agricultural Statistics) and national excretion factors for each animal category. This reduced the amount of manure used as fertilizer to 56.4 kt N as opposed to 82.6 kt N using the IPCC default method. There is considerable uncertainty connected to the allocation of manure between what is used as fertilizer and excreted during grazing, respectively. The proportion excreted during grazing was estimated for 1994 (Aakra & Bleken 1997), and this proportion is used every year. Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from field-applied manure were calculated using the IPCC emission factor of 1.25%. The official inventory corrected for NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization during manure application using values from Statistics Norway's ammonia model. The N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from applied animal manure corresponded to a 1.6% reduction in total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions compared with the IPCC default method. The official inventory for <u>Sweden</u> had a higher estimate of NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization from applied manure than the IPCC default method, which would reduce direct emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from this source. However, the national emission factor was higher, 2.5 as opposed to 1.25%, and this worked in the opposite direction, resulting in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions estimates that were quite similar. Since national values on N excretion were used in both methods, the national estimate of this source increased total emissions according to the default method by 5% (Table 3).

#### Nitrous oxide from N fixation

For this source, the official <u>Danish</u> inventory used a national estimate of symbiotic N fixation and the default IPCC emission factor for N<sub>2</sub>O of 1.25%. This estimate also included N fixation in clover and grass-clover, whereas the IPCC default method includes only N fixation by pulses<sup>4</sup>. <u>Finland</u> used the IPCC default method for the official inventory. In <u>Iceland</u> this source of N<sub>2</sub>O is considered negligible and was thus not estimated. The official estimate of biological N fixation in <u>Norway</u> was around 8 kt N per year (Aakra & Bleken 1997), with clover as the most important N-fixing crop. In contrast, the IPCC default method refers to production data from FAO, which means that for Norway green beans and peas are the only N-fixing crops included, corresponding to an N fixation of around 0.3 kt N in 1999. In both cases the emission factor of 1.25% was used. This national ap-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The report *Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories* (IPCC, 2001) also includes N fixation by forage crops.

proach resulted in a 1.1% higher total N<sub>2</sub>O emission in the official inventory compared to the IPCC default method. <u>Sweden's</u> official inventory used national values of N fixation by peas and beans as a fraction of crop product (Växtnäringsbalans i jordbruket, 1996). An emission factor of 1.25% was used in both cases. The N<sub>2</sub>O emissions estimated by the national method and by the IPCC default method were rather similar, and the effect on total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions was insignificant. Sweden also included a separate contribution from hay fields in the official inventory that increased the total N<sub>2</sub>O emission by 2.9% relative to the IPCC default method. The N-fixation was calculated county-wise with a computer programme (NPK-FLO) using area and yield of different grassland types as in-data.

#### Nitrous oxide from crop residues

The emission of N<sub>2</sub>O from crop residues was the second largest in the official Danish inventory, and the most uncertain. The IPCC default method was used in that the amount of N in crop residues was assumed to be identical to the N content of harvested crops. The N content of crops was taken from Grant et al. (1998). Finland used the IPCC default values for different crop parameters for the official inventory, but some additional crop types were included and national estimates for these crops (mixed cereals, turnip rape and clover seed) were used. The result was a minor increase of total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from this source compared to the IPCC default method. Iceland considered this source of N<sub>2</sub>O to be negligible and thus it has not been estimated. In the official inventory for Norway, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions associated with crop residue decomposition were calculated from N in harvested crops, as recommended by the IPCC default method, but using national estimates of crop yields. The national estimate of crop production was 61% lower than indicated by FAO data due to differences in crop amounts and N contents, i.e., 78 kt N as opposed to an IPCC default estimate of 201 kt N. This gave an official estimate of N<sub>2</sub>O from crop residues which reduced total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by 17% (Tab. 3). The official inventory for <u>Sweden</u> used national information about cultivated area and crop yields along with IPCC default values for dry matter content, where available, and a N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor of 1.25% for N in crop residues. The national method accounted for residues removed, in contrast to the IPCC default method. No detailed analysis has been carried out to explain the difference between the IPCC default estimate and the national estimate, but probably the main part can be accounted for by differences in the N contents assumed in the IPCC default method (3% for N fixing crops and 1.5% for other crops) compared with generally lower national values. The official estimate of N<sub>2</sub>O from this source was only half the level of the IPCC default method, and using this lower emission

factor the estimate of total  $N_2O$  emissions from Swedish agriculture was lowered by 6.1%.

#### Nitrous oxide from industrial and urban wastes

Denmark applied the IPCC default emission factor for N<sub>2</sub>O of 1.25% for this source. Only N in sewage sludge was included with the IPCC default method, not N in industrial waste applied to fields. In Finland, industrial wastes were not taken into account in the official inventory, and so it followed the IPCC default method in this respect. For urban wastes the IPCC default of 1.25% was used. In Iceland there is no field application of organic wastes. The official Norwegian inventory presently does not account for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions arising from the application of industrial and urban wastes on agricultural fields, and little information is available about the amount of industrial waste applied as a nutrient source. Nitrous oxide emissions derived from field-applied sewage sludge was calculated with the IPCC default method, using the IPCC default emission factor of 1.25%. The omission of this source lowered the total N<sub>2</sub>O emission from Norwegian agriculture, as estimated by the IPCC default method, by 0.2%. Similarly, the official inventory for Sweden does not include the application of wastes on agricultural fields at present. According to official statistics, this N source amounted to about 2050 tonnes in 1999 which, estimated by the IPCC-default method, should give an emission of approximately 40 t N<sub>2</sub>O.

#### Nitrous oxide from cultivation of organic soils

Organic soils are a minor source of N<sub>2</sub>O in the <u>Danish</u> inventory; the IPCC default value for temperate (and cold) climates of 5 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N/ha was used. In <u>Finland</u>, the revised IPCC default of 8 kg N<sub>2</sub>O/ha/yr was used in the official inventory. For <u>Iceland</u>, this is a new item in the inventory, and the IPCC emission factor of 5 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N /ha/year was used. The official 1999 inventory for <u>Norway</u> used the IPCC default emission factor of 5 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N/ha per year, so there was no difference between the official inventory and the IPCC default method. <u>Sweden</u> differentiated between annual and perennial crops, whereby organic soils cultivated with ley were considered to give a lower emission than annual crops. The official inventory estimate of N<sub>2</sub>O from cultivated organic soils was lower than the IPCC default method, corresponding to 3.8% of total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Sweden also included background emissions from cultivation of mineral soils in order to account for long-term accumulation of N in agricultural soil, in contrast to the IPCC methodology. Nitrous oxide from this source corresponded to 11% of total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions as calculated by the default method.

#### Nitrous oxide from N deposited during grazing

The IPCC default method does not take NH, volatilization from excreta deposited during grazing into account. In contrast, the official <u>Danish</u> inventory for 1999 assumes NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization to constitute 7% of N excreted, thereby reducing the direct emission from deposited N. The IPCC default N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor of 2.0% was used, and the difference between inventories was minor. The official inventory for <u>Finland</u> calculated N<sub>2</sub>O emissions according to the IPCC default method. In Iceland, this source was not considered in the official inventory. When recalculated using the IPCC default method, N<sub>2</sub>O from N deposited during grazing turned out to be an important source (Table 1). In Norway, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from animals on pastures were calculated using the IPCC default emission factor of 2%. Ammonia volatilisation from excreta deposited during grazing was accounted for using Statistics Norway's ammonia model, which is one explanation for the lower estimate compared to the IPCC default method. However, the main reason for the difference between the official estimate and the IPCC default method was that the national estimate of N deposited on pastures was only a third of the IPCC default estimate. Firstly, the IPCC estimate of total N in animal excreta was 83% higher than the Norwegian estimate, and the fraction deposited during grazing was set at 40 and 25% respectively, in the IPCC default method and the national method. The N<sub>2</sub>O emission from this source reduced total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by 8.4% compared to the IPCC default method. The Swedish national methodology for estimating N<sub>2</sub>O from grazing animals accounted for loss of NH<sub>2</sub> using an NH<sub>2</sub> emission factor of 8%. The official inventory used national data on N excretion by grazing animals that were generally lower than the IPCC default values, as well as a lower emission factor of 1%. The total effect of using the national method was a reduction of  $N_2O$  emissions corresponding to 2.9% of total  $N_2O$  emissions.

#### Nitrous oxide from ammonia volatilization

According to the IPCC default method, 10% of N in synthetic fertilizers, and 20% of the total N excretion by animals in a country is volatilized as NH<sub>3</sub>. The N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor for NH<sub>3</sub> upon deposition is 1%. In the official inventory for <u>Denmark</u>, NH<sub>3</sub> losses from mineral fertilizers were estimated at 2% and thus lower than the IPCC default estimate. For field-applied manure the IPCC default estimate of 20% was used. The Danish inventory also included area-based NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization factors for grasslands, normal crops and organically managed crops, as well as a contribution from ammonia leaching from straw. The combined effect of these differences was a slightly lower indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emission derived from NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization. <u>Finland</u> set NH<sub>3</sub> emissions for mineral fertilizers and manure at 0.6 and 3%, respectively, and thus considerably lower than the default values. The

resulting N<sub>2</sub>O emission was ten-fold lower than the IPCC estimate, and this approach reduced total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by 3.5%. Iceland did not include this source in the official inventory for 1999, and so the adoption of the IPCC default method (Table 1) represents an improvement of the inventory for Iceland. In the Norwegian inventory, the amount of NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization from agriculture was calculated by Statistics Norway's ammonia model. For synthetic fertilizers, the fraction of N volatilized was 4.5% in the official inventory as opposed to 10% with the IPCC default method. Also for manure the national estimate was only half of the IPCC default estimate; the fraction volatilized from field-applied manure was 23% in the Norwegian model, and for manure deposited during grazing it was 2.79%. The IPCC default emission factor of 1% was used to calculate the amount of N<sub>2</sub>O emitted from volatilized NH<sub>3</sub> upon deposition. For <u>Sweden</u>, the national estimate of N<sub>2</sub>O derived from NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization was only about 14% of the estimate obtained by the IPCC default method. Although there were differences also in the activity data, the main reason for this deviation was the adoption of an N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor of 0.2% in the official inventory as opposed to 1% in the IPCC default method, since most of the ammonia is deposited on acid forest soils. The resulting difference corresponded to a decrease of total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions of 3.4%.

#### Nitrous oxide from N leaching

The IPCC default estimate of N leaching is 30%, i.e., 0.3 kg N is leached for each kg fertilizer N or manure N applied. The default emission factor is 2.5%. The official inventory for **Denmark** used an N leaching estimate based on modelled N balances, which was ca. 40% higher than the IPCC default estimate, and the IPCC default emission factor. The official Danish estimate of N<sub>2</sub>O derived from leached N corresponded to an 8.7% increase of total emissions as calculated by the default method. In Finland, the fraction of leached N was estimated to be lower (15%) than the IPCC default of 30% (Rekolainen et al., 1995; Pipatti, 2001). Accordingly, the official estimate of indirect N2O emissions from N leaching was only half of that obtained using the IPCC default method. The reduction corresponded to 10.9% of total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (see Table 3). Iceland did not consider N leaching in the official inventory for 1999, so the IPCC default estimate (Table 1) represents an improvement of the inventory for Iceland. In the official Norwegian inventory, an N leaching factor of 18% (Jordforsk, 1998) was used, together with the IPCC default emission factor of 2.5%. The Norwegian estimate of the amount of N leached was 51% lower than the estimate given by the IPCC default value, corresponding to a 10.6% reduction of total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. The official Swedish method gave an estimate of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions derived from N leaching which was only 8% of the estimate given by the IPCC default method. This was

explained partly by a somewhat lower estimate of N leaching (about 2/3 of the IPCC default value), but mainly by a lower national emission factor of only 0.25%. The approach taken for this source gave a 21% reduction of total  $N_2O$  emissions.

#### Effects of climate – a case study

The default methodology proposed by the IPCC is relatively crude in that it bulks all of Western Europe into one category with respect to emission factors, agricultural production characteristics, and climate. Current knowledge about the regulation of biological processes may not justify a further differentiation of emission factors, as discussed in the chapters by Bertilsson and Lægreid & Aastveit (but see also the chapter by Kasimir Klemedtsson & Klemedtsson). In contrast, information about animal production (e.g., feeding, age structure, housing types, manure storage conditions) and arable production (e.g., fertilizer types, manure application practices, crop residue quality), as well as climatic conditions, are relatively welldefined and might be differentiated to regional or country level in a common methodology.

This section exemplifies how the failure to take climatic gradients into account may introduce a bias in greenhouse gas emission inventories when prepared according to the current IPCC default methodology. The source investigated was  $CH_4$  emissions from liquid manure (slurry) storages, and calculations were made for both cattle and pig slurry. A model was used which was developed as part of a case study to investigate the effects of anaerobic digestion on greenhouse gas emissions (cf. Sommer et al., this report). Input data for the model are information about feed composition (fats, protein, carbohydrate) and digestibility, storage time and air temperature. The amount of slurry in the storage tank changes across the year, and slurry temperature as well as methanogenesis is assumed to be closely correlated with the air temperature (Husted, 1994). The model was originally calibrated to give an annual emission of  $CH_4$  that was similar to the IPCC default emission with Danish monthly mean temperatures.

In the present modelling exercise, the Danish input data on manure composition etc. were maintained, and only temperature conditions were varied. Average monthly temperatures were obtained from seven sites within the Nordic countries which span 11 degrees latitude and 45 degrees longitude (Table 4).

The resulting annual emissions of  $CH_4$  are presented in Table 5, expressed as g  $CH_4$  per kg volatile solids excreted. Emissions from stored pig slurry were approximately twice as high as emissions from cattle slurry, in accordance with the higher efficiency of ruminant digestion. Taking the Danish site at Ødum as reference, the emissions calculated for the other site deviated between -33.2 and

Month	Ødum	Oslo	Trondheim	Bodø	Visby	Jokioinen	Reykjavik
	56°18'N,	59°56'N,	63°25'N,	67°17'N,	57°40'N,	60°49'N,	64°08'N,
	10°08'E	10°44'E	10°27'E	14°25'E	18°21'E	23°29'E	21°56'W
January	-0.6	-4.7	-3.4	-2.1	-0.9	-7.2	-0.4
February	-0.6	-4.0	-2.9	-2.4	-1.4	-7.8	-0.1
March	1.7	-0.5	-0.7	-1.0	-0.2	-4.6	1.5
April	5.6	4.8	3.2	2.2	4.3	2.2	3.1
May	10.7	10.7	7.9	6.2	8.9	8.8	6.9
June	14.2	14.7	11.3	9.9	14.0	13.7	9.5
July	15.4	17.3	14.4	13.6	17.0	16.4	11.2
August	15.3	15.9	13.3	12.7	16.6	14.7	10.8
September	12.3	11.3	9.5	9.4	12.9	9.7	8.6
October	8.7	5.9	5.1	5.1	8.3	4.3	4.9
November	4.3	1.1	1.5	1.9	4.2	-0.1	2.6
December	1.1	-2.0	-1.0	-0.1	1.7	-3.5	0.9
Average	7.3	5.9	4.9	4.6	7.1	3.9	5.0
Min	-0.6	-4.7	-3.4	-2.4	-1.4	-7.8	-0.4
Max	15.4	17.3	14.4	13.6	17.0	16.4	11.2

Table 4. Monthly temperatures ( $^{\circ}$ C) at seven sites. The data were used for modelling CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from liquid manure storages.

Table 5. Emissions of  $CH_4$  from pig and cattle manure during storage, and deviations from emissions at the Danish site at  $\emptyset$ dum.

Site	Pig	slurry	Cattle slurry		
	g CH <sub>4</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> VS	Deviation (%)	g CH <sub>4</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> VS	Deviation (%)	
Ødum	37.4	-	18.2	-	
Oslo	35.4	-5.4	16.4	-10.1	
Trondheim	26.5	-29.1	14.7	-19.3	
Bodø	25.0	-33.2	14.5	-20.3	
Visby	39.8	6.6	18.3	0.8	
Jokioinen	28.9	-22.7	14.0	-22.9	
Reykjavik	28.9	-23.3	14.7	-19.1	

+6.6% (pig slurry) or between -22.9 and +0.8% (cattle slurry) due to the difference in temperature alone.

The dependency of  $CH_4$  emissions on annual minimum, maximum and average temperature was examined, and annual average temperature clearly gave the best explanation of the variation across sites (r<sup>2</sup> of 0.72 and 0.98 for pig and cattle slurry, respectively; see Figure 1). In contrast, there were no or much weaker correlations with minimum (r<sup>2</sup> of 0.01 and 0.25) and maximum temperatures (r<sup>2</sup> of 0.63 and 0.23).



Figure 1. The relationship between average annual temperature at seven sites within the Nordic countries and  $CH_4$  emissions from pig and cattle slurry during storage.

#### Conclusion

The Nordic countries constitute a relatively uniform region with respect to agricultural production. Yet, the summary of national approaches to greenhouse gas inventories for agriculture presented above shows that there are numerous countryspecific approaches to estimation of individual sources. Particularly for N<sub>2</sub>O it was found that national methodologies gave considerably lower estimates in several countries. Country-specific approaches complicate the comparison of emission data between countries. On the other hand there is no doubt that significant errors could be introduced if the current IPCC default methodology were strictly adhered to.

Activity data are likely to be improved if based on national surveys and models, rather than on regional default values. In contrast, the biological processes responsible for  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions are the same in all countries and should be handled in a consistent way with respect to dependency on environmental conditions.

A common methodology has the greatest potential for transparency and comparability, and future work should therefore seek to improve and refine the IPCC methodology further. The modelling exercise of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from stored slurry clearly demonstrated that there is potential for improvement. Accounting for climatic gradients within the Nordic countries, i.e., the temperature dependency of biological processes, significantly changed the estimate for several locations, and the strong relationships between emissions and average annual temperature indicated that even simple models may improve emission estimates considerably.

#### References

- Aakra, Å. & Bleken, M.A. (1997) N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions from Norwegian Agriculture as Estimated by the IPCC Methodology, Departement of Biotechnological Sciences, Ås: Agricultural University of Norway.
- FAO (2002) FAOSTAT database. http://apps.fao.org
- Fenhann, J. (2001) Denmark's Greenhouse Gas Projections until 2012, Danish Energy Agency, April 2001.
- Flugsrud, K., Gjerald, E., Haakonsen, G., Holtskog, S., Høie, H., Rypdal, K., Tornsjø, B. & Weidemann, F. (2000) The Norwegian Emission Inventory, Reports 2000/1, Statistics Norway.
- Grant, R., Blicher-Mathiesen, G., Andersen, H.E., Laubel, A.R., Poulsen, I., Jensen, P.G. & Rasmussen, P. (1998) Landovervågningsoplande. Vandmiljøplanens overvågningsprogram 1997. Danmarks Miljøundersøgelser. Faglig rapport fra DMU nr. 252.
- Husted, S. (1994) Seasonal variation in methane emission from stored slurry and solid manures. Journal of Environmental Quality 23, 585-592.
- IPCC (1997a). Greenhouse Gas Inventory. Workbook. IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Volume 2, London: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- IPCC (1997b) Greenhouse Gas Inventory. Reference Manual. Revised 1996. IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Volume 3, London: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- IPCC (2001) Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (J. Penman et al., eds.). IPCC National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, Technical Support Unit, Hayama, Japan.
- Jordforsk (1998) Report from the monitoring of nutrients in 1997 (Authors: Vagstad, N., M. Bechmann, P. Stålnacke, H.O. Eggestad and J. Deelstra), Ås: Centre for Soil and Environmental Research.
- Odling in balans (1996) Väkstnæringsbalans i jordbruket [Nutrient balances within agriculture].
- Olesen, J.E., Petersen, S.O., Andersen, J.M., Fenhann, J. & Jacobsen, B.H. (2001) Emission af drivhusgasser fra dansk landbrug. Danmarks Jordbrugsforskning, Ministeriet for Fødevarer, Landbrug og Fiskeri, DJF rapport nr. 47, April 2001.
- Pipatti, R. (2001) Greenhouse gas emissions and removals in Finland. Espoo. Technical Research Centre of Finland, VTT Research Notes 2094. 59 pp. + annexes 95 pp.
- Rekolainen, S., Pitkänen, H., Bleeker, A. & Felix, S. (1995) Nitrogen and phosphorus fluxes from Finnish agricultural areas to the Baltic Sea. Nordic Hydrology, 26, pp. 55-72.
- Statistics Norway (2001) Natural resources and the environment 2001. Norway, Statistical Analyses **47**, ISBN 82-537-4995-3.
- Swedish EPA (1992) Västhusgasutsläpp från husdjur [Greenhouse gas emissions from livestock]. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Report No. 4144.
- Växtnäringsbalans i jordbruket (1996) Odling i balans.
# Methane emissions from enteric fermentation – effects of diet composition

#### Jan Bertilsson

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Department of Animal Nutrition and Management, S-753 23 Uppsala, Sweden e-mail: jan.bertilsson@huv.slu.se

#### Summary

The formation of methane is an unavoidable result of the digestion of feeds by animals. Ruminants produce considerable amounts of methane. Cattle is the most important category of domestic ruminants in the Nordic countries. Feeding practice has considerable effect on the amount of methane produced, in general more concentrated feeds and a more intensive feeding will give less methane per kg of product (milk, beef). The separation between dairy and beef production might give a higher total methane production. Methane production can be determined experimentally using different methodologies. However, this is difficult and costly, and methane production is therefore most often calculated from knowledge about the animal production and the feeds used. Total amounts of methane produced can be decreased by manipulation of the feeding practice, but most of the methods have unacceptable consequences for environment or animal welfare.

### Introduction

Cattle are by far the most important producing animals in the Swedish agricultural sector, which is characterized by a high proportion of dairy cattle within the total cattle population. Nordic dairy cows are highly productive, and the production per animal is among the highest in the world. Although grass and grass products are the basis for dairy production, grains and various by-products have increased in importance. There have been dramatic changes in the productivity of dairy cows over the last century. Today the amount of milk produced by a cow has doubled compared to 50 years ago. This has been promoted both by increases in genetic merits of cows and by changes in feeding practice. These changes have, of course, effects also on the animals' production of methane.

Beef production has up to now to a large extent been based on dairy breed animals. The number of dairy cows have, however, decreased dramatically in the last decades. This fact and also changes in agricultural policies have promoted a more specialised beef production, separate from the dairy production. In Sweden the number of dairy cows decreased from 576,000 to 448,000 between 1990 and 1999. At the same time the number of suckler cows increased from 74,000 to 165,000. As the latter animal category is often kept under different conditions compared to dairy cows, especially concerning feeding and housing, changes in the amount of methane emitted may be anticipated.

Small ruminants (sheep, goats) are few in numbers and do not have much influence on the total budget for methane produced in Northern Europe. Horses and, especially, pigs are high in numbers, but are not regarded to produce much enteric methane.

# Calculation of methane production from cattle according to IPCC

According to the IPCC Good Practice guidance (IPCC, 2001), a stepwise decision tree is recommended for the calculation of methane production from livestock within a country. The steps are as follows:

- Step1. Divide the livestock into subgroups and characterise these.
- *Step2*. Estimate the emission factors for each of these subgroups.
- *Step3*. Multiply the emission factors from the subgroups with the number of individuals within the subgroup, and sum up over all subgroups to get the total emission.

These three steps can be performed at different levels of detail and complexity. There are two ways to approach these calculations. In the *Tier 1 method* (IPCC, 2001), default emission factors for each animal subgroup are used. The values to be used can be found in a tabulated form within the IPCC papers at their web-site. It is good practice to review the Tier 1 emission factors to ensure that the underlying animal characteristics - such as weight, growth rate and milk production used to develop them are representative for the actual conditions in the country. The data should be reviewed by livestock experts, and if the underlying characteristics are significantly different from actual conditions, the emission factors should be adjusted. The *Tier 2 method* is a more complex model, which requires more specific information from the country in question, and also more specific information on the animal production. This method is recommended when the circumstances that characterise the production in a certain country are not in line with the way the standard values in *Tier 1* has been calculated. As the ways in which cattle are kept in different countries are very different, countries with large livestock populations are recommended to use the *Tier 2* methodology.

In the *Tier 1* method, the cattle are divided into two categories; Dairy cows and other cattle. The latter category includes bulls, calves, growing steers and heifers. Dairy cows are defined as adult cows producing milk in commercial quantities. In some countries it might be appropriate to divide the cows in high and low producers. The emission factor should be chosen to reflect the production circumstances within the country. The tabulated standard values are divided according to regional circumstances. For Western Europe, where high-producing cows

dominate, and where feeding is based on high quality grass products and grain, the emission factor proposed is 100 kg methane per cow and year. This figure is based on an average production of 4200 kg milk per cow and year. For the category 'Other cattle', the proposed value is 48 kg methane per animal and year. Calves younger than six months are assumed not to emit any methane. The total emission is calculated by summing emission factors for each animal category multiplied with the number of animals in that category. The emission is given as gigagrams (Gg), which is the same as 1000 tons.

In the *Tier 2* method, the cattle population is divided into more categories. These are adult dairy cows (for commercial milk production), suckler cows (just producing calves), breeding bulls and young cattle. The latter category can be divided into non-weaned calves, growing heifers, steers and bulls. Knowledge is needed on average feed intake in megajoules (MJ) and kg dry matter (DM) in order to calculate the emission factor.

#### Methane production from cattle

The ability of ruminants to use feed products not directly usable by humans, and to convert it into products (milk, beef etc.) of high nutritional value, is unique and due to their specialized digestive system. The basic cattle feeds are carbohydrate rich feeds, e.g., grass and grain. The digestion of these feeds is, however, linked with a production of methane. The microorganisms in the rumen transform carbohydrates mainly into acetic, propionic and butyric acids. This is especially true when acetate, the dominating volatile fatty acid (VFA) in the rumen, is formed (Lindgren, 1980; Giger-Reverdin et al.,1992; Johnson & Johnson, 1995). Also, when butyric acid is formed there will be an elevated concentration of hydrogen in the rumen. For the animals, the formation of VFAs in the rumen is of vital importance, as VFAs are energy substrates for the ruminant. It is essential to get rid of surplus hydrogen in order to keep these processes going, and the most common process for this is the synthesis of methane from hydrogen and carbon dioxide. This synthesis is performed by methanogenic bacteria.

The reason why researchers in animal science have been interested in determining how methane is created in the metabolic processes of farm animals, is the fact that methane constitutes a considerable part of the energy of feeds and thus an energy loss. In the evaluation of energy in feeds it is necessary to distinguish between the most common ways of expressing feed energy.

- *Gross energy* is the energy possible to gain from a feed through total combustion.
- *Digestible energy* is the part of energy not lost through faeces. Digestibility is normally expressed in percentage. Normal energy digestibilities for cattle are

60-70% for good pastures and good hay and silages and feed diets completed with grain. For intensive production of beef cattle, like feed-lot production in America, a reasonable figure for energy digestibility might be over 75%.

- *Metabolisable energy* is digestible energy minus losses through urine and endogenous gases. These are mainly methane, but also carbon dioxide.
- *Net energy* is metabolisable energy minus energy losses from the animal in its life processes.

Different energy evaluation systems are in use in the Nordic countries. Sweden and Finland use metabolisable energy, although calculated in different ways. Denmark, Norway and Iceland are using net energy systems, but these are also different. This complicates the use of common methods for calculating methane production from ruminants in separate countries.

All factors needed to calculate the different energy expressions can be determined experimentally. It is, however, difficult, and requires specialised equipment. Because of this, emission factors are usually calculated from equations derived from experiments where methane losses have been measured. IPCC (2001) recommends to use 6% of gross energy intake for methane losses when no other figure is available. This figure is generally applicable to dairy cows. For more extensive production the figure 7% is used, while 4% is used for intensive production based on grain. Due to the differences between countries in energy evaluation systems, it is necessary to develop special equations based on the country's system.

# Possibilities to influence enteric methane production

Enteric methane production is affected to a large extent by the applied feeding practice. Types of factors that influence enteric methane production from cattle are:

- *Feed intake*. Methane production, expressed as a percentage of feeds, decreases although the total methane production increases as feed intake increases. A common figure for the relative decrease in methane production is 1.6 percent units as feed intake increases by one multiple from maintenance level.
- *Type of carbohydrate*. Cell wall fibers, which are present in high amounts in roughages, give more methane production than digestible fibers such as in by-products from sugar industry, distilleries and breweries. When very high proportions of concentrates are fed (>90% of DM), the methane losses can go down to 2-3% of gross energy.

- *Changing the physical structure* of roughages by milling and pelleting decreases the methane production in the rumen.
- *Feeding fat* normally decreases the methane production in the rumen. This is due to biohydration of unsaturated fatty acids, increased production of propionic acid, and inhibition of protozoans.
- *Manipulating the rumen microflora.* Today this is mainly done by chemical agents (e.g. ionofores), but in the future genetic engineering might be a possibility.

# Calculation of enteric methane production

Lindgren (1980) made calculations based on 2500 individual determinations of methane production. The average loss was 11 % of digestible energy intake. Due to large variations within the material, the author recommended that the means should not be used. The methane production is mainly due to the amount of digestible carbohydrates fed, but also to the feeding level. As the amount of digestible carbohydrates fed was not always shown in the literature, Lindgren based his equations on digestible energy. For mixed rations (roughage and concentrates), the following regression was found:

Methane (% of digestible energy) =  $15.7 - 0.030 \times DCE - 1.4 \times L$ ,

where DCE is the digestion coefficient of energy, and L the level of feeding expressed as multiples of the energetic requirement for maintenance. In Sweden, where the basis for formulating feed rations is metabolisable energy (Spörndly, 1999), it is also necessary to calculate the metabolisability of the ration expressed as metabolisable energy in percent of digestible energy. Lindgren (1980) calculated the following regression to do this.

Metabolisability (% of energy digested) =  $83.2 + 2.53 \times L - 0.045 \times G - 0.184 \times CP$ ,

where G is the percentage of roughage, and CP that of crude protein. Both are expressed as % of DM. Energy content in methane is needed in order to calculate kg of methane. The energy content is set to be 55.65 MJ kg-1 methane (IPCC, 1997).

There are many equations available in the literature based on detailed information about the feeds and especially the carbohydrates' chemical composition (Lindgren, 1980; Holter & Young, 1992; Benchaar et al., 1998). These equations are difficult to apply when the exact chemical composition is not known, which is often the case in practice. The determination coefficients are also often low (R2 ~ 0.5). Kirchgessner et al. (1991) have presented a simple model to calculate methane production in dairy cows based on milk production and live weight. His equations have reasonable correlations with determined methane production levels.

Methane  $(g \operatorname{cow}^{-1} \operatorname{day}^{-1}) = 55 + 4.5 \times (kg \operatorname{milk} \operatorname{cow}^{-1} \operatorname{day}^{-1}) + 1.2 \times (\text{metabolic} \text{weight})$ 

Metabolic weight =  $(live weight)^{0.75}$ .

# Comparison of different methods to calculate enteric methane production

Some calculations concerning methane production from cattle in Sweden are shown in Tables 1 and 2 (Bertilsson, 2001). It is obvious that these models differ, and that methods 1 and 2 give considerably higher values than the IPCC default method. It is also notable that, although the total methane production from dairy cows decreased during the last decade, the total methane production tended to increase. This is due to a fast increase in the number of cattle for beef production. A similar decrease in methane production from dairy cows has been observed in Denmark, and this has been attributed to higher energy use efficiency in the milk production (Olesen et al., 2001b).

	1000	1000
	1990	1999
Methane, kg/animal/year		
Method 1*	125	131
Method 2**	101	107
IPCC default (Tier1)	100	100
Methane, g/kg milk*		
Method 1	20.8	17.8
Method 2	16.9	14.5

Table 1. Methane from Swedish dairy cows calculated according to different methods.

\*Lindgren, 1990; \*\* Kirchgessner et al., 1991.

A Danish study recently showed that the estimated methane emission declined with increasing proportion of concentrates in the feed ration (Olesen et al., 2001a). The largest reduction in methane emission was, however, obtained by increasing the content of fat in the ration. The reference feed ration gave approximately the same methane emission as the IPCC standard methane conversion factor. The use of a feed ration with a fat content of 7.2%, against 4.5% in the reference situation, reduced the methane emission by 34%. In CO<sub>2</sub> equiva-

lents this corresponded to a reduction of 433 kt  $CO_2$  equivalents yr<sup>-1</sup> for Denmark in a scenario for the year 2010.

Category of animals	Animal number		Per cow and year (kg CH₄)		Total amount (gG)	
	1990	1999	1990	1999	1990	1999
Dairy cows	576409	448520	124	130	71.5	58.3
Replacements	464009	361021	68	68	31.6	24.5
Suckler cows	74544	164801	100	100	7.5	16.5
Replacement	29817	66000	68	68	2.0	4.5
Other cattle	258527	404100	80	80	20.7	32.3
Total from cattle					133.3	136.1

Table 2. Total methane production from cattle in Sweden (calculations based on Lindgren, 1980; Bertilsson, 2001, and Swedish feed tables).

# Discussion

A more intensive dairy production will decrease the methane production per kg of milk produced (Martin & Seeland, 1999). It is doubtful whether public acceptance of an intensified production can be found. Organic production is politically and socially acceptable, but the higher proportion of roughages may increase the methane emission, and this may lead to negative environmental impacts. Use of chemical properties to decrease methane production would also be challenged by the consumers for the same reason as above, and so would the use of genetically modified organisms. Decreasing the number of animals is of course one way to deal with the problem. This would, however, have great effects on the cultural landscape in countries like Sweden, where arable land occupy less than 10% of the total land area. There are many indications that the specialisation of dairy production in total has a negative effect on the environment. A combined milk and beef production also in the future would probably be the best compromise here.

# References

- Benchaar, C., Rivest, J., Pomar, C. & Chiquette, J. (1998) Prediction of methane production from dairy cows using existing mechanistic models and regression equations. J. Anim. Sci. **76**, 617-627.
- Bertilsson, J. (2001)Utvärdering av beräkningsmetodik för metanavgång från nötkreatur. Internt dokument, Naturvårdverket, Sverige.
- Giger-Reverdin, S., Vermorel, M. & Sauvant, D. (1992) Facteurs de variation de la production de methane au cours de la digestion des aliments composes chez les ruminants. Ann. Zootech. **41**, 37-38.

- Harper, L.A., Denmead, O.T., Freney, J.R. & Byers, F.M. (1998) Direct measurements of methane emissions from grazing and feedlot cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 77, 1392-1401.
- Holter, J.B. & Young, A.J. (1992) Methane prediction in dry and lactating Holstein cows. 1992. J. Dairy Sci. **75**, 2165-2175.
- IPCC (1997) Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National Gas Inventories. (http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/gl/invs1.htm
- IPCC (2001) Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in Greenhouse Gas Inventories (<u>http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/gp/gpgaum.htm</u>).
- Johnson, K.A. & Johnson, D.E. (1995) Methane emissions from cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 73, 2483-2492.
- Kirchgessner, M., Windisch, W., Müller, H.L. & Kreuzer, M. (1991) Release of methane and carbon dioxide by dairy cattle. Agribiol. Res. 44, 2-3.
- Lana, R.J., Russell, J.B. & Van Amburgh, M.E. (1998) The role of pH in regulating ruminal methane and ammonia production. J. Anim. Sci. **76**, 2190-2196.
- Lindgren, E. (1980) Skattning av energiförluster i metan och urin hos idisslare. En litteraturstudie. Rapport 47. Avd. f. Husdjurens näringsfysiologi.
- Martin, S. & Seeland, G. (1999) Effects of specialisation in cattle production in cattle production on ecologically harmful emissions. Livestock Production Science **61**, 171-178.
- Olesen, J.E., Andersen, J.M., Jacobsen, B.H., Hvelplund, T., Jørgensen, U., Schou, J.S., Graversen, J., Dalgaard, T. & Fenhann, J. (2001a) Kvantificering af tre tiltag til reduktion af landbrugets udledning af drivhusgasser. DJF-rapport Markbrug 48.
- Olesen, J.E., Petersen, S.O., Andersen, J.M., Fenhann, J. & Jacobsen, B.H. (2001b) Emission af drivhusgasser fra dansk landbrug. DJF-rapport Markbrug 47.

# Methane emissions from livestock manure – effects of storage conditions and climate

Martin N. Hansen<sup>1\*</sup>, Sven G. Sommer<sup>1</sup> and Kaj Henriksen<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Agricultural Engineering, Research Centre Bygholm, P.O. Box 536, DK-8700 Horsens; <sup>2</sup>University of Aalborg, Department of Environmental Technology, Sohngaardsholmsvej 57, DK-9000 Aalborg. <sup>\*</sup>e-mail: MartinN.Hansen@agrsci.dk

#### Summary

Livestock manure contributes significantly to the global emission of methane (CH<sub>4</sub>). Methane is emitted during storage of both liquid and solid manure. Part of the solid manure is produced in loose housing systems with solid floors where the manure is stored in a deep litter mat, which is a mixture of straw, urine and faeces. As anaerobic conditions are found in the lower part of the deep litter mat, significant amounts of the carbon stored in the deep litter may be emitted as  $CH_4$ . It has been estimated that a cattle deep litter mat contributed 11 to 18% of the total  $CH_4$  (from cattle digestion and litter) emitted. This source of  $CH_4$  does not seem to be included in the IPCC default value for solid manure. During outdoor storage of solid manure,  $CH_4$  can be produced at a high rate in the central parts of the heap. Methane emissions have been shown to account for 0.01 to 0.2% of the total carbon content, and emissions were positively related to the bulk density of stored solid manure. Methane may be partly transformed to  $CO_2$  during the transport from the inside of a heap towards the surface.

The emission of  $CH_4$  from stored anaerobically digested slurry and cattle slurry has been shown to vary between <0.01 and 1.4 g C m<sup>-3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Methane is produced in the bulk of the slurry, and it has been found that log transformed  $CH_4$  emissions decrease linearly with the inverse temperature of the slurry. A porous surface cover on the stored liquid manure may reduce  $CH_4$  emissions by up to 40%, probably due to  $CH_4$  oxidation within the surface cover or at the interface between the cover and liquid in the store. The establishment of a porous cover of slurry stores could be introduced as a mitigation technique and could also be included in the IPCC guidelines for calculating  $CH_4$  emissions from animal manure.

# Introduction

The composition of animal manure varies widely between animal species and housing systems. Slurry collected below slatted floors has a low content of dry matter due to limited use of bedding materials. Slurry, therefore, mainly consists of faeces and urine. In housing systems where livestock are tied, the excretion is separated into solid and liquid manure. The solid fraction, which is usually called farmyard manure (FYM), consists of faeces, litter and some urine, and the liquid manure consists of urine and some faeces. In loose housing systems with solid floors that are strewed with straw, sawdust etc., the solid manure consists of a mixture of faeces, urine and organic strewing material, i.e., deep litter. Slurry may be stored from one to several months inside animal houses, and for up to one year in outdoor stores. FYM is traditionally removed daily from the houses to outdoor stores, while liquid manure drains continuously through gutters to outdoor liquid manure stores. Deep litter, developing on the floors of animal houses for several months and up to about one year before it is removed, is often stored outside the animal house in manure heaps before it is applied in the field. In Denmark, approximately 80% of all the livestock manure is handled as slurry and 20% as solid manure (Poulsen et al., 2001). At present, deep litter constitutes 13% and farmyard manure 7% of the manure; however, for animal welfare reasons there is an increasing interest in loose housing systems, and these systems are expected to contribute to an increasing production of deep litter.

Livestock production contributes significantly to the increase in atmospheric methane concentration, and it has been estimated that livestock manure accounts for between 5 and 6% of the global emission of atmospheric CH4 (Hogan et al., 1991; Rotmans et al., 1992). The Danish agricultural emission of CH4 amounts to 430 kt yr-1, of which 172 kt are emitted during collection and storage of manure, and from manure applied to the soil (Petersen & Sommer, 1999). However, the emission inventories are based on a limited number of data with respect to animal manure. Therefore, for the purpose of improving the calculation of emissions and developing abatement techniques, there is a need for more knowledge about how CH4 emissions are related to the handling and type of livestock manure.

This paper describes how manure management affects emission of CH4 from livestock manure during storage inside and outside animal houses, and it discusses how this information could contribute to improve the IPCC procedures for calculating greenhouse gas emissions.

#### Methane emissions from solid manure

#### Emissions from deep litter mats

The microbial activity has proved to be very significant in the surface layers of cattle deep litter mats (Henriksen et al., 2000). The microbial activity at the surface will reduce the oxygen content of air entering the mat. Henriksen et al. (2000) found that the oxygen content in the air beneath a depth of 10-15 cm was very low, and anaerobic conditions were found in the bottom layers of the deep litter (Fig. 1). Furthermore, a combination of insulation and aerobic microbial activity caused the temperature to increase to 40-50°C at about 10-15 cm from the surface. Below this layer the temperature declined due to lower activity in the anaerobic environment.

Laboratory studies have shown that more than 80% of the total transformations of carbon take place in the aerobic 0-20 cm top layer (Henriksen et al., 2000).

From this layer, carbon was emitted in the form of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>). From below 15-20 cm, about 20% of the carbon transformations of the deep litter resulted in CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> production, with 5-15% of total carbon gas emissions occurring in the form of methane (Fig. 2) (Henriksen et al., 2000). No methane oxidation was observed in the aerobic top layer, therefore the suggestion that CH<sub>4</sub> may be oxidised during transport from bottom layers of the deep litter to the surface (Rom et al., 2001) was not confirmed. Measurements in animal houses showed that during a period of three months the daily CH<sub>4</sub> emission constituted 30-70 g C ton<sup>-1</sup> manure, which corresponded to *ca*. 15% of the total CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> emission from the deep litter (Rom et al., 2000). The total CH<sub>4</sub> emission from cattle and deep litter made up *ca*. 5% of the total carbon supplied to the cattle in feed and litter, which is close to values estimated for slurry based housing systems (Jungbluth et al., 2001). The CH<sub>4</sub> emission from cattle housing (Rom et al., 2000).



Figure 1. Profiles of temperature and oxygen concentration in a cattle deep litter mat.



Figure 2. Profiles of concentrations of methane and carbon dioxide in a cattle deep litter mat.

Increasing the population density of animals, and thereby the excretion and compaction of the deep litter, may increase the production of  $CH_4$ . The findings above refer to a cattle deep litter mat. The methane emission from pig deep litter mats may differ significantly from these findings as pigs mix the deep litter via their behaviour and due to their sharp cloves. Therefore, a lower  $CH_4$  emission is expected from pig deep litter mats than from cattle deep litter mats.

#### Solid manure heaps

When a manure heap is established, the temperature inside the heap may increase to 70oC due to aerobic microbial metabolism, i.e. composting (Fig. 3). Composting generates an upward airflow in the heap and, as a consequence, fresh air from the atmosphere will enter through the lower section of the heap.



Figure 3. Dynamics of temperature and methane emission during windrow composting of cattle deep litter stored with or without compaction. Compaction was performed by means of a frontloader, which increased the bulk density from 0.42 to 0.49 t m<sup>-3</sup>.

Most studies show low emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> immediately after the establishment of the heap. However, the CH<sub>4</sub> emission from composting heaps becomes significant after initiation of the phase with very high temperatures, and the emission will remain high for a period of two to four weeks, whereupon it will decline with the decreasing temperature (Hellman et al., 1997; Hellebrand & Kalk, 2000; Sommer, 2001). During the initial phase of vigorous composting, anaerobic sites may emerge due to high oxygen consumption rates. Methane production is strictly anaerobic and increases with increasing temperatures (Zeikus & Winfrey, 1976; Sommer and Møller, 2000), and the combination of anaerobic conditions and high temperatures may therefore contribute to a high emission rate during this phase (Hellman et al., 1997).

Restrictions in the air exchange of the heap will stimulate the development of sites in the heap where oxygen consumption exceeds the oxygen supply. Therefore, the CH<sub>4</sub> emission will be higher from a heap at high bulk density than the emission from a heap at low bulk density (Fig. 3) (Sommer, 2001). Although it was observed by Sommer (2001) that CH<sub>4</sub> emissions were related to CH<sub>4</sub> concentrations in the heap, the emission did not increase significantly until concentrations inside the heap reached *ca*. 500 ppm. It was therefore assumed that CH<sub>4</sub> was oxidized to CO<sub>2</sub> during the transport from the centre to the surface of the heap, and at low concentrations the potential for CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation exceeded CH<sub>4</sub> production rates. In studies by Sommer (2001) and Sommer & Møller (2000), the CH<sub>4</sub> emission accounted for between 0.01 and 0.2% of the initial carbon content of the manure heaps. Much higher values for CH<sub>4</sub> emission from composting manure have been reported by Hellebrand & Kalk (2000). They found that 4.6% of the carbon mineralized was released as methane, corresponding to 1.4% of the initial carbon content.

In order to reduce ammonia emissions from stored solid manure, it has been recommended to reduce the convection of air into and through the heap. The convection may be reduced with a cover of tarpaulin or through compaction of the litter. However, a negative side effect of this practice for reduction of  $NH_3$  emissions could be an increased production of  $CH_4$  as a result of more anaerobic conditions in the heap (Sommer & Møller, 2000; Jungbluth et al., 2001).

#### Methane emission from slurry

It is well established that the  $CH_4$  emissions from anaerobically stored slurry is related to the temperature of the slurry. Laboratory studies have shown that the  $CH_4$  production in slurry increases with increasing temperatures between 10 and ca. 30°C (Cullimore et al., 1985; Khan et al., 1997), and that below 10°C the methane production is negligible (Steed & Hashimoto, 1994).

#### In-house storage of slurry

Little is known about the methane production in slurry during storage inside animal houses, but from laboratory studies it is well established that the emission is related to the following factors: temperature, storage time, population of methane producing micro-organisms and content of volatile solids (VS). The temperature in slurry channels is related to the type of housing system. In Denmark the temperature in an insulated housing type is probably about 15°C during winter and 20°C during summer, in a non-insulated housing type the temperature of slurry in the slurry channels will be about 5°C during winter and 20°C during summer. If the animals are housed only during winter, then the emission of  $CH_4$  from slurry channels will be low, as the majority of slurry then is stored during periods of low temperature.

#### Storage of slurry

There are only few studies of  $CH_4$  emission from field-scale slurry stores, and therefore IPCC has based their calculations on results from laboratory experiments like the study of Steed & Hashimoto (1994). Field scale studies have found that the  $CH_4$  emission varied between <0.01 to 1.4 g C m<sup>-3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Husted, 1994; Khan et al., 1997; Sommer et al., 2000). Most of the variation in these studies seemed to be due to temperature variations and thus confirmed the importance of temperature observed in laboratory studies. The methane emission in the three studies quoted was related to temperature by the Arrhenius equation, i.e., the log of methane production decreased linearly with the inverse temperature. However, the parameters of the Arrhenius equation varied from study to study, probably because of variations in slurry composition or in methodology that was not taken into account in the parameterization. Thus, using data from field studies to parameterize the relation between  $CH_4$  emission and temperature were not promising (Fig. 4).

In the study by Sommer et al. (2000), the emission of  $CH_4$  was 40% higher from uncovered slurry than from slurry covered with a layer of straw, while the reduction with Leca nuts or a natural surface crust was intermediate (Fig. 5). The reduction of  $CH_4$  emissions from stored slurry with a surface cover suggests that  $CH_4$  is oxidized to  $CO_2$  during its passage through the porous layer, in accordance with earlier observations (Husted, 1994).



Figure 4. Influence of temperature on methane emission during field-scale storage of slurry observed in different studies (Sommer et al., 2000; Khan et al., 1997; Husted, 1994).



Figure 5. Temperature and methane emission from stored cattle slurry without cover and with a cover of straw.

#### Algorithms for estimating CH4 emissions

The IPCC methodology calculates CH4 emissions from stored manure as a fraction of the manure VS, and a distinction is made between different manure management systems.

The IPCC methodology does not include emissions from solid manure during storage in animal houses. This is a shortcoming, because emission of CH4 from

deep litter mats may account for 11-18% of the methane emissions from cattle housing (Henriksen et al., 2000). Methane is only produced in the bottom layer of deep litter mats. Thus, when including this source in the methodology for calculating greenhouse gas emission, it will be necessary to evaluate whether the emission should be related to the area or the depth of litter mats, and whether type and density of livestock should be included.

Our experience is that CH4 emissions from solid manure stored outdoors in heaps are quite low as predicted by IPCC, but that new handling systems for reduction of NH3 emissions could contribute to increase the methane emission from these stores.

Anaerobic digestion of slurry has been shown to reduce CH4 emissions from stores of animal slurry (Sommer et al., 2000). However, care must be taken to retrieve CH4 for a period after the slurry has left the biogas reactor, where a combination of high temperatures and a large population of methane producing microorganisms enables intense CH4 production to continue. Inventories should also take into account that the CH4 emission from slurry stores may be reduced by a porous surface cover.

#### Conclusions

Methane is produced in anaerobic volumes of stored slurry and solid manure, and the production is positively related to temperature. Methane emission from slurry stores may be reduced by porous covers of a natural surface crust, straw or Leca nuts. A significant emission of methane has been observed from cattle deep litter mats. Methane emissions from solid manure heaps of low density are small, but may increase if the inflow of air is restricted by compaction or by covering of the heaps.

#### References

- Cullimore, D.R, Maule, A. & Mansuy, N. (1985) Ambient temperature methanogenesis from pig manure waste lagoons: Thermal gradient incubator studies. Agricultural wastes **12**, 147-157.
- Hellebrand, H.J. & Kalk, W-D. (2000) Emissions caused by manure compositing. Agrartechnische Forschung 6. Heft 2, pp. E26-E31.
- Hellman, B., Zellers, L., Palojärvi, A. & Bai, Q. (1997) Emission of climate-relevant trace gases and sucession of microbial communities during open-windrow composting. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **63**, 1011-1018.
- Henriksen, K., Olesen, T. & Rom, H.B. (2000) Omsætning af kulstof og kvælstofprocesser i kvægdybstrøelsesmåtter (Decomposition of carbon and nitrogen transformation in cattle deep litter mats. In Husdyrgødning og kompost – næringsstofudnyttelse fra stald til mark i økologisk jordbrug (Eds. Sommer S.G. and Eriksen, J.), 29-34. Forskningscenter for Økologisk Jordbrug, 2000.

- Hogan, K.B., Hoffman, J.S. & Thompson, A.M. (1991) Methane on the greenhouse agenda. Nature **354**, 181-182.
- Husted, S. (1994) Seasonal variation in methane emission from stored slurry and solid manure. Journal of Environmental Quality **23**, 585-592.
- IPCC (1997) Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change/ Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. 1997. OECD/OCDE, Paris.
- Jungbluth, J., Hartung, E. & Brose, G. (2001) Greenhouse gas emissions from animal houses and manure stores. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **60**, 133-145.
- Khan, R.Z., Müller, C. & Sommer, S.G. (1997) Micrometeorological mass balance technique for measuring CH<sub>4</sub> emission from stored cattle slurry. Biology and Fertility Soils 24, 442-444.
- Petersen, S.O. & Sommer, S.G. (1999) Gylle fra biogasanlæg giver færre udslip af drivhusgasser (Anaerobic digestion of animal slurry is reducing the emission of greenhouse gases) Dansk Bioenergi 46, 5-7.
- Poulsen, H.D., Børsting, C.F., Rom, H.B. & Sommer, S.G. (2001) Kvælstof, fosfor og kalium i husdyrgødning – normtal 2000 (Nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium in animal manure-standard values for year 2000). DIAS Report – Animal Husbandry 36, Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries, Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, pp 152.
- Rom, H.B. & Henriksen, K. (2000) Kvælstoftab fra kvægstalde med dybstrøelse (Nitrogen loss from cattle housing with deep litter). In Husdyrgødning og kompost – næringsstofudnyttelse fra stald til mark i økologisk jordbrug (Eds. Sommer S.G. & Eriksen, J.), 13-20. Research Centre for Organic Farming, 2000.
- Rom, H.B., Henriksen, K., Dahl, P., & Levring, M. (2001) Quantificantion of nitrogen losses, and nutrient flow in straw bedded housing systems for cattle. DIAS Report – Animal Husbandry 21, 34-41. H.B. Rom & C.G. Sorensen (Edit.), Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries, Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences.
- Rotmans, J., den Elzen, M.G.J., Krol, M.S., Swart, R.J. & van der Woerd, H.J. (1992) Stabilizing atmospheric concentrations: Towards international methane control. Ambio 21, 404-413.
- Sommer, S.G. (2001) Effect of composting on nutrient loss and nitrogen availability of cattle deep litter. European Journal of Agronomy **14**, 123-133.
- Sommer, S.G. & Møller, H.B. (2000) Emission of greenhouse gases during composiing of deep litter from pig production effect of straw content. Journal of Agricultural Science, Cambridge **134**, 327-335.
- Sommer, S.G., Petersen, S.O. & Søgaard, H.T. (2000) Emission of greenhouse gases from stored cattle slurry and slurry fermented at a biogas plant. Journal of Environmental Quality **29**, 744-751.
- Sommer, S.G., Møller, H.B. & Petersen, S.O. (2001) Reduktion af drivhusgasemission fra gylle og organisk affald ved biogasbehandling (Reduction in greenhouse gas emission through fermentation of animal slurry). DIAS Report – Animal Husbandry **31**, p. 53, Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries, Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences.
- Steed jr., J. & Hashimoto, A.G. (1994) Methane emissions from typical manure management systems. Bioresource Technology **50**, 123-130.
- Zeikus, J.G., & Winfrey, M.R. (1976) Temperature limitation of methanogenesis in aquatic sediments. Applied Environmental Microbiology **31**, 99-107.

# A new model for calculating the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions through anaerobic co-digestion of manure and organic waste

Sven G. Sommer<sup>1\*</sup>, Søren O. Petersen<sup>2</sup> and Henrik B. Møller<sup>1</sup> Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, <sup>1</sup>Department of Agricultural Engineering, Research Centre Bygholm, P.O. Box 536, DK-8700 Horsens; <sup>2</sup>Department of Crop Physiology and Soil Science, Research Centre Foulum, P.O. Box 50, DK-8830 Tjele <sup>\*</sup>e-mail: SvenG.Sommer@agrsci.dk

#### Summary

Biogenic emissions of methane ( $CH_4$ ) and nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) occur during handling, storage and after field application of animal manure. The emissions are linked to decomposition of volatile solids (VS), which provide energy for microorganisms.

During anaerobic storage, turnover of VS drives the microbial processes which lead to  $CH_4$  production. Also, turnover of VS in slurry applied to fields will consume oxygen and can thereby stimulate N<sub>2</sub>O production. Anaerobic digestion of manure and organic wastes for biogas production removes VS prior to storage and field application, and therefore this treatment also reduces the potential for  $CH_4$  and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.

A model has been developed to evaluate the effect of anaerobic co-digestion of animal manure and organic waste on  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions. The model estimates the reduction in VS during storage and digestion, and an algorithm for prediction of  $CH_4$  emissions from manure during storage relates the emission to VS, temperature and storage time. Nitrous oxide emissions from field-applied slurry are calculated using VS, slurry N, soil water potential and application method as input variables, thus linking C and N turnover. The amount of fossil fuel that is substituted by  $CH_4$  produced during digestion is also calculated in order to estimate the total effect of anaerobic digestion on greenhouse gas emissions from slurry.

Model calculations show the potential of manure digestion to modify the emission of greenhouse gases from agriculture. The experience from application of the model to different scenarios is that the emission of greenhouse gases and their reduction must be calculated with dynamic and integrated models. Specifically, the results indicate that digestion of slurry and organic wastes could reduce Danish greenhouse gas emissions by as much as 3%.

#### Introduction

Anthropogenic emissions of the greenhouse gases carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ), methane ( $CH_4$ ) and nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) have increased significantly during the last century. Measures to reduce global warming due to the greenhouse effect tend to focus on  $CO_2$  emissions from combustion of fossil fuels. Relative to  $CO_2$ , the amounts of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This work has also been presented at the Third International Symposium on Non-CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse Gases (NCGG-3) Scientific understanding, control options and policy aspects. Maastrict, The Netherlands 21-23 January 2002.

 $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  in the atmosphere are low, but their global warming potentials (GWP) are, respectively, 21 and 310 times higher than that of  $CO_2$ . Globally, the emission of  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  from livestock manure contributes 5-6% to the total emission of  $CH_4$  (Hogan et al., 1991; Rotmans et al., 1992) and 7% of  $N_2O$  (Khalil & Rasmussen, 1992). Within EU, agriculture is estimated to contribute almost half of the  $CH_4$  emissions and more than half of the  $N_2O$  emissions (EEA, 1999). Main sources of  $CH_4$  are animal digestion and manure stores, while  $N_2O$  mainly originates from the turnover of mineral fertilizers and field applied animal manure, and from the decomposition of crop residues.

Anaerobic digestion of animal manure and organic waste materials in biogas digesters reduces the level of volatile solids (*VS*). Since *VS* drives the microbial processes that may lead to  $CH_4$  production during anaerobic storage, the removal of *VS* in biogas digesters prior to storage can reduce the potential for  $CH_4$  emissions to the atmosphere. Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from manure applied to agricultural land can be stimulated in environments with low oxygen availability. Since turnover of *VS* in the manure leads to enhanced oxygen consumption, anaerobic digestion has a potential to reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from field-applied slurry (Petersen, 1999).

The IPCC model (IPCC, 1997) for quantifying the effect of anaerobic digestion on greenhouse gas emissions from manure will not fully account for the reduction of VS, partly because the model does not present algorithms to calculate the effect of digestion on CH4 emissions during subsequent storage, and partly because the model does not predict an effect of VS reduction on N2O emissions after field application of manure. Therefore, we developed a model designed to estimate the total reduction in greenhouse gas emissions, which results from co-digestion of animal slurry and organic waste (not including sewage sludge and organic household waste) in biogas plants.

#### The model

The model uses *VS* as the main driving variable to predict  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions before and during digestion, during storage, and after field application of untreated and digested manure and waste. The fundamental principle is to estimate the removal of *VS* in slurry and organic waste during anaerobic digestion and storage (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Sources of  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  in manure management systems without (top) and with (bottom) fermentation of slurry in biogas digesters. Emissions from digesters are due to leaks.

Methane emissions from slurry channels inside animal houses and during storage are related to the content of degradable *VS*, storage time and temperature. Volatile solids (*VS*) in slurry are considered to consist of fats, protein and simple, degradable carbohydrates (designated as  $VS_D$ ) and of non-degradable carbohydrates like lignocellulose ( $VS_{ND}$ ). The potential CH<sub>4</sub> production per kg *VS* in cattle and pig slurry is estimated by Bushwell's equation (Symons & Bushwell, 1933), while the production of CH<sub>4</sub> per kg *VS* actually achieved in digesters is assumed to represent a 90% degradation of  $VS_D$  (Angelidaki et al., 2000). Hence, the fraction of *VS* that is  $VS_D$  can be calculated with the following equation:

$$\frac{VS_{D}}{VS} = \frac{1}{0.9} \times \frac{CH_{4}(digestor)}{CH_{4}(potential)}$$
 Eq. 1

The amount of  $VS_{D}$  contributed by carbohydrate is calculated assuming that all fats and protein, but only a fraction of the carbohydrate, is readily degradable:

$$VS_{D,Carbohydrate} = VS_D - (VS_{D,fats} + VS_{D,protein})$$
 Eq. 2

Using measurements of CH<sub>4</sub> production in operating biogas plants and information about the overall composition of slurry, it has been calculated that the different organic species contribute to  $VS_D$  as shown in Table 1;  $VS_{D,fats}$  and  $VS_{D,proteins}$  are identical to  $VS_{fats}$  and  $VS_{proteins'}$  respectively, as we have assumed that these components are 100% degradable.

Biomass	Degradable		Non-degradable	CH <sub>4</sub> production	
	Fat	Protein	Carbohydrate	carbohydrate	
			%		kg CH <sub>4</sub> /kg $VS_D$
Cattle slurry	9	18	21	52	0.34
Pig slurry	10	30	25	35	0.36
Organic waste	50	25	5	20	0.52

Table 1. Parameters for calculating  $CH_4$  production and  $VS_D$  removal during storage and digestion of animal slurry and organic waste.

The degradation of *VS*, and the derived production of  $CH_4$ , is calculated with a model which integrates the effect of storage inside and outside the animal house. Factors for  $CH_4$  emission during storage of slurry in animal houses are given in Table 2. At present we have no detailed measurements of temperature variation in slurry stored in-house, and therefore only two temperature regimes, i.e., summer (20°C) and winter (15°C), have been used in the calculations.

Table 2. Emission factors for  $CH_4$  during storage inside animal houses, given in % of VS excreted and (in brackets) in g kg<sup>-1</sup> VS.

	% of <i>V</i> .	% of VS excreted (g $CH_4$ kg <sup>-1</sup> VS excreted)		
	15°C	20°C	Average	
Cattle	7 (24.2)	13 (44.9)	10 (34.5)	
Pig	3 (10.68)	7 (24.92)	5 (17.8)	

The temperature relationship of  $CH_4$  production was calculated with the Arrhenius equation using data from field studies of Husted (1994), Khan et al. (1997) and Sommer et al. (2000):

$$\ln F(T) = VS_D \times b_1 \times (\ln A - E \times (1/RT)) + VS_{ND} \times b_2 \times (\ln A - E \times (1/RT))$$
Eq. 3

where *F* is the emission rate (g CH<sub>4</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> VS h<sup>-1</sup>), VS<sub>D</sub> and VS<sub>ND</sub> are the amounts of, respectively, degradable and non-degradable VS (g kg<sup>-1</sup> slurry),  $b_1$  and  $b_2$  are rate correcting factors (no dimensions), *A* is the Arrhenius parameter, *E* the activation energy, *R* the gas constant and *T* the temperature (K). The parameters used are given in Table 3. Temperature is related to air temperature and storage time according to a standard scheme for filling and emptying of in-house slurry channels and outdoor stores.

Nitrous oxide emissions from field-applied slurry are estimated on the basis of inputs of  $NH_4^+$ ,  $VS_{ND}$  and  $VS_D$ . Three application strategies are defined, for which  $NH_3$  volatilization and soil water potential at the time of application are defined (see Table 4). The model links  $N_2O$  emissions to the proportion of turnover expected to occur in oxygen deficient slurry 'hot spots', i.e., where reduction of ni-

trate diffusing into the hot spots replaces the aerobic decomposition of *VS*. The  $VS_{ND}$  is assumed to remain in the hot spot, while  $VS_D$  is partly redistributed with the slurry liquid to the surrounding soil. The  $VS_D$  distribution at equilibrium is calculated using relationships between slurry *VS* and water potential determined under laboratory conditions (Fig. 2). In the model, N<sub>2</sub>O from nitrification is related to NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> in slurry hot spots and bulk soil, respectively, while N<sub>2</sub>O from denitrification is a function of  $VS_D$  retained in slurry hot spots. Further, the fraction of  $VS_D$  degraded via denitrification (as opposed to aerobic processes) is estimated at 10% (Petersen et al., 1996). Nitrous oxide emissions derived from rainfall events are included as an area-based background. According to this model, anaerobic digestion will have little impact on N<sub>2</sub>O derived from nitrification, but it will reduce N<sub>2</sub>O from denitrification proportionately with *VS<sub>D</sub>* removal.

Table 3. Parameters for calculating  $CH_4$  emissions from cattle and pig slurry using Eq. 3.

Parameters		Cattle	Pig
Arrhenius parameter	ln(A)	22.60	44.00
Activation energy	E	$6.3 \times 10^{7}$	$1.13 \times 10^{8}$
Gas constant	R	8.314	8.314
Rate correction factor for $VS_{D}$	b1	1	1
Rate correction factor for $VS_{_{ND}}$	b2	0.01	0.01

Table 4. Nitrous oxide emissions from field-applied slurry were estimated on the basis of the conditions and assumptions summarized below.

Input variables (kg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	Total VS, VS <sub>D</sub> , Total N, NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> -N				
Application strategies	Ι.	II.	III.		
- time of year (proportion of slurry	spring, incorporated	spring, surface ap-	summer, surface		
applied)	(65%)	plied (17%)	applied (18%)		
- NH <sub>3</sub> volatilization	10%	20%	10%		
- soil water potential	pF 2	pF 2	pF 3		
Redistribution of $VS_D$ and $NH_4^+$	Function of slurry $VS_{ND'}$ , $VS_{D}$ and soil water potential				
Limiting factor for estimates of:					
- nitrification	i) $NH_4^+$ in slurry hot spots; ii) $NH_4^+$ transported to the soil				
- denitrification	$VS_{D}$ retained in slurry hot spots; 10% of C is metabolized via				
	denitrification, and this is recalculated into NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>+</sup> reduced				
Emission factors for:					
- nitrification	i) 0.5%; ii) 0.2%				
- denitrification	2%				
Background emission	0.2 kg N ha <sup>-1</sup>				

\*EF=Emission factor in pct. of nitrification and denitrification.

The model handles organic waste for co-digestion like the slurry, i.e., untreated organic waste is also assumed to be stored and applied to agricultural land. The effect of the  $VS_D$  reduction on CH<sub>4</sub> emissions during storage, and on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from field-applied waste, is accounted for in the model. Furthermore, the

model accounts for the substitution of fossil fuel. For this comparative study, model parameters have been selected that give emission rates for untreated pig and cattle slurry similar to those of the IPCC model.



Figure 2. The relationship between slurry organic matter (VS) and water retention at three different water potentials for 9 selected cattle slurries, 9 pig slurries and 4 digested slurries. Water potentials were established with polyethylene glycol, and water was extracted by dialysis (Petersen et al., subm.).

#### Technology - management

Table 5 describes three sets of on-farm conditions for slurry management, for which greenhouse gas emissions were calculated (see also Fig. 1). They include a situation (Reference) with no treatment of animal slurry and organic waste, a system (Biogas I) in which slurry is digested according to the existing biogas technology, and a system (Biogas II) where the fraction of  $CH_4$  collected for energy production is optimized by reducing the storage time prior to digestion, and by using improved biogas technology. It is assumed that the  $CH_4$  produced will substitute natural gas for energy production.

Calculations for these three management systems indicate that digestion of pig manure can reduce greenhouse gas emissions from 1.4 kg CO<sub>2</sub> eq. kg<sup>-1</sup> VS (Reference), to 0.8 kg CO<sub>2</sub> eq. kg<sup>-1</sup> VS if present-day technology (Biogas I) is used, and to 0.4 kg CO<sub>2</sub> eq. kg<sup>-1</sup> VS if a more efficient technology (Biogas II) were adopted. Digestion of cattle manure reduced emissions of greenhouse gases from 1.3 to 1.0 and 0.2 kg CO<sub>2</sub> eq. kg<sup>-1</sup> VS for, respectively, the Biogas I and Biogas II system. Digestion would reduce emissions derived from the organic waste by about 50% with both technologies.

Table 5. Systems for handling of animal manure on livestock farms with slurry-based housing systems. The slurry is either left untreated (reference), co-fermented with organic waste using the existing biogas production technology (Biogas I), or co-fermented with organic waste using an optimized technology (Biogas II).

	Reference	Biogas I	Biogas II		
Cattle slurry stored in house	30 days	30 days	1 day		
Pig slurry stored in house	15 days	15 days	1 day		
Cattle/pig house	20°C during summ	er, 15°C during winter			
Organic waste stores emptied	April				
Organic waste, composition	< 20% VS, organic waste; household waste and sewage sludge not				
	included				
Methane lost via leakages and		3% of methane	1.5% of methane		
from generators		production	production		
Post fermentation gas collection	Until the temperature				
	of the fermented slurry is similar				
		to the temperature o	of the environment		
Slurry store emptied	April, start of growing season				
Temperature of stored slurry	Similar to the monthly average of air temperature				

# **Scenarios for Denmark**

The reduction in total Danish greenhouse gas emissions that may be achieved by anaerobic digestion (Biogas systems I or II) was calculated for the following three scenarios:

- 2000: A scenario where the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions due to the present-day biogas production level is calculated.
- 2012: A scenario where the reduction in greenhouse gas emission due to biogas production in the year 2012 is calculated using the official forecasting from the Danish Energy Agency that the amount of slurry digested will increase seven-fold, and that the amount of organic waste digested will double.
- Long-term: A scenario where the total production of animal slurry and organic waste (excl. household waste and sludge) is digested.

According to these calculations, Biogas I reduced the annual greenhouse gas emissions by 104 kt  $CO_2$  equivalents in the year 2000. A reduction of 404 kt  $CO_2$ equivalents was predicted for 2012, and a reduction of 1.331 kt  $CO_2$  equivalents if all animal slurry and organic wastes available were to be digested using biogas technology I (Fig. 3). The more efficient biogas technology (Biogas II) could reduce the emission of greenhouse gases by 144 kt  $CO_2$  equivalents in the year 2000, by 589 kt  $CO_2$  equivalents in 2012, and by 2.329 kt  $CO_2$  equivalents, if the total production of animal slurry and organic wastes were digested by this optimized technology. The current level of slurry and organic waste digestion in biogas plants reduces total Danish greenhouse gas emissions by 0.15%. However, the potential reduction of greenhouse gases achievable is 3% assuming all animal slurry and organic waste is digested, and even 4% if it is assumed that the energy produced during digestion replaces coal.



Figure 3. Reduction of annual greenhouse gas emissions for Denmark via co-digestion of animal slurry and organic waste, including reductions in  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions and substitution of fossil fuel energy (i.e., natural gas).

# Comparison with IPCC methodology

IPCC calculates the annual emission of  $CH_4$  from manure storages with the following equation (IPCC Reference Manual, 1997; p. 4.26):

$$EF_i = VS_i \times B_{0i} \times 0.67 \times MCF_i$$
, Eq. 4

where index *i* refers to animal category,  $EF_i$  (kg CH<sub>4</sub>) is the daily CH<sub>4</sub> emission rate for category *i*,  $VS_i$  is organic matter excreted (kg),  $B_{0i}$  is the potential CH<sub>4</sub> production rate (m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> VS day<sup>-1</sup>), and  $MCF_i$  is a CH<sub>4</sub> conversion factor. The factor 0.67 converts the amount of CH<sub>4</sub> from Nm<sup>3</sup> to kg. Table 6 gives parameter estimates for Eq. 4.

Table 6 shows that, according to IPCC,  $B_0$  of pig manure is twice as high as that of cattle manure. However, when  $B_{0i}$  values are calculated from the data in Table 1 using Bushwell's equation, the potential CH<sub>4</sub> production rate is almost the same for *VS* excreted from pigs and cattle. This is compensated for in the IPCC methodology by using the same MCF factor for emission from pig and cattle slurry stored under identical storage times. Due to a shorter in-house storage time for pig slurry, the MCF is lower than for cattle slurry (Table 6). The assumption that the MCF for both animal categories is the same is not correct, because the amount of slowly degradable carbohydrates is much higher in cattle slurry than in pig slurry. Therefore, the methane conversion rate (*MCF*) will differ between the two categories. We find that it would be more correct to use the same  $B_{oi}$  for pig and cattle manure and use a smaller MCF value for cattle manure.

		MCF		B <sub>o</sub>
	Methane	conversion	factor	Pot. CH <sub>4</sub> production rate
	Slurry chan- nels	Stores outside	Total	
				$Nm^{3} CH_{4} kg^{-1} VS (g kg^{-1} VS)$
Pigs (15 days)	0.05	0.10	0.15	0.45 (293)
Cattle (30 days)	0.10	0.10	0.20	0.24 (150)

Table 6. IPCC standard values for calculating methane emissions from stored slurry in cold climate zones.

The Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines (IPCC, 1997) propose that 5 to 15% of the methane produced is lost in leaking digesters. Danish data suggest that this loss is well below 5% (Møller, H.B., unpublished), probably more studies are needed to determine correct emission factors for different biogas technologies.

The IPCC model estimates the effect of storage time, and to some extent the procedure accounts for the fact that slurry in cold climates is mainly stored during winter when the cattle is housed, while little slurry is stored during summer grazing. The IPCC model may be improved by specifying the time length and climatic conditions during outside storage, which will depend on the time of transfer. Thus, slurry transferred to the outside store in February will be stored for two months, while slurry transferred in October will be stored for seven months. The IPPC methodology does not present explicit procedures for calculating the reduction in  $CH_4$  emission by anaerobic digestion of manure. However, one may include the effect of digestion on the  $CH_4$  emission during subsequent storage by reducing *VS* in the fermented slurry.

With respect to  $N_2O$  emissions from field-applied manure, the link to  $VS_D$  proposed here is in contrast to the IPCC methodology, which estimates  $N_2O$  emissions from N content alone and thus will not detect any effect of removing degradable C prior to field application. The results of a recent field study suggest that removal of *VS* via anaerobic digestion may reduce  $N_2O$  emissions by 20-40% (Petersen, 1999).

We propose that revised IPCC guidelines should include explicit procedures for calculating the effect of anaerobic digestion, maybe along the lines described in this paper. This would improve the understanding of anaerobic digestion as a greenhouse gas mitigation option.

#### References

- Angelidaki, I., Schmidt, J.E. & Ahring, B.K. (2000) The biogas process. Lecture notes from Anaerobic Biotechnology. Danish Technical University, Copenhagen.
- EEA European Environmental Agency (1999) Overview of National Programmes to Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions. Final version 30 April 1999.
- Hogan, K.B., Hoffman, J.S. & Thompson, A.M. (1991) Methane on the greenhouse agenda. Nature **354**, 181-182.
- Husted, S. (1994) Seasonal variation in methane emission from stored slurry and solid manures. Journal of Environmental Quality 23, 585-592.
- IPCC (1997) Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change/ Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. 1997. OECD/OCDE, Paris.
- Khalil, M.A.K. & Rasmussen, R.A. (1992) The global sources of nitrous oxide. Journal of Geophysical Research **97**, 14651-14660.
- Khan, R Z., Müeller, C. & Sommer, S.G. (1997) Micrometeorological mass balance technique for measuring CH<sub>4</sub> emission from stored cattle slurry. Fertilizer Research **24**, 442-444.
- Petersen, S.O. (1999) Nitrous oxide emissions from manure and inorganic fertilizers applied to spring barley. Journal of Environmental Quality **28**, 1610-1618.
- Petersen S.O., Nielsen T.H., Frostegård, Å. & Olesen, T. (1996) Oxygen uptake, carbon metabolism, and denitrification associated with manure hot-spots. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 28, 341-349.
- Petersen, S.O., Nissen, H.H., Lund, I. & Ambus, P. Importance of organic matter content and injection technique for the distribution of field-applied slurry. Submitted.
- Rotmans, J., den Elzen, M.G.J., Krol, M.S., Swart, R.J. & van der Woerd, H.J. (1992) Stabilizing atmospheric concentrations: Towards international methane control. Ambio 21, 404-413.
- Sommer S.G., Petersen, S.O. & Søgaard, H.T. (2000) Emission of greenhouse gases from stored cattle slurry and slurry fermented at a biogas plant. Journal of Environmental Quality **29**, 744-751.
- Symons, G.E. & Bushwell, A.M. (1933) Journal of American Chemical Society 55, 2028.

# Effects of cultivation practice on carbon storage in arable soils and grassland

#### Pete Smith

Department of Plant & Soil Science, University of Aberdeen, Cruikshank Building, St Machar Drive, Aberdeen, AB24 3UU, U.K e-mail: pete.smith@abdn.ac.uk

# Summary

Recent estimates suggest that the carbon mitigation potential on agricultural land in Europe is considerable. Grazing lands (along with cropland) are explicitly mentioned for consideration under the Kyoto Protocol. The resulting paper includes cropland and grazing land explicitly as potential Kyoto Article 3.4 activities. Studies in the US have examined the impacts of grazing land management on soil carbon storage but in Europe, data is too limited to make regional projections. On-going EU-funded projects may help us to make better estimates in the future. Much more data is available for cropland and, according to recent estimates, some cropland management scenarios show the potential to meet Europe's 8% Kyoto emission reduction target by 2012. The ploughing of grasslands always leads to a substantial loss of soil carbon. Carbon stocks may be increased by conversion from conventional tillage to reduced- or zero-tillage systems. However, when considering zero-tillage, as well as when considering any land management change, the likely effect on other, non-CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gases needs to be considered. Recent studies have shown that as much as one half of the mitigation effect attributable to carbon sequestration under zero tillage can be reversed by an increase in N<sub>3</sub>O emissions.

A key factor in implementing Article 3.4 of the Kyoto protocol will be demonstrating and verifying carbon stock changes or fluxes. Ultimately, the degree to which carbon stock changes can be verified depends upon how stringent the definition of verification adopted by the parties turns out to be. If the parties decide on a stringent definition of verifiability, Article 3.4 is at present, and is likely to remain in the future, unverifiable. If less stringent levels of verifiability are adopted, this might be achieved by most parties by the beginning of the first commitment period.

# Introduction

Recent estimates suggest that the carbon mitigation potential on agricultural land in Europe is considerable (Smith et al., 2000). Grazing lands (along with cropland) are explicitly mentioned for consideration under the Kyoto Protocol following the 6<sup>th</sup> Conference of Parties (COP6) and details were finalised at COP7 in Marrakech. The resulting paper, the Marrakech accord, includes cropland and grazing land explicitly as potential Kyoto Article 3.4 activities. In this short paper, the likely mitigation potential of agricultural land in Europe is reviewed, and issues of verification of carbon stock changes are discussed.

# Carbon mitigation potential on grazing land

A number of studies in the US have allowed the mitigation potential of US grazing lands to be assessed (Follett et al., 2001; Conant et al., 2001). In Europe, however, data is too limited to make regional projections. A number of EU-funded projects, such as GreenGrass, and an EU COST Action (627 – Carbon sequestration in grass-lands) may help us to make better estimates in the future. Gross changes in grassland management (e.g., ploughing) have known effects; under such management practices, soil carbon is invariably lost. It is the subtle management changes (e.g., in live-stock management) for which the impacts on soil carbon in Europe are unknown.

# Carbon mitigation potential on cropland

Recent studies have shown that there is considerable potential for carbon mitigation on European cropland (Smith et al., 1997; 1998; 2000). Figure 1 shows the estimated mitigation effect of 7 cropland management options.



Figure 1. Carbon mitigation potential for 7 cropland management options. See Smith et al. (2000) for further details.

Furthermore, if the land-use is optimised, certain of these management practices can be combined on different areas of land. Figure 2 shows that Europe's 8% emission reduction target can be met by land management change on cropland alone.

Other recent studies include one by Vleeshouwers & Verhagen (2002). In this study, a simple crop-soil model is used to make spatially explicit estimates. The estimates are not constrained by current or likely future practice (e.g., carbon stock changes are calculated assuming that all arable land is converted to grassland), but serve to give alternative estimates of the mitigation potential on arable land.



Figure 2. Carbon mitigation potential of combined changes in agricultural management (Smith et al., 2000). The letter before the first "+" in each scenario indicates the land use employed for 10% surplus arable land; B = Bioenergy crops, W = Woodland and E = Extensification. The letters after the first "+" in each scenario denote the management practice adopted on remaining portions of arable land; NT = No till, S = straw incorporation, and O = addition of organic amendments (animal manure and sewage sludge). See Smith et al. (2000) for further details.



Figure 3. Carbon mitigation potential for 7 European cropland management practices when considering only CO2-carbon effects and when considering also impacts on non-CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gases,  $N_2O$  and  $CH_4$ . See Smith et al. (2001) for further details.

In any case, when considering any land management change, the likely effect on other, non-CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gases needs to be considered. For example, recent studies have shown that as much as one half of the mitigation effect attributable to carbon sequestration under zero tillage can be reversed by an increase in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Smith et al., 2001). Figure 3 shows the carbon mitigation potential when con-

sidering  $CO_2$  impacts alone and when considering also impacts on other, non- $CO_2$  greenhouse gases.

#### Verification of soil carbon changes under Article 3.4. of the Kyoto Protocol

Verification of soil carbon changes has not been given much thought until recently (Smith, 2001). A significant generic problem with the estimation of changes in terrestrial biospheric carbon stocks relates to resolution (the smallest detectable change). Because the rate of change of most biospheric pools is slow, particularly in relation to the size of the pool, resolvable changes in stock are typically not easily obtained for the larger pools.

Many Article 3.4 activities include a soil carbon component. The measurement of changes in soil organic carbon in the mineral horizons provides a good example of the difficulties faced when trying to demonstrate a stock change over a relatively short period. Such change may be difficult to measure in some soils over a 5-year commitment period because, although potentially large in absolute terms, they may be small compared with background levels. It is sometimes possible to measure the rate of change in soil organic carbon stock during a commitment period, but because of high spatial variability many sub-samples may be required to obtain a mean with an acceptable standard error.

In a recent paper, the minimum detectable difference in soil organic carbon was calculated as a function of variance and sample size for soil organic carbon changes after 5 years under a herbaceous bioenergy crop (Garten & Wullschleger, 1999). The authors showed that the smallest difference that could be detected was about 1 tonne of carbon per hectare, and this could only be done using exceedingly large sample sizes. The minimum difference that could be detected with a reasonable sample size and a good statistical power (90% confidence) was 5 tonnes of carbon per hectare. Most agricultural practices will not cause the soil to accumulate this during a 5-year commitment period (Paustian et al., 1997; Smith et al., 2000).

Cost is also a factor in verifiability. In some cases, the cost of demonstrating the change in stocks to the required level of accuracy and precision may exceed the benefits accrued from the increase in stocks. The cost of demonstrating a change in soil organic carbon stock could be decreased by developing locally calibrated models that can use more easily collected data, but there are further verification issues associated with such an approach.

Whether or not Article 3.4 is verifiable depends critically on what the parties decide verifiability is. At its most stringent, verifiability would entail the sampling of each georeferenced piece of land subject to an Article 3.4 activity at the beginning and end of a commitment period, using a sampling regime that gives adequate statistical power. Soil and vegetation samples and records would be archived and the data from each piece of land aggregated to produce a national figure. Separate methods would be required to deliver a second set of independent, verification data. Such an undertaking at the national level would be impractical and prohibitively expensive. At its least stringent, verifiability would entail the reporting of areas under a given practice (without georeferencing) and the use of default values for a carbon stock change for each practice, to infer a change for all areas shown to be under a given practice. Some scientists have argued that even the area claimed to be under a given practice will, for practical purposes, be unverifiable (Nilsson et al. 2000).

Intermediate in the range of stringency of definitions of verifiability is a scheme in which areas under a given practice are georeferenced (from remote sensing or ground survey), changes in carbon are derived from controlled experiments on representative climatic regions and on representative soils (or modelled using a well-evaluated, well-documented, archived model), and intensively studied benchmark sites are available for verification. Many of the proposed schemes for carbon accounting under Article 3.4, such as those by Australia, Canada and the US, fall into the intermediate category.

If the parties decide on a stringent definition of verifiability, Article 3.4 is at present, and is likely to remain in the future, unverifiable. If less stringent levels of verifiability are adopted, a low level of verifiability might be achieved by most parties by the beginning of the first commitment period.

#### Conclusions

The carbon mitigation potential on agricultural land in Europe is considerable, but we need to improve our understanding of the impacts of grazing land management on soil carbon dynamics. We also need to improve our estimates and reduce our uncertainty associated with carbon mitigation options on cropland. Critical to this will be improving our understanding of the factors controlling the flux of non-CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gases from the soil.

In implementing the Kyoto Protocol, we need to improve our methods of measuring soil carbon stock changes and in developing frameworks within which we will measure, monitor, model, report and verify changes in agricultural soil carbon stocks.

#### References

Conant, R.T., Paustian, K. & Elliott, E.T. (2001) Grassland management and conversion into grassland: Effects on soil carbon. Ecological Applications **116**, S127-S135.

Follett, R.K., Kimble, J.M. & Lal, R. (Eds) (2001) The potential of US grazing lands to sequester carbon and mitigate the greenhouse effect. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, 442pp.

- Garten, C.T. & Wullschleger, S.D. (1999) Soil carbon inventories under a bioenergy crop (Switchgrass): measurement limitations. Journal of Environmental Quality **28**, 1359-1365.
- Nilsson, S., Schvidenko, A., Stolbovoi, V., Gluck, M., Jonas, M. & Obersteiner, M. (2000) 'Full carbon account for Russia', International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA) Report IR-00-21 (available at: <u>www.iiasa.ac.at</u>)
- Paustian, K., Andrén, O., Janzen, H.H., Lal, R., Smith, P., Tian, G., Tiessen, H., van Noordwijk, M. & Woomer, P.L. (1997) Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Soil Use and Management **13**, 229-244.
- Smith, P. (2001) Verifying sinks under the Kyoto Protocol. VERTIC Briefing Paper **01/03**. 8pp. (plus insert).
- Smith, P., Powlson, D.S., Glendining, M.J. & Smith, J.U. (1997) Potential for carbon sequestration in European soils: preliminary estimates for five scenarios using results from long-term experiments. Global Change Biology **3**, 67-79.
- Smith, P., Powlson, D.S., Glendining, M.J. & Smith, J.U. (1998) Preliminary estimates of the potential for carbon mitigation in European soils through no-till farming. Global Change Biology 4, 679-685.
- Smith, P., Powlson, D.S., Smith, J.U., Falloon, P.D. & Coleman, K. (2000) Meeting Europe's Climate Change Commitments: Quantitative Estimates of the Potential for Carbon Mitigation by agriculture. Global Change Biology **6**, 525-539.
- Smith, P., Goulding, K.W., Smith, K.A., Powlson, D.S., Smith J.U., Falloon, P.D. & Coleman, K. (2001) Enhancing the carbon sink in European agricultural soils: Including trace gas fluxes in estimates of carbon mitigation potential. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 60, 237-252.
- Vleeshouwers, L.M. & Verhagen, A. (2002) Carbon emission and sequestration by agricultural land use: a model study for Europe. Global Change Biology (in press).

# Carbon balances for arable soils - weak data sets and strong theory

Olof Andrén\* and Thomas Kätterer Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Department of Soil Sciences, PO Box 7014, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden \*e-mail: olle.andren@mv.slu.se

#### Summary

Carbon dioxide in the atmosphere is connected to soil organic carbon. We suggest a method for calculating national soil/atmosphere carbon exchange, which is based on soil carbon pool changes. The level of complexity is slightly above standard IPCC methodol-ogy, but below most modelling exercises. The approach is based on using available theoretical knowledge and spatially low-resolution (regional) data, since crop, crop yield and soil properties are not available for each individual field.

We use the ICBM model for budgeting and for creation of what-if scenarios, e.g., due to changed land use or climate. By changing just a few of the in total five parameters used in this model we can project steady-state carbon pools as well as 30-year dynamics. Examples from Swedish arable land are given.

#### Introduction

The title statement may seem provocative, but we think it contains more than a grain of truth. National carbon balances for agricultural soils are not hard to calculate, provided we have enough datasets of good quality. For every hectare we need present soil carbon mass and quality, crop, yield, annual input mass and quality, soil type and future soil climate (monthly averages will do) – and then we can run a simple soil carbon model for every hectare and project what will happen to soil carbon pools and fluxes. If we do this within a GIS map, we can also produce nice, coloured maps indicating what will (or may) happen all over the country, for example by increasing the proportion of grass leys. Unfortunately, we do not have these high-resolution datasets, and so we will have to make the best of what we have. This short paper concerns what we can do to make soil carbon budgets from theoretical insights, low-resolution data, and with limited resources.

# Theory

Soil carbon pool sizes are the result of differences in inputs and outputs. For simplicity, we assume that carbon input to the soil is constant at a rate of *i* kg year<sup>-1</sup>, and that a certain fraction ( $k_i = 0.01$  year<sup>-1</sup>) of the soil carbon is respired as CO<sub>2</sub>-C each year. Thus 1 tonne of soil C will lose 10 kg C to the atmosphere each year, and 2 tonnes will lose 20 kg, i.e., the fraction but not the amount is constant. Written as a differential equation, the model looks like this:

$$dC/dt = i - k_1 C$$
 Eq. 1

In words: For each infinitesimally small time step (*t*) the change in soil carbon (*C*) is the input (*i*) minus the fraction parameter ( $k_i$ ) times the carbon mass present in the soil (*C*).

At equilibrium (**steady state** of soil carbon mass), dC/dt = 0. The conditions for equilibrium are thus:

$$i=k_1C$$
 Eq. 2

In words: When the input (*i*) is equal to the respiration output  $(k_1C)$  there is no change in the amount of soil carbon, even if the inputs and outputs are large. The amount of *C* present in the soil at steady state thus becomes  $C_{ss} = i/k_1$ . For example, to maintain 1 ton of soil C with  $k_1 = 0.01$  year<sup>-1</sup>, we need an annual input (*i*) of 10 kg C.

When C is large, *i* must be large to maintain C unless  $k_i$  is very small. In other words, if we have increased C, we must maintain a high *i* to maintain the high C mass. If on the other hand we reduce *i* to zero, soil carbon will decrease to zero, but at a decreasing rate. If C is plotted against time, we get the familiar "exponential decay curve" which becomes less and less steep with time. Perhaps less familiar is the fact that if we start at steady state and then double the annual input, the rate of increase will gradually decrease towards a new, twice as high, steady state (Fig. 1). Note that the additional 1000 kg of input (100 x 10) have only increased soil C by 630 kg after 100 years. See Andrén & Kätterer (2001) for further discussion of basic principles.

To make the carbon mass increase linearly, we have to add carbon in a form that is not subject to decomposition, e.g., as charcoal. If we added 10 kg charcoal year<sup>-1</sup>, we would actually have 100 x 10=1000 kg charcoal in the soil after 100 years. Further, after 200 years we would have 2000 kg of charcoal, and a steady state will never be reached.

Organic soil carbon is not homogeneous, and most soil carbon models take this into account by handling a number of pools of varying decomposability. Further, the varying quality of the input has to be managed, and some factor has to be included to account for differences in soil climate, e.g., a dry soil will show lower decomposition rates than a moist soil.



Figure 1. Soil carbon mass dynamics in a hypothetical soil. The initial mass (1000 kg soil *C*) is in balance when i = 10 kg year<sup>-1</sup> and  $k_1C = 0.01$  year<sup>-1</sup> (Eq. 2). The graph shows what will happen if we double this annual input (i = 20 kg year<sup>-1</sup>) and maintain this for 100 years. Note the decreasing rate of increase and that, after 100 years, the new steady-state mass (2000 kg) still is distant.

ICBM, Introductory Carbon Balance Model, was developed as a minimum approach for calculating soil carbon balances in a 30-year perspective (Andrén & Kätterer, 1997). The model is based on well-known concepts (see, e.g., Hénin & Dupuis, 1945), and it has two state variables or pools, "Young" (*Y*) and "Old" (*O*) soil carbon. Two pools were considered a minimum, since the model was intended to handle inputs of different qualities, such as wheat straw vs. farmyard manure, as well as, e.g., ploughing of grassland. ICBM has five parameters: *i*,  $k_{\gamma\gamma}$  *h*,  $k_{\gamma\gamma}$  and  $r_e$ . (Table 1, Fig. 2).

Parameter	Symbol	Typical dimen- sion	Effect on soil C mass of increase
Input	i	kg year <sup>-1</sup>	Positive
Decomp. rate constant for $Y$	$k_{_{Y}}$	year <sup>-1</sup>	Negative
Humification coefficient	h	dimensionless	Positive
Decomp. rate constant for O	$k_o$	year <sup>-1</sup>	Negative
External influence on $k_{\gamma}$ and $k_{o}$	$r_{e}$	dimensionless	Negative

Table 1. The parameters of the ICBM model, their typical dimensions, and the effect on total soil carbon mass of an increase in parameter value. Y and O represent young and old soil carbon, respectively.
$$\frac{|\text{nput (i)}}{|Y_{SS}|} = \frac{i}{k_{Y}r_{e}} \frac{hk_{Y}r_{e}Y}{|V_{SS}|} O_{SS} = h\frac{i}{k_{O}r_{e}}$$

Figure 2. The ICBM model describing soil carbon balances. i = (annual) input, Y = young soil carbon, O = old soil carbon,  $k_v =$  fraction of Y that decomposes (per year),  $k_o =$  fraction of O that decomposes (per year), h = humification coefficient,  $r_e =$  external influence coefficient. The index "SS" denotes the equation for calculating the steady-state value for that pool (Andrén & Kätterer, 2001).

The "humification coefficient" (*h*) controls the fraction of *Y* that enters *O*, and (1-*h*) then represents the fraction of the outflow from *Y* that immediately becomes  $CO_2$ –C. The parameter  $r_e$  summarizes all external influence on the decomposition rates of *Y* and *O*.

The model is analytically solved, i.e., simulation techniques are not necessary, model properties can be mathematically analysed, and the model can be run and optimised in an ordinary spreadsheet program (Excel etc.). There are also, in analogy with the one-compartment model above, equations for steady-state conditions, i.e., when the pools are constant and the inputs and outputs balance out. The steady-state equation for *Y* is:

$$Y_{ss} = i/k_{\gamma}r_{e}$$
 Eq. 3

The corresponding equation for O (when Y is at steady-state) is:

$$O_{ss} = ih/k_o r_e$$
 Eq. 4

### Application

The crucial question is, of course, how we can use this fairly solid theoretical insight to produce soil carbon budgets for arable land at a national level, including "what if"-projections of, e.g., climate and land use change. We think the best way to approach the problem is to investigate which information is available, and how much more information can be gained with the resources available. In the following, we will use Swedish arable land as an example, but the approach can be used anywhere. Annual agricultural statistics (crops, yields etc.) are available for Sweden (e.g, Anonymous, 1994). The statistics are grouped into eight regions, for example, "South Swedish Plains". For a dynamic carbon budget, we need the following information:

- A) Crops and yields to estimate carbon inputs to the soil, but also as a factor in soil climate, since grass for hay production will create drier soil conditions than annual crops.
- B) Soil types and present day carbon levels are also needed, and a recent investigation provided information that can be aggregated into the eight regions (Eriksson et al., 1997). As can be seen in the theoretical part above, the initial mass of carbon is crucial for the balance (see also Kätterer & Andrén, 1999), and the soil type will affect both soil climate and humification quotients.
- C) Climate, i.e., weather station data which are readily available and can be aggregated into the eight regions. The main problem here is how to go from rainfall and air temperature data to soil climate, but fairly standardized methods are available (Allen et al., 1998).

For each of the eight regions we can calculate:

- 1) The area of each soil type in the region.
- 2) The proportion of different crops and their average yields in the region.
- 3) The average climate for the region.

Soil types will have to be lumped into, e.g., three categories for each region: Sandy, clayey and organic. We cannot calculate inputs from every conceivable crop in every region, since we do not know how much each crop contributes to carbon input and soil climate. Lumping the crops into three categories may be a good strategy, e.g., grass ley, cereals and sugar beet. These three categories will be fairly different in C input, residue quality and soil climate influence. From the average climate for the region we can calculate a factor that, together with the soil type and crop, will give us the soil climate for a given soil type and crop for a given region.

If we use this approach, we will have 8 regions x 3 soil types x 3 crop types = 72 different descriptions, which together add up to the total Swedish arable land. The ICBM model can easily be run with 72 different parameter sets in a single Excel spreadsheet. When the present situation is satisfactorily described, it is quite easy to project the effects on carbon pools and CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes of, e.g., climate change, increased grass ley areas etc.

One relevant question is where to get the parameter values, e.g., how much we should change  $r_e$  between grass ley and annual crops. The soil-pool-oriented approach has the advantage that there are numerous experimental results available, both from long-term field experiments and more specialized laboratory and small plot experiments. Particularly the long-term field experiments give integrated results for time periods relevant for projections (10 –50 years), and it is reasonably easy to estimate parameter values from well-designed experiments (see for example Andrén & Kätterer, 1997). In contrast, the now so fashionable total ecosystem flux measurements (eddy covariance towers) suffer from serious problems in calculating annual fluxes from instantaneous, highly variable flux measurements.

Currently, we have made preliminary ICBM projections using a somewhat simpler 27-parameter set spreadsheet, and some of the results are (Andrén & Kätterer, 1999, 2001):

Total carbon mass in Swedish arable topsoil (0-25 cm depth) is slightly below 300 Mt.

The mineral soils are close to steady state, but the organic soils lose about 1 Mt year<sup>-1</sup>.

If we ploughed all arable land in Sweden and kept it vegetation-free for one year, we would lose more than 10 Mt during that year, which is more than half the Swedish C emission from fossil fuel combustion.

## Acknowledgements

This work contributes to the GCTE Core Research Programme, Category 1, which is a part of the IGBP. Financial support was received from the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency.

The ICBM model may be downloaded from www.mv.slu.se/vaxtnaring/olle/ICBM.html

## References

- Allen, R.G., Pereira, L.S., Raes, D. & Smith, M. (1998) Crop Evapotranspiration Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper 56, Rome, Italy, 300 pp.
- Andrén, O. & Kätterer, T. (1997) ICBM the Introductory Carbon Balance Model for exploration of soil carbon balances. Ecol. Appl. 7, 1226-1236.
- Andrén, O. & Kätterer, T. (1999) Kolbalanser i jordbruksmark. Naturvårdsverket Temafakta. Naturvårdsverkets förlag, Stockholm, 8 pp.

- Andrén, O. & Kätterer, T. (2001) Basic Principles for Soil Carbon Sequestration and Calculating Dynamic Country-level Balances Including Future Scenarios. In: "Assessment Methods for Soil Carbon". Edited by R. Lal, J.M. Kimble, R.F. Follett, and B.A. Stewart, Lewis Publishers.
- Anonymous (1994) Jordbruksstatistisk årsbok. Statistiska Centralbyrån. Bulls Tryckeriaktiebolag, Halmstad.
- Eriksson, J., Andersson, A. & Andersson, R. (1997) Tillståndet i svensk åkermark. NV Rapport **4778**, Stockholm
- Hénin, S. & Dupuis, M. (1945) Essai de bilan de la matière organique du sol. Annales Agronomiques **15**, 17-29.
- Kätterer, T., & Andrén, O. (1999) Long-term agricultural field experiments in Northern Europe: Analysis of the influence of management on soil carbon stocks using the ICBM model. Agric., Ecosys. Environ. 72, 165-179. Erratum: 75, 145-146.

# Changes in soil C and N content in different cropping systems and soil types

Tove Heidmann<sup>1\*</sup>, Bent T. Christensen<sup>2</sup> and Svend E. Olesen<sup>1</sup> Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, <sup>1</sup>Department of Agricultural Systems and <sup>2</sup>Department of Crop Physiology and Soil Science<sup>2</sup>, Research Centre Foulum, P.O. Box 50, DK-8830 Tjele, Denmark <sup>\*</sup>e-mail: Tove.Heidmann@agrsci.dk

## Summary

Changes in the amount of C and N in cultivated Danish soils were examined using soil samples collected from 336 grid points in the nation-wide Square Grid System (7 × 7 km) in 1986-87 and again in 1997-98. Samples were taken from 0-25 cm and 25-50 cm soil depth. Information on soil types, and on soil use and management, at the farm level was available from a database at the Danish Agricultural Advisory Centre. Soils included in this study were in arable use and were mainly mineral soils.

The average C concentration for each soil type ranged from 1.5 to 2.3% at 0-25 cm soil depth and from 0.9 to 1.6% at 25-50 cm depth. The average N content ranged from 0.107 to 0.161% at 0-25 cm depth and from 0.084 to 0.106% at 25-50 cm depth. Over the 10-12 years, the C and N content at 0-25 cm depth decreased on loamy soils and increased on the coarse sandy soils. Similar changes were observed at 25-50 cm, but changes were more significant at this depth interval. Annual changes in C stocks at 0-50 cm depth ranged from –1.3 to +2.1 t C ha<sup>-1</sup>, and in N stocks from –115 to +118 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. In the dataset, the effects of soil type and soil management on the development in soil C storage appeared to be confounded. Implications for C sequestration potentials in soil are discussed and supplemented with results from long-term experiments. We conclude that national inventories of C stocks in arable soils and their role as sinks or sources for atmospheric CO2 carry less weight when based only on measurements in the tilled plough-layer.

## Introduction

The soil organic matter content depends on farm management, but also on climate, geology, vegetation, drainage and topography. Short-term fluctuations in soil organic matter depend in particular on crop rotation, fertilisation, crop residue incorporation and manure application. The long-term changes in soil C and N resulting from sustained changes in management have mainly been deducted from long-term field experiments and plots representing only a few soil types (Christensen & Johnston, 1997). The advantage of these experiments is that management is well controlled and data are of high quality. Measurements of longterm changes in C and N contents in soils under normal agricultural practice are rare, but results from experimental field/plot studies can often not be directly transferred to practical agricultural conditions and other soil types, and they should thus be supplemented with farm studies. In this study, we examined the influence of farm management on soil organic matter levels over a 10-12 year period (Heidmann et al., 2001). Furthermore, the impact of soil type on organic matter levels was investigated. The study was based on a comprehensive data set from the  $7 \times 7$  km Square Grid covering Denmark (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. The Danish National Square Grid System.

# **Materials and Methods**

Changes in the amount of organic matter of cultivated soils over a 10-12 year period were examined using soil samples from the nation-wide Square Grid System (Østergaard, 1989). For several years, the Square Grid has been used by the Danish Agricultural Advisory Centre to establish nitrogen fertiliser recommendations for Denmark. The grid includes 830 grid intersection points covering different soil types and cropping systems. Soil was sampled at two depth intervals (0-25 cm and 25-50 cm) when the grid was established in 1986-87, and again in 336 grid intersection points in 1997-98. The selected grid points represented normal agricultural practice. The dried samples were analysed for C using dry combustion in pure oxygen and estimation of  $CO_2$  with IR-detection (Plantedirektoratet, 1994). The N content was estimated using a Dumas method (LECO FP-228 N-determinator) based on thermal conductivity measurements of elementary N (Hansen, 1989).

Information on soil use and management (crop rotations, fertilisation etc.) during the period was available from questionnaires returned by farmers. These data were stored in a database at the Danish Agricultural Advisory Centre.

The soil samples from the grid intersection points were divided into five 'fertilisation types' defined by the manure application practice during the 10-12 year period, i.e., ('Mineral', 'Cattle', 'Pig', 'Mixed' and 'Other'). The fertilisation type was defined as 'Mineral' when manure was not applied. The other types were defined when at least 90 % of the dry matter content in the manure came from cattle, pig or mixed pig/cattle. The category 'Other' included mainly manure from poultry and fur production.

The soil types were defined on the basis of the texture in the surface horizon and then classified with a JB number according to the Danish Classification System (Table 1). The System includes 12 soil types, but most grid points were located on JB1-7 soils. The distribution of grid points according to fertilisation regime and soil type is shown in Table 2. Only a few (13) points were located on JB5, whereas most points were found on JB4 (80) and JB6 (94).

Soil type	JB No.	Percentage	Percentage by weight					
		Clay	Silt	Fine sand	Total sand	Humus	CaCO <sub>3</sub>	
		> 2 µm	2-20 μm	20-200 μm	20-2000 µ	58.7 % C		
Coarse sand	1	0-5	0-20	0-50	75-100	≤10	≤10	
Fine sand	2			50-100				
Loamy sand	3	5-10	0-25	0-40	65-95	≤ 10	≤10	
	4			40-95				
Sandy loam	5	10-15	0-30	0-40	55-90	≤10	≤10	
	6			40-90	1			
Loam	7	15-25	0-35		40-85	≤10	≤10	

Table 1. Definition of soil types for soil mapping in Denmark (Danish Soil Classification System). The system includes 12 JB No., but only JB 1-7 are shown.

Each fertilisation type included about 60-80 grid points. The exception was the group 'Other', which included only 38 points. The fertilisation types were unevenly distributed across soil types. 'Mineral' grid points were predominantly located on loamy soils (72 %), and 'Cattle' grid points on sandy soils (74 %).

	Fertilisation type						
—	Mineral	Cattle	Pig	Mixed	Other	All	
JB No.			Numbe	r			
1	5	21	6	13	4	49	
2	0	10	5	9	4	28	
3	1	7	6	5	1	20	
4	13	22	19	15	11	80	
5	2	2	4	2	3	13	
6	34	14	24	13	9	94	
7	14	5	15	4	6	45	
All	69	81	79	61	38	329	
% on sand	28	74	46	69	53	54	
% on loam	72	26	54	31	47	46	

Table 2. The distribution of grid intersection points between different fertilisation and soil types. The sandy soils include JB1-4 and loamy soils JB5-6.

Table 3. Explanatory variables included in the regression analysis.

Clay + silt (%) Fine sand (%) Coarse sand (%) Field capacity (mm) Wilting capacity (mm) Years with grass crops during the period Years with straw incorporation during the period Years with catch crops during the period Years with leys during the period Number of times with manure application during the period Total dry matter in manure applied during the period (t/ha) Total amount of C in manure applied during the period (t/ha) Total amount of N in manure applied during the period (kg/ha) Total amount of manure (fresh weight) during the period (t/ha) Total amount of N in fertiliser applied during the period (kg/ha) Total amount of P in fertiliser applied during the period (kg /ha) Total amount of K in fertiliser applied during the period (kg/ha) Soil temperature below grass (average over 12 months, 1961-88) (°C) Soil temperature below bare soil (average over 12 month, 1961-88) (°C) Precipitation (average annual sums, 1961-88) (mm)

Changes in C and N were defined as the difference between C and N contents in 1997-98 and 1986-87. The change in the amount of C and N (t ha-1) at 0-50 cm depth was calculated from changes in element concentrations (%) at the two depth intervals, and from average bulk densities defined for each JB number. The average bulk densities were calculated using data from a soil database (Larsen & Sørensen, 1996). Statistical analysis of changes in C and N was performed for both layers, but including only soil samples from JB1-7. The changes were related to fertilisation type and soil type (JB number) in a two-sided variance analysis. In addition, regression analysis including several management variables (Table 3) were performed.

## Results

On average, the soil C content increased significantly at 25-50 cm soil depth over the 10-12 years, and decreased insignificantly in the top soil (0-25 cm) (Table 4). In contrast, the soil N content decreased significantly in the topsoil (-0.004 %), but was almost unchanged in the deeper layer. When changes in the amounts of C and N were calculated for 0-50 cm of the soil profile, there was no significant overall change in soil C and N content over the 10-12 year period.

Table 4. Changes in soil C and N content, average for all grid points.

Unit	C change	N change
%	-0.03	-0.004*
%	+0.10*	+0.001
t ha <sup>-1</sup>	2.0	-0.02
kg ha <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup>	179	-2
	% t ha <sup>-1</sup>	%         +0.10*           t ha <sup>-1</sup> 2.0           kg ha <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> 179

\* Significant difference at P = 0.05.

Within each soil type, the average C concentration ranged from 1.5 to 2.3% at 0-25 cm depth, and from 0.9 to 1.6% at 25-50 cm depth (Table 5). The average N content ranged from 0.107 to 0.161% at 0-25 cm depth, and from 0.084 to 0.106% at 25-50 cm depth. Over the 10-12 years, the C and N content tended to increase on sandy soils (JB1-4) and decrease on loamy soils (JB5-7) (Fig. 2). The changes were larger in the 25-50 cm depth interval than in the top soil layer (Table 5).

Table 5. Changes in soil C and N content (%) in two depth intervals during the 10-12 year period.

	Soil depth				Soil typ	e		
	(cm)	JB1	JB2	JB3	JB4	JB5	JB6	JB7
Carbon	0-25	0.13*	-0.07	0.11	-0.00	-0.12	-0.09*	-0.13*
	25-50	0.36*	0.36*	0.25*	0.18*	-0.10	-0.08	-0.18*
Nitrogen	0-25	0.013*	-0.004	0.005	-0.003	-0.001	-0.010*	-0.014*
	25-50	0.017*	0.023*	0.011	0.007	-0.006	-0.010*	-0.024*

\* Significant difference at P = 0.05.



Figure 2. Change in C content (0-50 cm) in mineral soils from 1986/87 to 1997/98 depending on soil type, indicated by JB no.'s.

The fertilisation type had a significant effect on changes in the N content of the top soil. Significant decreases in N of –0.013 and –0.008% were found for the fertilisation types 'Mineral' and 'Pig', respectively. When the results were converted to N stocks based on measurements at 0-25 cm depth, a significant increase of 34 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> was found for the fertilisation type 'Cattle', and a decrease of 31 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> for the fertilisation type 'Mineral' (Fig. 3). When 25-50 cm soil depth also was included in the calculation of N stocks, no significant changes were observed. The effects of fertilisation type on changes in the average C content were large but not significant (Fig. 4). However, the variability in results was also very large. The average annual change (0-50 cm) in soil C storage ranged from –378 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> ('Pig') to +897 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> ('Cattle').



Figure 3. Changes in N content in the 0-25 cm and 0-50 cm of soil samples from 1986/87 to 1997/98 depending on fertilisation type. See text for explanation of fertilisation types.



Figure 4. Change in C content (0-50 cm) in soil samples from 1986/87 to 1997/98 depending on fertilisation type (see text for explanation of fertilisation type).

The regression analysis showed that farm management was important for the storage of soil carbon. The management factors: number of years with grass crops on the field, number of manure applications, and amount of mineral fertiliser applied during the 10-12 years had significant positive impacts on the content of organic matter in the soil. The initial value of organic matter was also important for the subsequent development in soil organic matter, indicating that the potential to store organic matter in soils will depend on the starting point. The storage potential increased with decreasing initial values for all soil types. Besides, C and N content was inversely related to the normal temperature below grass.

### Discussion

Changes in soil C and N pools occur slowly, and it cannot be expected that the full effect of the different management regimes can be verified during a 10-12 year period. The management factors: amount of mineral fertiliser, number of manure applications, and number of years with grass had positive effects on storage of C and N in the soil. The soil N content increased significant for grid points receiving cattle manure and decreased for points receiving mineral fertiliser or pig manure. The same trends were found for the soil C content, although the changes were not significant. It seems that manure from pigs (mainly slurry) was not as efficient as cattle manure in increasing soil C storage. Christensen (1990) found an average decrease over 30 years of 23-33 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> at 0-20 cm soil depth for different crop rotations. This corresponds to the decreases calculated for the fertilisation types 'Pig' and 'Mixed' observed in the present study. Including the 25-50 cm layer produced larger changes, except for the fertilisation type 'Mixed'.

Vitosh et al. (1997) found that the C content was 0.46% C higher in soils receiving cattle manure for 20 years compared with soils receiving mineral fertiliser. In our study, the difference between the fertilisation types 'Cattle' and 'Mineral' was 0.17% C at 0-25 cm depth over the 10-12 year period. Voroney & Angers (1995) found an annual C storage at 0-20 cm depth of 600 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> after 10 years with 30 t cattle manure ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, and an annual decrease of 402 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> when only 10 t ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> was applied. In our study, the average supply of cattle manure to the fertilisation type 'Cattle' was about 22 t ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, resulting in an annual increase (0-50 cm) of 897 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup>. Christensen (1990) found decreases (0-20 cm) of 269-362 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> in plots receiving mineral fertiliser during a 30 year period, while a decrease of 166 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> was observed in our study. The average fertiliser rate was, however, higher in the Square Grid points.

There was a clear tendency for C and N to increase on sandy soils, and to decrease on loamy soils. The potential for organic matter storage was expected to be larger on loamy than on sandy soils (Johnston, 1986). However, in the present study it was not possible to separate the effect of soil texture from the effect of agricultural practice. The 'Cattle' points were predominantly represented on sandy soils (72% on JB1-4), and the 'Mineral' points predominantly on loamy soils (72% on JB5-7). Several management factors with an expected positive effect on the C and N storage were therefore more frequent on sandy than on loamy soils (Fig. 5), i.e., number of years with grass, leys, and catch crops during the period. An exception was the number of times with straw incorporation, where the negative effect probably resulted from a negative correlation with the frequency of grass crops.



Figure 5. Distribution of selected management variables on sandy (JB1-4) and loamy soils (JB5-7).

Most often only the topsoil is studied, when effects of farm management on C and N stocks are considered (Christensen, 1990; Voroney & Angers, 1995). This

study showed that changes at 25-50 cm depth could be significant (Fig. 3 and Table 5). This observation confirms that it is important to include deeper soil layers when estimating changes in soil C and N in response to management.

## Conclusions

The effects of soil type and farm management on soil organic matter are not easily separated in farm level studies. Referring also to studies with controlled experimental conditions it can be concluded, however, that management has an effect on soil organic matter storage, and that this effect depends on soil type. It appears that in Danish agriculture, storage of soil organic matter will mainly occur on sandy soils dominated by dairy and cattle farms with abundant manure input and frequent grass crops. In contrast, organic matter appears to be lost on loamy soils dominated by intensive cereal production and pig farming. It was confirmed that deeper soil layers need to be included in calculations of C and N balances. We conclude that national inventories of carbon stocks in arable soils and their role as sinks or sources to atmospheric  $CO_2$  carry less weight when based only on measurements in the tilled plough layer.

## References

Christensen, B.T. (1990) Effect of cropping system on the soil organic matter content. I. Small-plot experiments with incorporation of straw and animal manure 1956-86. Tidsskrift for Planteavl **94** (in Danish with English summary), 161-170.

Christensen, B.T. & Johnston, A.E. (1997) Soil organic matter and soil quality – lessons learned from long term field experiments at Askov and Rothamsted. In Soil Quality for Crop Production and Ecosystem Health (Eds G. Gregorich & M.R. Carter), pp. 399-430. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

Hansen, B. (1989) Determination of nitrogen as elementary N and alternative to Kjeldahl. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica **39**, 113-118.

Heidmann, T., Nielsen, J., Olesen, S.E., Christensen, B.T. & Østergaard, H.S. (2001)
Changes in content of carbon and nitrogen in cultivated soils: Results from the Square
Grid 1987-1998. DJF rapport 54 (in Danish with English summary).

- Johnston, A.E. (1986) Soil organic matter, effects on soils and crops. Soil Use and Management 2, 97-105.
- Larsen, P. & Sørensen, M.B. (1996) Geographic data at the Department of Land Use. SP rapport **6** (in Danish).
- Plantedirektoratet (1994) Fælles arbejdsmetoder for jordbundsanalyser, Plantedirektoratet, København.
- Vitosh, M.L., Lucas, R.E. & Silva, G.H. (1977) Long term effects of fertilizer and manure on corn yield, soil carbon and other chemical soil properties in Michigan. In Soil Organic Matter in Temperate Agroecosystems. Long-term Experiments in North America (Eds. E.A. Paul, K. Paustian, E.T. Elliot & V.C. Cole), pp. 129-139. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.

- Voroney, R.P. & Angers, D.A. (1995) Analysis of the short-term effects of management on soil organic matter using the CENTURY model. In Soil Management and Greenhouse Effect. (Ed. R. Lal, J. Komble, E. Levine & B.A. Stewart), pp. 113-120. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Østergaard, H.S. (1989) Analytical methods for optimization of nitrogen fertilization in agriculture. In Management Systems to Reduce Impact of Nitrates (Ed. J.C. Germon), pp. 224-234. Elsevier, London.

## Energy crops as a strategy for reducing greenhouse gas emissions

#### J.E. Olesen

Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, P.O. Box 50, DK-8830 Tjele, Denmark e-mail: JorgenE.Olesen@agrsci.dk

#### Summary

The current Danish energy plan stipulates a production of 5 PJ from energy crops in 2010. This may be attained through growing of either annual (e.g., cereals) or perennial energy crops (e.g., willow or Miscanthus).

Existing Danish data and the IPCC methodology was used to calculate nitrous oxide emissions from and carbon sequestration in soils cropped with an annual energy crop (triticale) or a perennial energy crop (Miscanthus). The calculations for Miscanthus were performed separately for harvest in November or April, since the harvest time affects both yields and emissions. The estimates for Miscanthus were based on a 20-year duration of the cultivation period. The energy use for growing the crops was included in the energy budgets, as was the reduction in CO<sub>2</sub> emission that will result from substitution of fossil fuel (natural gas). The calculations were performed for both a coarse sandy soil and a loamy sand. The results were compared with current (reference) practice for growing cereals. There were only minor differences in production data and emissions between the two soil types.

The area required to produce 5 PJ was smallest for Miscanthus harvested in November (c. 25,000 ha), and about equal for triticale and Miscanthus harvested in April (c. 32,000 ha). The reduction in nitrous oxide emissions compared with cereal production was smallest for triticale (20 kt  $CO_2$  equivalents [eq] yr<sup>1</sup>) and about equal for Miscanthus at the two harvest times (30-36 kt  $CO_2$  eq yr<sup>1</sup>). Growing Miscanthus resulted in a carbon sequestration, with the highest rates (100 kt  $CO_2$  eq yr<sup>1</sup>) for Miscanthus harvested in April. The energy use for production of triticale was slightly lower than for normal cereal growing, whereas growing Miscanthus for harvest in April resulted in a smaller energy use which corresponded to an emission reduction of 20 kt  $CO_2$  yr<sup>1</sup>. The substitution of fossil fuel corresponded to 285 kt  $CO_2$  yr<sup>1</sup>. Summing all items, growing 5 PJ worth of Miscanthus harvested in April resulted in an emission reduction of 355 kt  $CO_2$  eq yr<sup>1</sup>, and growing triticale gave a reduction of 265 kt  $CO_2$  eq yr<sup>1</sup>. Hence, taking nitrous oxide emissions, C sequestration and energy use into account slightly reduced the value of triticale, but significantly increased the value of Miscanthus as a  $CO_2$  mitigation option.

## Introduction

The emission of greenhouse gases from agriculture constitutes about 22% of the total anthropogenic emissions in Denmark (Olesen et al., 2001b). The efforts in Denmark to reduce nitrogen losses from agriculture to the environment have and will also in the future contribute to reduce emissions of nitrous oxide, in particular by reducing the amount of nitrogen that is cycled in the system. Agriculture has in a number of areas possibilities for further reducing the total Danish emissions of greenhouse gases. This may work by reducing direct emissions of the gases, in-

cluding reductions in energy use and reduced emissions of methane and nitrous oxide (Smith et al., 2000). It may also work through the adoption of alternative farming systems that offer possibilities for substituting fossil fuel use and for carbon sequestration in the soil (Olesen et al., 2001a).

Agricultural production of biomass for energy will result in substitution of fossil fuels in addition to the substitution that already occurs from combustion of the existing surplus of straw. In the most recent Danish energy plan, Energy 21, energy crops are assumed to contribute to the energy supply from the year 2005, increasing to 45 PJ yr<sup>-1</sup> in 2030. The existing estimates do not account for the effect of growing energy crops on nitrous oxide emissions or on carbon sequestration in the soil. Also, the fact that different energy crops imply different levels of energy use during production is not accounted for. This study has attempted to quantify effects of energy crop production.

## Methods

Growing of annual or perennial energy crops was, for two soil types, compared with ordinary cereal cropping. The soils were a coarse sandy soil and a loamy sand. The reference cereal was assumed to be spring barley on the sandy soil and winter wheat on the loamy sand. Triticale was selected as the annual energy crop and Miscanthus as the perennial energy crop. For Miscanthus, two different harvest times (November and April) were included in the analysis. With reference to the energy plan, Energy 21, it was assumed that the energy crops should contribute 5 PJ by year 2010.

### Crop production data

For the ordinary cereal production systems it was assumed that half of the straw was removed for agricultural uses, e.g. bedding material. Spring barley was grown with a catch crop of ryegrass every year. Nitrogen fertilisation was based on mineral fertilisers. On the coarse sandy soil, irrigation was applied to both the spring barley and to the annual energy crop, but not to the perennial energy crop. The irrigation was set to 75 mm for spring barley and 105 mm for triticale (Landbrugets Rådgivningscenter, 1990). No irrigation was applied on the loamy sand soil.

The basic data of crop production and nitrogen use and losses are shown in Tables 1 and 2. Grain yields and N application for cereals were based on norms for the particular soils (Plantedirektoratet, 2000). However, yields and N application in triticale were reduced by 10% to account for the lower input level in bioenergy production (Nielsen, 1999). The straw yields in barley and wheat were set to 55 and 65% of the grain yields, respectively (Landbrugets Rådgivningscenter, 1999). The grain yield was set to 45% of total above-ground biomass (Olesen et al., 2000). The biomass in roots was set at 27% of above-ground biomass. The ryegrass catch crop grown with the spring barley was assumed to have contributed an additional 1 t DM ha<sup>-1</sup>. Data on N contents in grain as straw were taken from Møller et al. (2000).

Miscanthus is a perennial crop with a slow growth during the establishment phase (1-3 years). Different values of crop production and of inputs were therefore used for each of the first three years, followed by a fixed value for the following years. A total production period of 20 years was used, and Tables 1 and 2 show the production and nitrogen data weighted for this 20-year production period. The data were based on experiments at two sites in Denmark, i.e., Jyndevad (coarse sand) and Foulum (sandy loam) (Jørgensen, 1997; Kristensen, 1998; Jørgensen & Kjeldsen, 2000; Jørgensen & Mortensen, 2000). There was a higher production on the coarse sandy soil, primarily caused by warmer conditions at this site.

Soil	Crop	Total	Harvested	Returned
Coarse sand	Spring barley	12.7	5.8	8.0
	Triticale (biomass)	13.8	9.3	4.6
	Miscanthus (November)	20.9	15.3	5.6
	Miscanthus (April)	20.9	10.8	10.1
Loamy sand	Winter wheat	16.8	7.9	8.9
	Triticale (biomass)	13.8	9.3	4.6
	Miscanthus (November)	16.8	12.2	4.6
	Miscanthus (April)	16.8	7.3	9.5

Table 1. Annual biomass production (t DM ha<sup>-1</sup>). The total biomass includes both aboveand below-ground biomass. The Miscanthus data are averaged over a 20-year production period.

Table 2. Data on annual nitrogen inputs and losses (kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> ). The Mischanthus data are
averaged over a 20-year production period.

Soil	Crop	Fertiliser	Returned in	Ammonia	Nitrate
			crop residues	volatilisation	leaching
Coarse sand	Spring barley	136	79	8	69
	Triticale (biomass)	118	24	6	63
	Miscanthus (November)	81	38	5	18
	Miscanthus (April)	56	74	4	18
Loamy sand	Winter wheat	166	48	8	62
	Triticale (biomass)	106	24	6	44
	Miscanthus (November)	81	39	5	14
	Miscanthus (April)	56	86	4	14

Nitrate leaching from the cereal crops was estimated using an empirical model (Simmelsgaard, 1998). Ammonia volatilisation was estimated as 2% of the fertiliser nitrogen input plus an additional volatilisation from the crops (Andersen et al., 1999).

## Energy consumption in the production

The energy consumption for the cereal crops was calculated separately for each soil type using the ØKOBÆR model (Dalgaard et al., 2001). This model was also used for Miscanthus, but the management was set to vary over the 20 year growing period, and no separation was made between the two soil types. The energy used for transportation of biomass to the power plant was estimated assuming an average transport distance of 50 km (Nielsen & Mortensen, 2000). The energy use was converted to  $CO_2$  emissions using the following emission factors (Dalgaard et al., 2000): diesel, 74.0 kg  $CO_2$  GJ<sup>-1</sup>; electricity and machinery, 95.0 kg  $CO_2$  GJ<sup>-1</sup>; and fertiliser, 56.9 kg  $CO_2$  GJ<sup>-1</sup>.

## Fossil fuel substitution

Estimates of energy content in the biomass were based on the combustion value, which accounts for contents of ashes and water in the biomass (Videncenter for Halm- og Flisfyring, 1993, 2000). The energy content of triticale (15% water) was 16.8 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> DM. The energy content of Miscanthus harvested in November (55% water) was 14.9 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> DM, and the energy content of Miscanthus harvested in April (15% water) was 17.5 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> DM.

It was assumed that energy crops will substitute natural gas in the energy supply (Audsley, 1997). An emission factor of 56.9 kg  $CO_2$  GJ<sup>-1</sup> was used for natural gas. It was assumed that the conversion efficiency of energy in biomass was the same as for natural gas, but in reality the efficiency will often be lower for biomass.

## Carbon sequestration in soils

The carbon turnover model described below was used to estimate changes in soil carbon storage. A fixed initial content of 70 t C ha<sup>-1</sup> in the top 30 cm was used, which corresponds to the average soil carbon content measured on Danish arable farms (Heidmann et al., 2000). However, the effect of crop type on carbon stock changes were independent of initial C content in the soil. The development in soil carbon content (incl. roots and rhizomes) was calculated over a 20-year period by numerical integration of Eq. 4 and 5 (see below). The carbon sequestration was then estimated as the average annual increase over the 20 years.

The carbon turnover in soils was described by a first-order differential equation:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}C}{\mathrm{d}t} = hA - kC \qquad \qquad \text{Eq. 1}$$

where *C* is the soil content of organic carbon (t C ha<sup>-1</sup>), *t* is time (years), *k* is the turnover rate (yr<sup>-1</sup>), *h* is the humification coefficient, and *A* is the added organic carbon (t C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>).

The development of soil carbon content without addition of organic matter was described by:

$$C_t = C_0 \exp(-kt)$$
 Eq. 2

where  $C_t$  is the carbon content at time  $t_t$  and  $C_0$  er is soil carbon content at time 0.

The turnover rate k was estimated at 0.0136 using data for development in carbon content in the bare soil plots of the Askov long-term experiments (Christensen, 1990). The estimation was performed using Eq. 2 and the procedure NLIN of SAS (SAS Institute, 1988).

This estimate of turnover rate represented a system with annual soil cultivation. Balesdent et al. (1990) found that mineralisation in undisturbed soil was only 47% of the mineralisation in normally tilled soils. Smith et al. (1998) found for a range of North European experiments with minimum tillage that avoiding soil tillage caused an annual increase in soil C content of 0.73% of the total carbon content. These results imply that growing perennial energy crops without annual soil tillage will reduce the carbon turnover rate by 50% to k = 0.0068.

The humification coefficient was calculated using experiments with different rates of straw application. These included three experiments from Denmark continuing for between 9 and 23 years (Thomsen, 1995; Christensen & Olesen, 1998), and one experiment from Sweden carried out over 35 years (Kirchmann et al., 1994). The difference in soil carbon content at 0-25 cm depth between plots with and without straw application ( $\Delta C_i$ ) at time *t* was modelled as:

$$\Delta C_{t} = \sum_{i=1}^{t} (hA + \Delta C_{i-1}) \exp(-k)$$
 Eq. 3

The application of carbon in straw was estimated assuming a dry matter content in straw of 85% and a carbon content in dry matter of 45%. For the Danish experiments the humification coefficient was estimated at 0.27, and for the Swed-ish experiment at 0.23 using Eq. 3 and the procedure NLIN in SAS. An average humification coefficient of h = 0.25 was used in the model estimations.

Crop production will not only lead to carbon additions from straw and other above-ground crop residues, but also from below-ground residues. The amount of below-ground crop residues was estimated using data for the difference in carbon content in experimental treatments with removal of all above-ground crop residues and an experimental treatment with bare soil in a Swedish experiment running for 35 years (Kirchmann et al., 1994). The experimental treatment with removal of crop residues was part of a cereal-based crop rotation with calcium nitrate as fertiliser. The carbon input was estimated at 1.2 t C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> using Eq. 3. The average annual above-ground cereal dry matter yield in the experiment was 7.0 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, or 3.2 t C ha<sup>-1</sup>. The carbon input from below-ground residues thus constituted ca. 27% of the total carbon uptake by the crop.

The Miscanthus-derived C content at 0-30 cm soil depth was estimated to constitute 4.6 t C ha<sup>-1</sup> after 9 years, and 14.1 t C ha<sup>-1</sup> after 16 years of continuous Miscanthus cropping on the basis of <sup>13</sup>C-content in soil from an experiment at Hornum in Denmark (Hansen & Christensen, 2001). There were also considerable amounts of roots and rhizomes in the soil, and these constituted 6.7 t C ha<sup>-1</sup> and 7.3 t C ha<sup>-1</sup> after 9 and 16 years of Miscanthus growth, respectively.

To model soil organic matter in soil where Miscanthus is grown, a carbon pool of active roots and rhizomes ( $C_a$ ) was introduced. This pool had a constant turn-over rate (*m*):

$$\frac{dC}{dt} = h(mC_a + hA_o) - kC \qquad \text{Eq. 4}$$

$$\frac{dC_a}{dt} = A_u - mC_a \qquad \text{Eq. 5}$$

where *C* is the soil carbon content (without active roots and rhizomes).  $A_o$  is the input of carbon from above-ground plant residues (t ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), and  $A_u$  is the annual input of carbon to active roots and rhizomes (t ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>).

The Miscanthus crop in the experiment at Hornum was harvested in spring, and it was assumed that the carbon inputs ( $A_o$  and  $A_u$ ) were constant from the fourth year after crop establishment. The inputs in years 1, 2 and 3 were assumed to constitute 1/6, 1/3 and 1/2 of the final input level, respectively. The final input level of above-ground plant residues was assumed to be 3.6 t C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. It was also assumed, as previously argued, that the turnover rate of soil carbon was only half of the standard value of 0.0136, since no soil tillage was performed. The annual inputs to roots and rhizomes were assumed to be a fixed percentage of the above-ground dry matter production which, based on data from experiments at Foulum, was set to 7.2 t C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> after four years of cropping. Using these assumptions and the NLIN procedure of SAS, *m* in Eq. 4 and 5 was estimated at 0.12, and  $A_u$  was estimated to be 16% of the above-ground carbon production.

### Nitrous oxide emissions

The emission of nitrous oxide was calculated using the IPCC methodology (IPCC, 1997). The emission factors were 0.0125 kg  $N_2$ O-N kg<sup>-1</sup> N for nitrogen in both

fertiliser and crop residues. The emission factor was 0.010 kg  $N_2O$ -N kg<sup>-1</sup> N for ammonia volatilisation, and 0.025 kg  $N_2O$ -N kg<sup>-1</sup> N for nitrate leaching. The emissions vary over time for Miscanthus, and the estimates were therefore calculated as the average of a 20-year period.

## **Results and discussion**

The calculated annual nitrous oxide emissions and changes in soil carbon stocks derived from growing different crops are shown in Table 3. There were large differences between crops, but only small differences between the two soil types. The highest emissions reductions were obtained for the Miscanthus crops for all emissions categories.

,		2 . ,		
	Cereal	Triticale biomass	Miscanthus November	Miscanthus April
Coarse sandy soil				•
Nitrous oxide emission	2.19	1.66	0.97	1.03
CO <sub>2</sub> emission from changes in soil C	0.19	1.42	-1.87	-3.59
Energy use in crop production	1.11	1.08	0.97	0.51
Substitution of fossil fuel	0.00	-8.85	-12.93	-10.75
Total emission	3.49	-4.69	-12.86	-12.80
Loamy sand soil				
Nitrous oxide emission	2.10	1.36	0.92	1.05
CO <sub>2</sub> emission from changes in soil C	-0.14	1.42	-1.21	-3.09
Energy use in crop production	1.04	0.75	0.97	0.51
Substitution of fossil fuel	0.00	-8.85	-10.30	-7.27
Total emission	3.00	-5.32	-9.62	-8.80

Table 3. Annual nitrous oxide emissions, energy use and substitution of fossil energy use by growing various crops. All values are expressed at t  $CO_2$ -eq yr<sup>-1</sup>.

Table 4. Land area (equal mixture of coarse sand and loamy sand) required for production of 5 PJ worth of biomass based on combustion value, and emission reductions achieved compared with conventional cereal production. All emission reductions are shown in kt  $CO_2$  eq yr<sup>1</sup>.

	Triticale biomass	Miscanthus November	Miscanthus April
Area (ha)	32140	24812	32797
Nitrous oxide emission reduction	20	30	36
Soil carbon sequestration	-45	37	108
Reduced energy use	5	3	18
Substitution of fossil fuel	285	285	285
Total emission reduction	265	355	447

Table 4 shows the land area required to grow the different bioenergy crops and the associated reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. The area required to produce 5 PJ was smallest for Miscanthus harvested in November, and about equal for triticale and Miscanthus harvested in April. The reduction in nitrous oxide emission compared with cereal production was smallest for triticale (20 kt CO<sub>2</sub> eq yr<sup>-1</sup>) and about equal for Miscanthus at the two harvest times (30-36 kt CO<sub>2</sub> eq yr<sup>-1</sup>). Growing Miscanthus, but not triticale, resulted in soil carbon sequestration, with the highest rate of 108 kt CO<sub>2</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> for Miscanthus harvested in April. The energy use for production of triticale was slightly lower than for normal cereal growing, whereas growing Miscanthus for harvest in April results in a smaller energy use corresponding to an emission reduction of 20 kt CO<sub>2</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup>. The substitution of fossil fuel corresponded to 285 kt CO<sub>2</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> with all energy crops. Summing all items, growing 5 PJ worth of Miscanthus harvested in April resulted in an emission reduction of 447 kt CO<sub>2</sub> eq yr<sup>-1</sup>, while growing Miscanthus harvested in November gave a reduction of 355 kt CO<sub>2</sub> eq yr<sup>-1</sup>, and growing triticale gave a reduction of 265 kt CO<sub>2</sub> eq yr<sup>-1</sup>. Hence, taking nitrous oxide emissions, C sequestration and energy use into account slightly reduced the value of triticale, but significantly increased the value of Miscanthus as a CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation option.

The uncertainties associated with these estimates are probably mainly associated with the calculation of root-derived carbon and nitrogen, as these were determined indirectly. Also, only carbon in the upper 30 cm of the soil was included in the calculations. There are probably differences in the root depth of the different varieties and thus in the sequestration of carbon below this depth. The effect of tillage on soil carbon turnover between the perennial and annual crops was also important, and further studies on this are needed.

The reference crop used in these calculations was a cereal crop. There is currently an option in the EU regulation to grow energy crops as an alternative to setaside. It is expected that the requirement for set-aside will be removed. Set-aside crops of permanent grass will differ considerably from cereal crops with respect to nitrous oxide emissions and carbon sequestration. Further investigations into the effect of reference crop for the estimated benefits of bioenergy crops with respect to greenhouse gas mitigation are thus needed.

There appears to be a number of environmental advantages of growing perennial as opposed to annual energy crops. However, the promotion of perennial energy crops requires a long-term and coordinated strategy involving both technical and political aspects. The individual farmer needs a clear political signal that energy crops are given priority also in future changes of the agricultural policy. This is required because perennial energy crops occupy land areas for an extended period of time.

### References

- Andersen, J.M. (1999) Estimering af emission af methan og lattergas fra landbruget. Miljøog Energiministeriet. Danmarks Miljøundersøgelser. Arbejdsrapport fra DMU nr. 116.
- Audsley, E. (Ed.) (1997). Harmonisation of environmental life cycle assessment for agriculture. Final Report Concerted Action AIR3-CT94-2028. European Commission DG VI Agriculture, Brussels.
- Balesdent, J., Mariotti, A. & Boisgontier, D. (1990) Effect of tillage on soil organic carbon mineralization estimated from <sup>13</sup>C abundance in maize fields. Journal of Soil Science 41, 587-596.
- Christensen, B.T. (1990) Sædskiftets indflydelse på jordens indhold af organisk stof. II. Markforsøg på grov sandblandet lerjord (JB5), 1956-1985. Tidsskrift for Planteavl **94**, 161-169.
- Christensen, B.T. & Olesen, J.E. (1998) Nitrogen mineralization potential of organomineral size separates from soils with annual straw incorporation. European Journal of Soil Science **49**, 25-36.
- Dalgaard, T., Halberg, N. & Fenger, J. (2000) Simulering af fossilt energiforbrug og emission af drivhusgasser. FØJO-rapport nr. 5.
- Dalgaard, T., Halberg, N. & Porter, J.R. (2001) A model for fossil energy use in Danish agriculture used to compare organic and conventional farming. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment **87**, 51-65.
- Hansen, E.M. & Christensen, B.T. (2001) Danmarks JordbrugsForskning. Personlig meddelelse.
- Heidmann, T., Nielsen, J., Olesen, S.E., Christensen, B.T. & Østergaard, H. (2000) Ændringer i indhold af kulstof og kvælstof i dyrket jord: resultater fra kvadratnettet 1987-1998. DJF rapport Markbrug no. 54.
- IPCC (1997) Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Jørgensen, U. (1997) Genotypic variation in dry matter accumulation and content of N, K and Cl in Miscanthus in Denmark. Biomass & Bioenergy **12**, 155-169.
- Jørgensen, U. & Kjeldsen, J.B. (2000) Dyrkning af elefantgræs. DJF rapport Markbrug 29, 23-29.
- Jørgensen, U. & Mortensen, J. (2000) Kombination af energiafgrødeproduktion og grundvandsbeskyttelse. DJF rapport Markbrug 29, 97-104.
- Kirchmann, H., Persson, J. & Carlgren, K. (1994) The Ultuna long-term soil organic matter experiment, 1956-1991. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Soil Sciences, Reports and Dissertations no. 17.
- Kristensen, E.F. (1998) Høst af elefantgræs, Miscanthus 'Giganteus'. Grøn Viden Markbrug, nr. 202.
- Landbrugets Rådgivningscenter (1990) Landskalkuler for de enkelte produktionsgrene. Kalenderårene 1989 og 1990. Landbrugets Informationskontor.
- Landbrugets Rådgivningscenter (1999) Håndbog i plantedyrkning 1999. Landskontoret for Uddannelse. 200 pp.
- Møller, J., Thøgersen, R., Kjeldsen, A.M., Weisbjerg, M.R., Søegaard, K., Hvelplund, T. & Børsting, C.F. (2000) Fodermiddeltabel. Sammensætning og foderværdi af fodermidler til kvæg. Landbrugets Rådgivningscenter. Landskontoret for Kvæg. Rapport nr. 91.

- Nielsen, K.V. (1999) Demonstrations- og udviklingsprogrammet vedrørende produktion og anvendelse af energiafgrøder. Triticale til energi – midtvejsrapport. Landbrugets Rådgivningscenter, Landskontoret for Planteavl.
- Nielsen, V. & Mortensen, H.S. (2000) Håndtering af energiafgrøderne triticale og elefantgræs. DJF rapport Markbrug 44.
- Olesen, J.E., Mortensen, J.V., Jørgensen, L.N. & Andersen, M.N. (2000) Irrigation strategy, nitrogen application and fungicide control in winter wheat on a sandy soil. I. Yield, yield components and nitrogen uptake. Journal of Agricultural Science, Cambridge 134, 1-11.
- Olesen, J.E., Andersen, J.M., Jacobsen, B.H., Hvelplund, T., Jørgensen, U., Schou, J.S., Graversen, J., Dalgaard, T. & Fenhann, J. (2001a) Kvantificering af tre tiltag til reduktion af landbrugets udledning af drivhusgasser. DJF-rapport Markbrug 48.
- Olesen, J.E., Andersen, J.M., Jacobsen, B.H., Hvelplund, T., Jørgensen, U., Schou, J.S., Graversen, J., Dalgaard, T. & Fenhann, J. (2001b) Kvantificering af tre tiltag til reduktion af landbrugets udledning af drivhusgasser. DJF-rapport Markbrug 48.
- Plantedirektoratet (2000) Vejledning og skemaer, mark og gødningsplan, gødningsregnskab, plantedække, harmoniregler 2000/01.
- SAS Institute (1988) SAS/STAT User's Guide. Release 6.03 Edition. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA.
- Simmelsgaard, S.E. (1998) The effect of crop, N-level, soil type and drainage on nitrate leaching from Danish soil. Soil Use and Management **14**, 30-36.
- Smith, P., Powlson, D.S., Glendining, M.J. & Smith, J.U. (1998) Preliminary estimates of the potential for carbon mitigation in European soils through no-till farming. Global Change Biology **4**, 679-685.
- Smith, P., Goulding, K.W.T., Smith, K.A., Powlson, D.S., Smith, J.U., Falloon, P. & Coleman, K. (2000) Including trace gas fluxes in estimates of the carbon mitigation potential of UK agricultural land. Soil Use and Management **16**, 251-259.
- Thomsen, I.K. (1995) Catch crop and animal slurry in spring barley grown with straw incorporation. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B **45**, 166-170.
- Videncenter for Halm- og Flisfyring (1993) Beregning af brændværdi ved forskellige vandindhold. Videnblad nr. 69.

Videncenter for Halm- og Flisfyring (2000) Brændselsdata. Videnblad nr. 155.

# Nitrous oxide emissions from manure handling – effects of storage conditions and climate

Sven G. Sommer<sup>1\*</sup> and Søren O. Petersen<sup>2</sup>

Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, <sup>1</sup>Department of Agricultural Engineering, Research Centre Bygholm, P.O. Box 536, DK-8700 Horsens; <sup>2</sup>Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Crop Physiology and Soil Science, Research Centre Foulum, P.O. Box 50, DK-8830 Tjele \*e-mail: SvenG.Sommer@agrsci.dk

#### Summary

Stored animal manure and manure applied in the field contributes an estimated 20% to the total anthropogenic emissions of nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) in Denmark. Manure composition, handling and climatic conditions may all influence the emission level during storage, but there are relatively few experimental data on emissions of  $N_2O$  from manure management, including animal houses, slurry stores and manure heaps.

Among animal housing systems, very high emission rates have been found with pig deep litter, and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions are further stimulated by mechanical mixing. Slurry stores are anaerobic, but a recent study showed that N<sub>2</sub>O can be produced in porous surface covers such as natural surface crusts, straw or leca pebbles, while no N<sub>2</sub>O was emitted from uncovered slurry. The emission was significantly related to the water balance, i.e., the difference between evaporation and rain, during dry periods; during wet periods no N<sub>2</sub>O was emitted. For solid manure, previous studies have typically found that less than 1% of total N is emitted as N<sub>2</sub>O. Nitrous oxide may be produced throughout the manure heap, provided an environment with both aerobic and anaerobic pockets exists. Profiles from an experimental heap indicated that most of the N<sub>2</sub>O emitted from solid manure was produced near the surface of the heap. Increasing density appears to stimulate N<sub>2</sub>O emissions up to a point, where the air exchange is significantly impeded.

The IPCC methodology calculates N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from manure on the basis of total N content (that is, on the basis of volume) and climate region only. Possibly, estimates of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from slurry stores could be improved by considering surface area, ammonium content and water balance as input variables. Emissions from solid manure heaps should consider surface area and the potential for composting, as reflected in bulk density and moisture content.

### Introduction

More than 50% of the N excreted by pigs and cattle is in the urine (Safley et al., 1986), and typically 70-90% of this is urea-N (Bristow et al., 1992; Petersen et al., 1998a), which is rapidly hydrolyzed. From poultry, the main source of inorganic N is ureic acid (>70% of total N content), which is transformed to  $NH_4^+$  via urea (Koerkamp, 1994). In suitable environments with both aerobic and anaerobic phases, sequential nitrification and denitrification can convert the  $NH_4^+$  to  $NO_3^-$ , and  $NO_3^-$  to  $N_2$ , respectively. Both processes can lead to formation of nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ), which may escape to the atmosphere (Müller et al., 1997).

In animal houses with slatted floors, slurry is stored in channels below the slats for up to a month, and outside, in slurry stores, for up to a year. In houses with solid floor covered by a bedding material like straw or sawdust, the resulting deep litter is typically transferred to a store two to three times a year and, thus, the litter is stored for several months both inside and outside the animal house. In housing systems where livestock are tied, the excreta are separated between solid manure (or farmyard manure, FYM) mainly containing faeces and straw, and liquid manure, which is a mixture of urine, water and dissolved faecal components. The liquid manure is continuously trickling through gutters to an outside store, and the FYM is typically removed from the animal house on a daily basis. In Europe, the typical storage time for manure may vary between a few weeks in the UK to as much as nine months in Denmark (Bloxham & Svoboda, 1996; Sommer et al., 1996). Therefore, the emissions from manure stores can differ significantly between countries.

Animal manure collected during housing is typically stored for a period to ensure timely spreading of the manure nutrients to the field, i.e., in connection with the growing season. Stored manure is a source of NH<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O to the atmosphere. Currently, management strategies to reduce N losses during storage focus on NH<sub>3</sub> (in itself an indirect source of N<sub>2</sub>O). In order to reduce NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization from slurry stores, a surface cover is required in Denmark (Sommer et al., 1993). The cover may consist of slurry organic matter forming a natural surface crust, a layer of straw, or floating leca pebbles (burned montmorillonitic clay). Solid manure may compost during storage, which will enhance NH<sub>3</sub> losses due to increased temperatures and ventilation of the manure heap (Sommer, 2001). In consequence, the government has in new regulations proposed that composting shall be reduced through covering with a gas-impermeable material (Ministry of the Environment, 2001). Both strategies may affect also the potential for direct N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.

In this presentation, the potential for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from liquid and solid manure stored inside and outside the animal house is discussed, in particular effects of management and climate on the emission potential. The main focus will be on liquid manure systems, which are the most abundant, and on deep litter systems, the number of which may increase for welfare reasons.

#### **Slurry stores**

#### Inside the house

Slurry stored in channels is not a significant source of  $N_2O$ ,  $NO_x$  or  $N_2$ , because little  $NH_4^+$  is oxidized in this predominantly anaerobic liquid environment. The soiled surface of slats and the floor, in contrast, has a large interface between air

and slurry that may be a source of  $N_2O$ . This was shown in a study by Thelosen et al. (1993), who measured a yearly emission of 0.2 kg  $N_2O$ -N per pig place. Assuming that the Danish norm of ca. 10 kg N excreted per pig place and year (Poulsen et al., 2001) is representative for Western European conditions, this corresponds to an  $N_2O$  loss of 2% of N excreted.

A review of mainly German studies by Jungbluth et al. (2001) confirms that there may be emissions of  $N_2O$  from housing systems with slatted floors. However, more studies are needed to show whether the emissions are significant and how they could be mitigated. One may assume that the emissions are related to the area fouled by the animals, i.e., floor construction, and one option would then be to reduce this area either by reducing the slatted area, by tying the animals, or by removing the urine immediately after excretion. New techniques for measuring gaseous emissions from housed animals have been developed that may throw more light on the regulation of  $N_2O$  emissions during housing of livestock (Monteny & Erisman, 1998).

Stored slurry is anaerobic, so there can be no nitrification in the liquid phase, and therefore no denitrification (Sommer, 1997). However, a natural or artificial surface crust on top of the stored slurry can become a mosaic of anaerobic and aerobic sites under drying conditions, thus creating an environment where  $N_2O$  can be produced (Hüther et al., 1997; Sommer et al., 2000). Emission rates of up to 25 mg  $N_2O$ -N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> were measured by Sommer et al. (2000), while Jungbluth et al. (2001) quoted field and laboratory scale studies in which emissions ranged from 0.2 to 5.4 mg  $N_2O$ -N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

Sommer et al. (2000) observed that from slurry covered with a porous material,  $N_2O$  emissions increased with decreasing water balance during periods where evaporation exceeded rainfall (Fig. 1). Drying will enhance convective transport of liquid upward through the cover. Dissolved  $NH_4^+$  can be oxidized by nitrifying bacteria in oxic zones, while in anoxic pockets the products of nitrification can be denitrified. During periods with rain, inorganic N in the surface cover will be leached downward, the concentration of  $NH_4^+$  at the top of the liquid slurry phase will be reduced by dilution, and the air-filled porosity will decline. In this environment the potential for nitrification (and therefore denitrification) is reduced. Accordingly, no emission of  $N_2O$  was detected in periods with a positive water balance (Sommer et al., 2000).



Figure 1. Top: Nitrous oxide emissions from cattle slurry covered with surface crust (open symbol) and uncovered slurry (closed symbol). Bottom: The water balance (rain-evaporation) during the experiment (adapted from Sommer et al., 2000).

## Outside storage

No relation between  $N_2O$  emissions and the temperatures of slurry or air have been observed (Willers et al., 1993; Sommer et al., 2000). The interface between the liquid slurry and the outside atmosphere will be located at some depth within the surface cover, and due to the insulating effect of the cover it is likely that the temperature in this environment will differ from the bulk slurry temperature, as well as from the ambient air temperature.

### Solid manure stores

### Inside the house

Deep litter is a mixture of excreta and straw, in which the ratio between inorganic N and organic N is related to excretion rates, strewing rates, and microbial transformations of N. It is estimated that  $NH_4^+$  constitutes 25% of the total N in deep litter, and that in FYM,  $NH_4^+$  constitutes between 25 and 35% of total N (Poulsen et al., 2001). In cattle deep litter, a high proportion of the  $NH_4^+$  derived from urine was found >10 cm below the surface (Henriksen et al., 2000).

Aerobic microbial activity in cattle deep litter may cause a temperature rise to 40-50°C at 10 cm depth. In this layer, oxygen in the air entering the mat is depleted. In a recent study, the N<sub>2</sub>O and N<sub>2</sub> production in cattle deep litter was low, probably because nitrification and denitrification processes were inhibited by a combination of low oxygen partial pressure, high temperatures, and a high NH<sub>3</sub> concentration (Henriksen et al., 2000). The hoofs of housed cattle will compact the deep litter, whereas pigs on deep litter will tend to spread the bedding material. Therefore, there is a greater potential for production of N<sub>2</sub>O in deep litter which was also mechanically mixed once a week (Thelosen et al., 1993; Groenestein et al., 1993; Groenestein and van Faassen, 1996). In pig houses where the deep litter was left untreated, emissions of 0.05-3.73 kg N<sub>2</sub>O place<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> were recorded in different studies (Jungbluth et al. 2001), corresponding to 0.3-24% of total N.

From tie-stall systems there will also be interfaces between manure and air, which are potential sources of  $N_2O$ . Jungbluth et al. (2001) referred to studies which had found significant  $N_2O$  emissions from tie-stall dairy houses with animals.

#### Deep litter stored outside houses

During a period ranging from a few days to several weeks after storage, the temperature of stored solid manure and deep litter may increase to between 60 and 70°C (cf. Fig. 2) due to aerobic microbial metabolism, i.e., composting. Following a rapid increase, the temperature will slowly decline. Composting generates an upward airflow inside the heap and, consequently, gases are effectively transported to the outside atmosphere. Further, composting causes an increase in pH, which increases the NH<sub>3</sub>-to-NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> ratio (Karlsson & Jeppson, 1995), and the vapor pressure of NH<sub>3</sub> is increased by 40-60% for every 10°C increase in temperature (Petersen et al., 1998*b*). Both factors stimulate volatilization of NH<sub>3</sub> from the heap. In solid manure with a low straw content, such as solid cattle manure, the air exchange is low and composting will normally not occur (Forshell, 1993).

During the initial phase of storage, before the temperature increases, there can be a production and emission of N<sub>2</sub>O from the heap (Fig. 2). During the composting phase, little N<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O is produced, partly because NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization depletes the pool of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, and partly because nitrifying and denitrifying microorganisms are not thermophilic (Hellman et al., 1997). After the temperature decline, conditions suitable for nitrification-denitrification may be re-established, which can lead to a secondary increase in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. The manure temperature (top),  $N_2O$  concentration (middle) and  $N_2O$  emission rate from heaps with a density of 0.44 kg/l or 0.23 kg/l (adapted from Sommer & Møller, 2000).

Nitrous oxide emissions from low bulk density heaps (0.23 kg/l) were low (Sommer & Møller, 2000), possibly because  $NH_4^+$  concentrations inside the heap were kept constantly low by the high air convection stripping  $NH_3$  from the heap. With high density pig manure heaps (0.44 kg/l), high N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were observed following the temperature decline (Sommer & Møller, 2000), and this was also the case in studies with compost being turned weekly or several times a week (Czepiel et al. 1996; Hellman et al. 1997), as well as in a study with undisturbed solid pig manure (Petersen et al. 1998b).

Petersen et al. (1998*b*) recorded depth profiles of N<sub>2</sub>O which indicated that the N<sub>2</sub>O emitted was mainly produced near the surface of the heap (Fig. 3). Also, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from the composting pig manure appeared to be influenced by climatic conditions. There is no direct connection between N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and the concentrations observed inside a manure heap (Sommer, 2001; Petersen et al., 1998*b*). Nitrous oxide produced at greater depths inside the heap may be reduced during the transport towards the surface and thus not emitted, and generally emissions will be a function of production, consumption, and the air exchange rate. Czepiel et al. (1996) found that in a 9–day-old compost high N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations were found 0-20 cm from the surface, while in a 38-day-old compost high concentrations extended to 50 cm depth.



Figure 3. Concentrations of  $N_2O$  at different depths in a composting heap of solid pig manure. After 40 days of storage, the temperature at 70 cm depth had dropped to 40°C (adapted from Petersen et al. 1998b).

Studies have indicated that  $N_2O$  emissions from composting manure may be in the range 7–27 g N t<sup>-1</sup> or 0.1–1% of total N (Czepiel et al., 1996; Petersen et al., 1998b, Sommer & Møller, 2000). German studies quoted by Hellebrand & Kalk (2000) suggest that  $N_2O$  emissions may account for up to 6% of total N in a compost of garden waste. Compacting compost appears to increase  $N_2O$  emissions due to poorer aeration (Sommer, 2001), although very dense heaps with no air exchange will probably not be a source of  $N_2O$ .

#### Algorithms for estimating N<sub>2</sub>O emission

The IPCC methodology calculates N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from manure on the basis of total N content and climate region only. In other words, the methodology assumes net production of N<sub>2</sub>O throughout the entire volume of stored manure.

There are few studies of the emission of N<sub>2</sub>O from slurry stored in animal houses, but the results we have referred to above indicate that the emissions are related to the soiled surface area. Studies have also shown that N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from outside stores with slurry will be produced in the surface crust and thus are related to the surface area of the store, rather than the volume. Further, these emissions were related to the water balance. It thus appears that there is a need for revising the IPCC model for calculating emissions from management of liquid manure.

For stored solid manure, recent measurements have indicated that N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from cattle houses with solid floors covered with litter are low, while the emissions from pigs on deep litter are significant. However, more studies are needed to confirm the emissions recorded. The emissions from solid manure stored in heaps will be related to the aeration and potential for composting. During composting, N<sub>2</sub>O production will be restricted to the surface of the manure heap, while before and after this phase, N<sub>2</sub>O may be produced throughout the heap provided the manure is well aerated. Thus, there is a need to differentiate between manure that is composting during storage and very compact manure heaps that do not compost during storage. We therefore suggest that it should be attempted to link N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from solid manure to both the surface area of the heap and to the heap bulk density.

#### References

- Bloxham, P.F. & Svoboda, I.F. (1996) Management of livestock manures in the U.K. Ingénieries: Eau-Agriculture-Territoires. Special Issue 1996. 39-49.
- Bristow, A.W., Whitehead, D.C. & Cockburn, J.E. (1992) Nitrogen constituents in the urine of cattle, sheep and goats. Journal of Science of Food and Agriculture **59**, 1009-1022.
- Czepiel, P., Douglas, E., Harriss, R. & Crill, P. (1996) Measurements of N<sub>2</sub>O from composted organic wastes. Environmental Science and Technology 30, 2519–2525.
- *Forshell, L.P. (1993) Composting of cattle and pig manure. Journal of Veterinary Medicine B.* **40**, 634-640.
- Groenestein, C.M. & Van Faassen, H.G. (1996) Volatilization of ammonia, nitrous oxide and nitric oxide in deep-litter systems for fattening pigs. Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research **65**. 269-274.
- Groenestein, C.M., Oosthoek, J. & van Faassen, H.G. (1993) Microbial processes in deeplitter systems for fattening pigs and emission of ammonia, nitrous oxide and nitric oxide. pp 307-312. In Nitrogen flow in pig production and environmental consequences (Eds. Verstegen, M.W.A. et al.) EAAP Publication No. 69, Pudoc Scientific Publishers, Den Haag, NL.

Hellebrand, H.J. & Kalk, W.-D. (2000) Emission caused by manure composting. Agrartechnische Forschung **6**, E 26- E 31.

Hellmann, B., Zelles, L., Palojärvi, A. & Bai, Q. (1997) Emission of climate-relevant trace gases and succession of microbial communities during open-windrow composting. Applied Environmental Microbiology. **63**, 1011–1018.

- Henriksen, K., Olesen, T. & Rom, H.B. (2000) Kulstof og kvælstof omsætningsprocesser i kvægdybstrøelse (Carbon and nitrogen - transformation in deep litter in cattle housing). In Husdyrgødning og kompost. (Eds. Sommer, S.G. & Eriksen, J.) Forskningscenter for Økologisk Jordbrug, Tjele, Denmark.
- Hüther, L., Schuchardt, F., & Willke, T. (1997) Emissions of ammonia and greenhouse gases during storage and composting of animal manures. p. 327-333. In Voermans J.A.M. and G.J. Monteny (ed.) Ammonia and odour emissions from animal production facilities. NVTL AB Rosmalen, The Netherlands.
- Jungbluth, T., Hartung, E. & Brose, G. (2001) Greenhouse gas emissions from animal houses and manure stores. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **60**, 133-145.

Karlsson, S. & Jeppson, K.-H. (1995) Djupströbädd i stall och mellanlager [Deep Litter in Livestock Buildings and Field Storage, Legends and Summaries in English], JTI Rapport 204, Swedish Institute of Agricultural Engineering, Ultuna Uppsala, Sweden.

- Koerkamp, P.W.G.G. (1994) Review on emissions of ammonia from housing systems for laying hens in relation to sources, processes, building design and manure handling. Journal of agricultural Engineering Research **59**, 73-87.
- Ministry of Environment (2001) Draft of statutory order from the ministry of environment, on professional livestock, livestock manure, silage etc. 18<sup>th</sup> December 2001, Ministry of the Environment, DK-Copenhagen, 21 p.
- Monteny, G.J. & Erisman, J.W. (1998) Ammonia emission from dairy cow buildings: a review of measurement techniques, influencing factors and possibilities for reduction. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science **46**, 225-247.
- Müller, C., Sherlock, R.R. & Williams, P.H. (1997) Mechanistic model for nitrous oxide emission via nitrification and denitrification. Biology and Fertility of Soils **24**, 231-238.
- Petersen, J. (1996) Husdyrgødning og dens anvendelse (Animal manure a source of nutrients). SP rapport nr. 11. Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Tjele, Denmark.
- Petersen, S.O., Sommer, S.G., Aaes, O. & Søegaard, K. (1998a) Ammonia losses from dung and urine of grazing cattle. Atmospheric Environment **32**, 295-300.
- Petersen, S.O., Lind, A.-M & Sommer, S.G. (1998b) Nitrogen and organic matter losses during storage of cattle and pig manure. Journal of Agricultural Science Cambridge 130, 69–79.
- Poulsen, H.D., Børsting, C.F., Rom, H.B. & Sommer, S.G. (2001) Kvælstof, fosfor og kalium i husdyrgødning – normtal 2000. DJF-raport nr. 36 Husdyrgødning. Danmarks JordbrugsForskning, Tjele, Denmark. Pp152.
- Safley, L.M., Jr, Westerman, P.W. & Barker, J.C. (1986) Fresh dairy manure characterstics and barnlot nutrient losses. Agricultural Wastes **17**, 203-215.
- Sommer, S.G. (1997) Ammonia volatilization from farm tanks containing anaerobically digested animal slurry. Atmospheric Environment **31**, 863-868.
- Sommer, S.G. & Møller, H.B. (2000) Emission of greenhouse gases during composting of deep litter from pig production- effect of straw content. Journal of Agricultural Science, Cambridge **134**, 327-335.
- Sommer, S.G. (2001) Effect of composting on nutrient loss and nitrogen availability of cattle deep litter. European Journal of Agronomy **14**, 123-133.

- Sommer, S.G., Christensen, B.T., Nielsen, N.E. & Schjørring, J.K. (1993) Ammonia volatilization during storage of cattle and pig slurry: Effect of surface cover. Journal of Agricultural Science, Cambridge **121**, 63-71.
- Sommer, S.G., Hutchings, N.J., Kyllingsbæk, A. & Thomsen, I. (1996) Historical trends in N circulation on Danish livestock farms and the related legislation. Ingénieries: Eau-Agriculture-Territoires. Special Issue 1996. 23-30.
- Sommer, S.G., Petersen, S.O. & Søgaard, H.T. (2000) Emission of greenhouse gases from stored cattle slurry and slurry fermented at a biogas plant. Journal of Environmental Quality **29**, 744-751.
- Thelosen, J.G.M., Heitlager, B.P. & Voermans, J.A.M. (1993) Nitrogen balances of two deep litter systems for finishing pigs. pp 318-323. In Nitrogen flow in pig production and environmental consequences (Eds. Verstegen, M.W.A. et al.) EAAP Publication No. 69, Pudoc Scientific Publishers, Den Haag, NL.
- Willers, H.C., Derikx, P.J.L., Have, P.J.W. ten & Vijn, T.K. (1996) Emission of ammonia and nitrous oxide from aerobic treatment of veal calf slurry. Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research **63**, 345-352.

# A critical analysis of nitrous oxide emissions from animal manure

Åsa Kasimir Klemedtsson<sup>1\*</sup> and Leif Klemedtsson<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Högskolan i Trollhättan/Uddevalla, Department of Informatics and Mathematics, Box 957, 461 29 Trollhättan, Sweden; <sup>2</sup>Göteborg University, Botanical Institute, P.O. 461, SE 405 30 Göteborg, Sweden <sup>\*</sup>e-mail: Asa.Kasimir.Klemedtsson@htu.se

### Summary

Emission of nitrous oxide, N<sub>2</sub>O, after manure applications to agricultural soil is composed of two components. The first is the immediately increased potential for N<sub>2</sub>O production due to favourable conditions in the manure-soil environment. More N<sub>2</sub>O is produced and emitted when the nitrogen content of the manure is high, especially the mineral nitrogen content. The amount of carbon available for microbiological decomposition and water content regulate the oxygen availability, which is important for N<sub>2</sub>O production in both nitrification and denitrification. The balance between mineralisation of organically bound nitrogen and immobilisation of mineral nitrogen by microorganisms and plants control the availability of N for N<sub>2</sub>O production. The initial burst of N<sub>2</sub>O to the atmosphere following manure application may last for two months, while a second component is longterm and due to nitrogen in organic matter accumulating in the soil, resulting in a small increase in background emissions over many years due to nitrogen cycling. The IPCC emission factor for N<sub>2</sub>O emission due to manure addition accounts for the increased emission of N<sub>2</sub>O during the first year, whereas the long-term emission is not included.

### Introduction

The largest global source of N<sub>2</sub>O, representing 80% of the N<sub>2</sub>O entering the atmosphere annually, is biological production by bacteria in the soil (Isermann, 1994). Two bacterial processes are responsible, both of them dependent on nitrogen (N). Nitrification is the first of these processes; it naturally utilises the ammonium released by the breakdown of organic material. The process gains energy from the oxidation of ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) to nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) and uses carbon dioxide as carbon source. To gather enough energy for metabolic processes, large amounts of ammonium have to be converted. Optimal conditions for nitrification imply that oxygen is available, and pH should not be too low. Nitrous oxide is a side-product which is produced in larger quantities when conditions are suboptimal for nitrification, for example when oxygen is deficient, as in wet soils, or in situations with high biological activity consuming oxygen. Nitrification is responsible for a continuous background emission of N<sub>2</sub>O from many soils, and it is a prerequisite for the second process: denitrification.

Denitrification is performed by bacteria with the ability to decompose organic materials both aerobically and anaerobically. When oxygen is lacking, nitrate (or nitrite) is used instead of oxygen in the respiration process. Nitrous oxide is formed as an intermediate product in a step-wise process, where nitrogen gas  $(N_2)$  is the end product. When oxygen is available at low concentrations, the process is restrained and  $N_2O$  becomes the end product. During oxygen-deficient conditions denitrification also produce the largest amounts of  $N_2O$ . High nitrate concentrations also increase the  $N_2O$  production from denitrification.

Nitrous oxide is produced in all soil ecosystems with available mineral N, but the emission varies a great deal over the year. In spring, when the temperature rises and water is available, the mineralisation of soil organic matter is one major cause for an increased emission. Occasions with increased emission have also been found during winter-time with temperatures below 0°C. Thus, N<sub>2</sub>O emission is highly variable, and the question is: what is a natural emission level without human influence?

Most studies of emissions from different systems have been made on agricultural land after addition of mineral fertiliser, while fewer studies have been made after addition of manure. This give rise to the following questions:

- Does addition of animal manure cause a different rate of N<sub>2</sub>O emission compared to mineral fertiliser N?
- Over what time span can the addition of N be expected to increase the N<sub>2</sub>O emission?

## Use of animal manure in Swedish agriculture

In Sweden, as in all Nordic Countries, animal manure is an important nutrient source for the agriculture. In Sweden, about 200 000 t plant available (inorganic) nitrogen are used annually in the agricultural sector, and in 1999 animal manure constituted about 15% of this amount (Statistics Sweden, 2000). Besides, animal manure contains considerable amounts of organic N, which is added to the soil as well. During 1999, about 50% of the crop area received only mineral fertiliser, 10% received only animal manure and 25% was treated with both manure and mineral fertiliser. The areas receiving both manure and mineral fertiliser were given considerably higher N doses than those receiving only mineral fertiliser, on average 130 kg plant-available N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> as compared to 90 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. Including also the organic N applied in manure, doses were even higher, about 180 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, which is approximately twice the recommended dose.

# **IPCC Emission factors**

The emission factor for direct emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from fertilised agricultural soil that is presently recommended by IPCC is based on a compilation made by Bouwman (1996). This review included studies from the USA and UK conducted during a whole year, to include emissions across all seasons. This data set is shown in Fig.
1. Of the studies included, 25% used both organic and inorganic N fertiliser. A linear relationship between  $N_2O$  emission and addition of N was found, which indicated that 1.25±1.0% of the N added was emitted as  $N_2O$  during one year.



Figure 1. The data on which the IPCC emission factor for direct emissions from fertilised soil relies (Bouwman, 1996). Nitrous oxide emissions from mineral soils with different non-leguminous crops and N-additions. Squares: Both organic and inorganic N to annual crops; Rhombus: Inorganic N to annual crops; Triangles: Inorganic N to grass. Grassland data are from the UK, and the rest of the data from the USA.

From the relationship in Fig. 1 it can be inferred that soils receiving no N also emitted  $N_2O$ , around 1 kg  $N_2O$ -N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. In the IPCC Guidelines (IPCC 1997), emissions from unfertilised fields were considered to be background emissions and not to be included among the anthropogenic sources which should be reported to the UNFCCC.

The IPCC methodology also includes indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from N lost by NH<sub>3</sub> volatilisation and subsequently deposited on agricultural land or in other ecosystems. The emission factor is in the same order of magnitude as for direct emissions, i.e., 1% of the N deposited. Leaching of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> will also give rise to N<sub>2</sub>O on its route to the sea, in total 2.5% of the leached N. All countries are recommended to use the IPCC methodology for greenhouse gas inventories, unless a more appropriate and documented national methodology is available.

## N<sub>2</sub>O emission after manure addition

Fertilisation experiments on agricultural soils show that N<sub>2</sub>O emission increase more after manure application than after addition of mineral fertilisers (Clayton et al., 1997). Many factors influence the amount of N<sub>2</sub>O emitted, such as manure composition, weather conditions and soil content and structure (see Table 1). The composition of manure is variable, depending on storage system etc. Besides water and mineral nutrients, manure contains carbon and nitrogen in different forms (degradable and stabilized organic materials, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and organically bound N). Different investigations have shown different factors to regulate N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, but generally inorganic N (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>/NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), available carbon and a high water filled pore space (WFPS) have been found to increase the potential for N<sub>2</sub>O from nitrification and denitrification. Microbially available organic carbon seems to be important in regulating N<sub>2</sub>O emissions shortly after manure addition in situations where denitrification contributes significantly to N<sub>2</sub>O production (Clemens & Huschka, 2001).

	Increase of N <sub>2</sub> O in a short-term perspec-	Reference
	tive	
Manure composition	N.	
Biologically available or-	X	Clemens & Huschka (2001)
ganic carbon		
Total and mineral N content	X	Clemens & Ahlgrimm (2001),
		Kebreab et al. (2001)
Water		
Soil conditions		
Texture	Clay	
Soil moisture	60-80% WFPS	
Carbon and nitrogen content	Manure and crop residues increase the	Mogge et al. (1999)
of topsoil	content.	
C/N ratio	Indicates substrate availability for micro-	
	bial N turnover	
рН	Positive influence on the overall activity,	Granli & Bøckman (1994)
	but negative on $N_2O/N_2$ ratio.	
Inorganic N content	Increased nitrification and denitrification,	Granli & Bøckman (1994),
	$NO_3^-$ increases the $N_2O/N_2$ ratio.	Ruser et al. (2001)
Temperature	If N or other conditions are not limiting	Clayton et al. (1997)
Timing and Management		
Crop type	Vegetables	Ruser et al. (2001)
Total N applied	Above crop N uptake capacity	
Application scheme	Single application	Clayton et al. (1997)
Timing of application	Wet weather	Ferm et al. (1999)
Spreading technique	Incorporation > surface application	Ferm et al. (1999)

Table 1. Factors influencing N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from manure-amended soil.

A typical pattern is an elevated  $N_2O$  emission level of varying duration after manure application, but mostly the emission rate is back to "normal" within 2

months. This initial "burst" of N<sub>2</sub>O has often been interpreted as the total effect of manure on the N<sub>2</sub>O emission. For example, Chadwick et al. (1999) based their emission factors on measurements of N<sub>2</sub>O emission during the period from N addition until emissions for treated plots had returned to the emission level found on untreated plots. But this will only reflect the initial phase of N<sub>2</sub>O emission, the extent of which depends on the composition of the manure, soil and weather conditions. The long-term effect is difficult to discern from the emission "noise" associated with the background emission. An important question is: What is a "background" emissions for agricultural land? A question to which we have no answer.

The soil environment is complex, and mostly mineralisation/immobilisation controls how much mineral N is available for nitrification and denitrification. Immobilisation by living organisms and plant roots reduces the potential for  $N_2O$  production. The degree of N saturation in a terrestrial system, as reflected in the accumulation of N in biomass and soil organic matter, will determine the potential for nitrification and denitrification in the long run.

It is possible to spread manure at times and with techniques that give smaller initial emissions of  $N_2O$ . But some mitigation measures may lead to increased  $NH_3$  emissions and/or  $NO_3^-$  leaching which in turn give rise to indirect emissions of  $N_2O$ . These indirect emissions are difficult to quantify, and generally they are calculated by use of standard emission factors (Weslien et al., 1998). The size and reliability of emission factors for indirect emissions of  $N_2O$  are crucial for suggestions of management strategies to mitigate the emissions.

#### New emission factors based on Northern European data

Emission factors for N<sub>2</sub>O emission from agricultural soils, including direct emissions after mineral fertilisers and manure addition to both organic and minerogenic soils, as well as indirect emissions, were scrutinised by Kasimir Klemedtsson (2001). The aim was to evaluate the IPCC methodology in a Swedish perspective.

Long-term studies of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions are scarce, especially for organic amendments to soil, and also for organic soils. For this review, data from measurements conducted during at least eight months north of 50°N latitude in Europe were selected. We based the work on own Swedish studies, on data from the literature, and on data gathered in the reported EU concerted action "Biogenic emissions of greenhouse gases caused by arable and animal agriculture, FAIR3-CT96-1877" (Freibauer & Kaltschmitt, 2000). The results are summarized in Figs. 2-4.



Figure 2. Nitrous oxide emissions with mineral fertiliser-N applied to cereals (n=43). Data from Kaiser et al. (1998), Kaiser & Heinemeyer (1996), Ernst (1997), Flessa et al. (1998), Jørgensen et al. (1997), Christensen (1985), Yamulki et al. (1995), Smith et al. (1998), Jaakola (1994), Kasimir Klemedtsson et al. (in prep), Röver et al. (1998).



Figure 3. Nitrous oxide emissions with mineral fertilisers applied to grassland (n=55). Data from Ambus & Christensen (1995), Allen et al. (1996), Christensen (1983), Clayton et al. (1997), Dobbie et al. (1999), Duyzer (1996), Flessa et al. (1998), Heinemeyer et al. (1996), Jørgensen et al. (1997), Kaiser et al. (1998), Mogge et al. (1999), Poggeman et al. (1997), Schmädeke et al. (1997), Smith et al. (1998), Velthof et al. (1996) and Vermoesen et al. (1996).

In contrast to Bouwman's (1996) findings, no linear relationship between N<sub>2</sub>O emission and N addition rate was found for mineral fertiliser addition to cereals (Fig. 2). Comparing data on inorganic N in Fig. 1 with the data in Fig. 2 reveals no difference in the magnitude of emissions with N addition. However, a small influence of the N application rate was found for mineral fertiliser added to grasslands, Fig. 3, which indicated that 0.7% of the N added was transformed to N<sub>2</sub>O in one year. For addition of N to organic soils too few data were available to generate a separate emission factor. The suggested emission factor for N<sub>2</sub>O derived from mineral fertiliser N under Swedish conditions was 0.8% of the added N, irrespective of soil and crop type (Kasimir Klemedtsson, 2001).



Figure 4.  $N_2O$  emissions with addition of N in organic fertilisers to cereals and grassland (studies from both Northern Europe and Canada, n=16), expressed as total N in the manure. Data from Ambus et. al. (2001) Chang et al. (1998), Clayton et al. (1997), Heinemeyer et al. (1996), Kasimir Klemedtsson et al. (in prep), Mogge et al. (1999) and Poggemann et al. (1999).

Very few studies of N<sub>2</sub>O emission after addition of organic fertilisers have been conducted during sufficiently long time to be used for generating emission factors. The small data set (n=12) for manure addition in Northern Europe showed variable results (see Fig. 4). Therefore, data from Canada were also included, and the combined data set (n=16) gave an emission factor of 2.6%. Eventually, 2.5% was suggested as a new emission factor for organic N (manure) additions (Kasimir Klemedtsson, 2001).

It is obvious that N<sub>2</sub>O emissions are not strictly related to additions of N, especially not inorganic N, to annual crops. However, separating data for grasslands from data for annual crops, and data for organic fertilisers from data representing inorganic N additions, resulted in stronger relationships between N added and emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O.

## Long-term effects of N additions

A linear relationship between N addition and N<sub>2</sub>O emission is not always seen in field experiments. The reason for this may be that preceding crops and earlier soil amendments can have a large influence on the emission, sometimes larger than the effect of the most recent addition of fertiliser N (Kaiser et al., 1998). During 1995-97 we conducted measurements of N<sub>2</sub>O emission after addition of calcium ammonium nitrate at a rate of 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> to agricultural land in Southwestern Sweden (Kasimir Klemedtsson et al., in prep b). Measurements were performed by use of static chambers and gas analyses by GC, and the results are shown as the three first bars for each month in Fig. 5 and summarized in Table. 2. The emission was about 2 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in both fertilised and non-fertilised plots. Of the added fertiliser N, only 0.2% was emitted as N<sub>2</sub>O, but this number was not significantly different from zero. Thus, the emission was not related to the N addition, and the conclusion that can be drawn is that the soil fertility and management history of the soil controlled the emissions.

Treatment	Nitrogen applica- tion, kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> yr <sup>-1</sup>	N <sub>2</sub> O emission, kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> yr <sup>-1</sup> , average	N₂O emission, kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, median	Increase due to added N, %
kg N in pig slurry/ kg N in fertiliser			median	
No N	0	2		-
Fertiliser, broadcasted	120	2		0.2
Fertiliser, drilled	120	2		0.2
0 (pig slurry)/0 (fertiliser)	0	1.5	0.8	-
0/0, catch crop	0	3.6	1.1	-
0/90	90	1.6	0.7	0.1
0/90, catch crop	90	2.6	1.1	-1.1
90/45	135	5.1	2.5	4.0
90/45, catch crop	135	2.8	1.9	-1.0
180/45	225	10.2	1.0	4.8
180/45, catch crop	225	19.1	6.0	8.6

Table 2.  $N_2O$  emissions measured in Southwest Sweden. Measurements were performed by use of static chambers and gas analyses by GC.

Other fields close to the above-mentioned experiment were given different, but continuously the same fertiliser and manure additions during 17 years (Torstens-

son & Aronsson, 2000). Measurements of  $N_2O$  emissions were conducted during 1998-2000. Again, a mineral fertiliser addition of 90 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> did not result in higher emissions than control plots receiving no other N inputs than the atmospheric deposition (ca. 20 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) which, of course, all sites received (Table 2 and Fig. 5). In contrast, addition of 180 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> as pig slurry together with 45 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in mineral fertiliser resulted in a higher emission. The cause for the emission peak in May, after the pig slurry amendment, may be both the addition of N and accelerated mineralisation of soil organic matter due to relatively high soil temperatures and soil cultivation. Moreover, the crop was too small to effectively take up mineralised and/or added N, and altogether this resulted in a higher risk for nitrification and denitrification in the spring.



Figure 5. Average N<sub>2</sub>O emissions for different months at Mellby in Southwest Sweden. The first three bars represent experiments from 1996-1997 with addition of calcium ammonium nitrate (120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, either broadcasted or drilled) and no N addition, respectively. The last six bars represent a nearby site with three treatments, i.e., no N addition, 90 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in mineral fertiliser, and both 45 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in mineral fertiliser and 180 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in swine slurry. The treatments were with or without perennial ryegrass, which each year was ploughed down before seeding in April.

Catch crops gathered N during the no-crop season, which decreased leaching losses. But during spring and summer, treatments with both manure and a catch crop had almost twice the mineralisation rate compared to plots with manure ad-

dition but no catch crop (Hessel Tjell et al., 1999), which can explain the higher  $N_2O$  emission from the fields with a catch crop. Generally, addition of animal manure to soils results in an increased content of carbon and nitrogen in the top soil (Peacock et al., 2001). At the Swedish site, manure addition also resulted in higher N retention in the soil, +114 to +128 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, in contrast to -16 to +15 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> when mineral fertiliser was applied. The spans represent fields without and with a catch crop, respectively (Hessel Tjell et al., 1999).

The amounts of N retained were small compared to the organically bound soil N content of about 8000 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, which probably determined the size of the background emission. But since this management had continued for 17 years, it is possible that accumulation of soil N derived from the manure had increased the "background" emission over the years. Thus, the N<sub>2</sub>O emission peak in May was the result of N addition and mineralisation of organic matter occurring simultaneously. An emission factor for the manure addition was calculated to be 5 and 9% of the annual N addition without and with a catch crop, respectively, i.e., much higher figures than the IPCC emission factor of 1.25%. Thus we still need to separate the part of the emission into a general background and a background that stems from previous fertiliser and manure applications.

# Suitability of the IPPC approach for estimating agricultural emissions in the Nordic countries

Mineral fertilisers and manure have different effects on soil organic matter; only manure will cause an accumulation of N in the soil, which is important for the size of the N<sub>2</sub>O emission in a longer perspective. Also, the above mentioned EU concerted action programme (Freibauer & Kaltschmitt, 2000), using a much larger data material than that available to Bouwman (1996), found N<sub>2</sub>O emissions to be stronger related to the soil N content than to the annual fertiliser addition rate. The effect of organic fertiliser additions was difficult to evaluate, since too few data were available, but a tendency towards higher emissions was found for organic fertilisation compared to addition of mineral fertilisers. Also, Ruser et al. (2001) showed the importance of the soil N status in governing the N<sub>2</sub>O emission, where soil nitrate appeared to be a more important factor in determining the emission than the fertiliser addition. All these results indicate that the total nitrogen flow has a strong influence on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, more important than recent N additions.

In this text, the term "N addition" represents spreading of N-containing substances in the agro-ecosystem. But on a larger scale, nitrogen can only be <u>added</u> to the ecosystems by nitrogen fixation - biological, industrial or during combustion. Thus, mineral fertilisers represent net additions of N, while manure addition only represents N recirculation. Since the introduction of commercial fertilisers in the 1950's, nitrogen enrichment of the ecosystems has been in progress, leading to a higher fertility of agricultural and forest soils and eutrophication of the environment. The effects of the N enrichment on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions have been modelled by Bakken & Bleken (1998), who concluded that the IPCC emission factor of 1.25% of added N converted to N<sub>2</sub>O-N in one year is an overestimation, but that it may estimate present-day total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions fairly well anyway. But the factor will probably underestimate future emissions, if the industrial and biological N fixation continues at the current rate. Schmid et al. (2001) drew the same conclusion that the current IPCC method underestimates the long-term effects of fertiliser management.

In the IPPC methodology an anthropogenic "background" emission is considered for <u>organic soils</u>, and here the emission depends on mineralisation of the soil material due to drainage. Measurements on organic soil in Sweden showed the lowest N<sub>2</sub>O emission for permanent grass, while soil cultivated for cereals and vegetable production have larger emissions (Weslien et al., in prep, Kasimir Klemedtsson et al., in prep a). But, unlike the IPCC methodology, we suggest a background emission factor to be used also for mineralisation of soil organic N in cultivated <u>mineral soils</u>. For Nordic conditions an emission of 0.5 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> is proposed, which may compensate for the lack of an emission factor for the long-term effect due to N additions to the soil in the past.

#### Conclusions

The potential for emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O is higher after addition of manure to soil than after addition of mineral fertilisers. This is probably due to the organic content of the manure resulting in higher soil respiration consuming oxygen which, in combination with a moderately high content of water and mineral nitrogen, results in favourable conditions for N<sub>2</sub>O production. The addition causes a temporarily increased emission above the background level, an increase which is the basis for the emission factors proposed by IPCC. The IPCC concept is thus based on short-term effects of annual N additions resulting in N<sub>2</sub>O emission over less than one year. New investigations and inventories have shown the soil N content to be of greater importance than the recent N addition in governing the N<sub>2</sub>O emission. Thus the land use history gives a "background" emission, which can persist for many years. It is probably difficult to determine this increased background emission by field measurements, but modelling the long-term effect is a possible way out.

We can conclude that there are still many questions to be answered about the effect of manure applications on  $N_2O$  emissions, and what the best mitigation options are. Is it possible to add manure to soil in a way that avoids a stimulation of  $N_2O$  emission? Or is it more fruitful to modify the feed intake of the animals or treat the manure in order to decrease the potential for  $N_2O$  emissions after spreading on agricultural land? Or should the abatement focus on the total N-use of the society?

To answer all these questions, long term field studies, site modelling, and modelling including the society level is needed. Furthermore, there is a need for improvement of the IPCC methodology in these respects.

#### References

- Allen, A.G., Jarvis, S.C. & Headon, D.M. (1996) Nitrous oxide emissions from soils due to inputs of nitrogen from excreta return by livestock on grazed grassland in the U.K. Soil Biology and Biochemistry **28**, 597-607.
- Ambus, P. & Christensen, S. (1995) Spatial and seasonal nitrous oxide and methane fluxes in Danish forest-, grassland-, and agroecosystems. Journal of Environmental Quality 24, 993-1001.
- Ambus, P., Jensen, J.M., Priemé, A., Pilegaard, K. & Kjøller, A. (2001) Assessment of CH₄ and N₂O fluxes in a Danish beech (Fagus sylvatica) forest and an adjacent N-fertilised barley (Hordeum vulgare) field: effects of sewage sludge amendments. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 60, 15-21.
- Bakken, L.R. & Bleken, M.A. (1998) Temporal aspects of N-enrichment and emission of N<sub>2</sub>O to the atmosphere. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **52**, 107-121.
- Bouwman, A.F. (1996) Direct emissions of nitrous oxide from agriculture soils. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosystems **46**, 53-70.
- Chadwick, D.R., Sneath, R.W., Phillips, V.R. & Pain, B.F. (1999) A UK inventory of nitrous oxide emissions from farmed livestock. Atmospheric Environment **33**, 3345-3354.
- Chang, C., Cho, C. & Janzen, H.H. (1998) Nitrous oxide emission from long-term manured soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal **62**, 677-682.
- Christensen, S. (1983) Nitrous oxide emission from a soil under permanent grass: Seasonal and diurnal fluctuations as influenced by manuring and fertilization. Soil Biology and Biochemistry **15**, 531-536.
- Christensen, S. (1985) Denitrification in an acid soil: Effects of slurry and potassium nitrate on the evolution of nitrous oxide and on nitrate-reducing bacteria. Soil Biology and Biochemistry **17**, 757-764.
- Clayton, H., McTaggart, I.P., Parker, J., Swan, L. & Smith, K.A. (1997) Nitrous oxide emissions from fertilised grassland: A 2-year study of the effects of N fertiliser form and environmental conditions. Biology and Fertility of Soils **25**, 252-260.
- Clemens, J. & Ahlgrimm, H.-J. (2001) Greenhouse gases from animal husbandry: mitigation options. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecossytems **60**, 287-300.
- Clemens, J. & Huschka, A. (2001) The effect of biological oxygen demand of cattle slurry and soil moisture on nitrous oxide emissions. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **59**, 193-198.

- Dobbie, K.E., McTaggart, I.P. & Smith, K.A. (1999) Nitrous oxide emissions from intensive agricultural systems: Variations between crops and seasons, key driving variables, and mean emissions factors. Journal of Geophysical Research **104**, 26891-26899.
- Duyzer, J.H. (1996) Measurements of the atmospheric emission of N<sub>2</sub>O from biogenic sources in general and by grassland ecosystems in particular. Dutch National Research Progress on Global Air Pollution and Climate Change 410-100-054.
- Ernst, M. (1997) N<sub>2</sub>O und CH<sub>4</sub> Flußraten einer Ackerbaufläche Quantifizierung, Parametrisierung und Frost/Tau-Zyklen im Winter, Dissertation an der TU Braunschweig
- Ferm, M., Kasimir-Klemedtsson, Å., Weslien, P. & Klemedtsson, L. (1999) Emission of NH<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O after spreading of pig slurry by broadcasting or band spreading. Soil Use and Management **15**, 27-33.
- Flessa, H., Wild, U., Klemisch, M. & Pfadenhauer, J. (1998) Nitrous oxide and methane fluxes from organic soils under agriculture. European Journal of Soil Science **49**, 327-335.
- Freibauer, A. & Kaltschmitt, M. (2000) Emission Rates and Emission Factors of Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Arable and Animal Agriculture. Summary report of the EU Concerted Action "Biogenic Emissions of Greenhouse Gases Caused by Arable and Animal Agriculture" (FAIR3-CT96-1877). Institute fur Energiewitschaft and Rationelle Energianwendung, Universität Stuttgart.
- Granli, T. & Bøckman, O.C. (1994) Nitrous oxide from agriculture. Norwegian Journal of Agricultural Sciences, Supplement no **12**.
- Heinemeyer, O., Kücke, M., Kohrs, K., Schnug, E., Munch, J.C. & Kaiser, E.-A. (1996)
  Nitrous oxide release from cultivated soils: Influence of different grass/clover ratios in fodder production. Transaction of the 9th Nitrogen Workshop, Braunschweig, 495-497.
- Hessel Tjell, K., Aronsson, H., Torstensson, G., Gustafson, A., Lindén, B., Stenberg, M. & Rydberg, T. (1999) Mineralkvävedynamik och växtnäringsutlakning i handelsstallgödslade odlingssystem med och utan fånggröda (in swedish). report Ekohydrologi 50. Division of Water Quality Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- IPCC (1997) Greenhouse Gas Inventory Reference Manual. In J.Y. Houghton et al. (eds). Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Vol 3.
- Isermann, K. (1994) Agriculture's share in the emission of trace gases affecting the climate and some cause-oriented proposals for sufficiently reducing this share. Environmental Pollution **83**, 95-111.
- Jaakkola, A. (1994) Soil air composition and nitrous oxide emission in freezing and thawing soils. 15th World Congress of Soil Science, Acapulco, Mexico, July 1994, Transactions Volume 3b, Commission II: Poster Sessions, p. 252-253
- Jørgensen, R.N., Jørgensen, B.J., Nielsen, N.E., Maag, M. & Lind, A.M. (1997) N<sub>2</sub>O emission from energy crop fields of Miscanthus "Giganteus" and winter rye. Atmospheric Environment **31**, 2899-2904.
- Kaiser, E.A. & Heinemeyer, O. (1996) Temporal changes in N<sub>2</sub>O-losses from two arable soils. Plant & Soil **181**, 57-63.
- Kaiser, E.-A., Kohrs, K., Kücke, M., Schnug, E., Munch, J.C. & Heinemeyer, O. (1998) Nitrous oxide release from arable soil: importance of perennial forage crops. Biology and Fertility of Soils **28**, 36-43.

- Kasimir Klemedtsson, Å. (2001) Metodik för skattning av jordbrukets emissioner av lustgas. Underlag för Sveriges nationalrapport till Klimatkonventionen (in swedish). rapport 5170, Naturvårdsverkets förlag, Sweden, ISBN 91-620-5170-9.
- Kasimir Klemedtsson, Å., Weslien, P. & Klemedtsson, L. (in prep a) Methane and Nitrous oxide flux from farmed organic soil in Sweden.
- Kasimir Klemedtsson, Å., Weslien, P., Carlgren, K. & Klemedtsson, L. (in prep b) Longterm Nitrous oxide emission following addition of fertiliser on sandy soil.
- Kebreab, E., France, J., Beever, D.E. & Castillo, A.R. (2001) Nitrogen pollution by dairy cows and its mitigation by dietary manipulation. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 60, 275-285.
- Mogge, B., Kaiser, E.-A. & Munch, J.-C. (1999) Nitrous oxide emissions and denitrification N-losses from agricultural soils in the Bornhöved Lake region: influence of organic fertilizers and land-use. Soil Biology and Biochemistry **31**, 1245-1252.
- Peacock, A.D., Mullen, M.D., Ringelberg, D.B., Tyler, D.D., Hedrick, D.B., Gale, P.M. & White, D.C. (2001) Soil microbial community responses to dairy manure or ammonium nitrate applications. Soil Biology and Biochemistry **33**, 1011-1019.
- Poggemann, S., Weißbach, F. & Küntzel, U. (1997) N<sub>2</sub>O-Emissionen auf Schafweiden unterschiedlicher Bewirtschaftungsintensität, Tagungsband: Arbeitsgemeinschaft Grünland und Futterbau in der Gesellschaft f. Pflanzenbauwissenschaften **41**, 28-30.august, Aulendorf.
- Poggemann, S., Weißbach, F. & Küntzel, U. (1999) Reduction of N surpluses and release of N<sub>2</sub>O-emission from pasture [German: Reduktion der N-Überschüsse und Freisetzungen von N<sub>2</sub>O aus Grünland]. Berichte über Landwirtschaft **77**, 113-116.
- Ruser, R., Flessa, H., Schilling, R., Beese, F. & Munch, J.C. (2001) Effect of crop-specific field management and N fertilisation on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from a fine-loamy soil. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **59**, 177-191.
- Röver, M., Heinemeyer, O. & Kaiser, E.-A. (1998) Microbial induced nitrous oxide emissions from an arable soil during winter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry **30**, 1859-1865.
- Schmid, M., Neftel, A., Riedo, M. & Fuhrer, J. (2001) Process-based modelling of nitrous oxide emissions from different nitrogen sources in mown grassland. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **60**, 177-187.
- Schmädeke, F., Beese, F., Brumme, R., Lickfett, T. & Przemeck, E. (1997) N2O Emissions from an Oilseed Rape Crop Rotation as Affected by N Fertilization. Workshop Proceedings 7th International Workshop on Nitrous Oxide Emissions; Cologne, April 21 -23, 429-432.
- Smith, K.A., Thomson, P.E., Clayton, H., McTaggart, I.P. & Conen, F. (1998) Effects of temperature, water content and nitrogen fertilization on emissions of nitrous oxide by soils. Atmospheric Environment **22**, 3301-3309.
- Statistics Sweden (2000) Use of fertilizers and animal manure in agriculture in 1998/99. Statistiska meddelanden MI 20 SM 0002.
- Torstensson, G. & Aronsson, H. (2000) Nitrogen leaching and crop availability in manured catch crop systems in Sweden. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **56**, 139-152.
- Velthof, G.L., Brader, A.B. & Oenema, O. (1996) Seasonal variations in nitrous oxide losses from managed grasslands in the Netherlands. Plant and Soil **181**, 263-274.
- Vermoesen, A., Degroot, C.J., Nollet, L., Boeckx, P. & Vancleemput, O. (1996) Effect of ammonium and nitrate application on the NO and N<sub>2</sub>O emission out of different soils. Plant & Soil **1**, **181**. 153-162

- Weslien, P., Klemedtsson, L., Svensson, L., Galle, B., Kasimir Klemedtsson, Å. & Gustafson, A. (1998) Nitrogen losses following application of pig slurry to arable land. Soil Use and Management **14**, 200-208.
- Weslien, P., Kasimir Klemedtsson, Å. & Klemedtsson, L. (in prep) High Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Carrot Crops on Organic Soils.
- Yamulki, S., Goulding, K.W.T., Webster, C.P., & Harrison, R.M. (1995) Studies on NO and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes from a wheat field. Atmospheric Environment **29**, 1627-1635.

## Nitrous oxide emissions from field-applied fertilizers

Marit Lægreid<sup>1\*</sup> and Are H. Aastveit<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Hydro Agri Research Centre, N-3907 Porsgrunn, Norway; <sup>2</sup>Agricultural University of Norway, Department of Mathematical Sciences, N-1432 Ås, Norway \*e-mail: Marit.Lagreid@hydro.com

#### Summary

Nitrous oxide emissions originating from the use of fertilizers, as from other nitrogen sources in agriculture, result from complex biological processes in the soil. Their quantification is subject to high uncertainties, the emission rates are very variable and the responsible processes are difficult, though not impossible, to influence.

The current IPCC methodology for calculating  $N_2O$  emissions from fertilized agricultural land use an emission factor of  $1.25\% \pm 1\%$  of applied fertilizer as the only controlling variable. This approach has the benefit of administrative simplicity, but it also gives the impression that the only way to reduce  $N_2O$  emissions is to reduce the N input. The current factor was based upon 20 annual emission estimates available by 1994 (Bouwman, 1996). Today, more data are available, making it possible to reevaluate the existing factor as well as the usefulness of such factors.

Our analysis, as well as other similar studies, indicated that a global emission factor of 1.25% is too large; including more data lead to a lower factor which varied with type and amount of data included in the evaluation, but centered around 0.8%. The geographical distribution of these studies was very uneven, hence any global emission equation should be regarded as provisional until this deficiency has been corrected. Further, including more data resulted in a wide scattering of emissions, where nitrogen application rates explained less than 15% of the variation, compared with more than 50% in the smaller original data set upon which the IPCC default value is based. Such wide scattering is expected because emissions from a field result from biological processes, which again depend on numerous factors such as soil temperature, water content, degradable organic matter, soil texture etc. in addition to nitrogen availability. This points to the potential for reducing emissions through improved management of agricultural operations, rather than merely reducing nitrogen inputs and thus yields.

A more realistic model that includes the main drivers should be developed and validated. Such a model would be a useful tool for identification of farming practices that may reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Many studies on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions exist, but they vary with regard to crop, fertilizer type, and management, they often cover only part of the year, and information on important drivers is commonly lacking. This reduces their usefulness for statistical treatment and modeling, and more closely supervised long-term field trials are thus recommended.

#### Introduction

In contrast to N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from the use of fertilizers, emissions from fertilizer production can be estimated accurately, and technologies are now under development that may reduce emissions from production facilities to a small fraction of the present level. The dominant sources in the future will thus be agricultural op-

erations, hence it is important to get accurate estimates of emissions also from these sources, and to identify measures that may reduce emissions.

The current guidelines (IPCC, 1997) for calculating national direct N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from the application of N fertilizers and animal manure include a default global emission factor of 1.25% (0.25-2.25%) for N fertilizer-induced emissions. An emission factor for N fixed by legumes is also included, as well as a method to calculate the indirect emissions from N lost from the soil-plant system by leaching and ammonia volatilisation. The latest IPCC guidelines (IPCC, 2000) allow countries to use national emission factors based on local measurement data. However, national emission factors require documentation and are subject to review by UNFCCC. Further, emission factors are also introduced to account for the N contribution from crop residues and green manure crops.

The use of such emission factors has the advantage of being administratively simple, but this approach also implies that the only way to reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from agriculture is by reducing the N input. Fertilizer use is expected to increase along with projections for population growth. Hence, it is important to identify management practices that may reduce the N<sub>2</sub>O emissions per unit of food produced. A large number of publications on the effect of farm management practices on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions already exist, which stem from locations with varying conditions with respect to soil, climate and management, different crops and fertilizer types etc. In addition, annual variation in weather conditions leads to large variation in emission rates from the same locality. Unfortunately, details about important drivers are often lacking. This makes published N<sub>2</sub>O emission data difficult to interpret. Statistical analysis and modeling are therefore the most appropriate tools. The objective of this work was to evaluate the usefulness of statistical tools for identification of main drivers for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, and how these are influenced by management practices. The long-term objective of the research is to define those management practices that reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions to a minimum.

#### Materials and methods

#### Data selection

We have used three datasets that differ in numbers of observations included, where observation here refers to a series of measurements covering one set of experimental conditions which is carried out over a given period of time. Dataset 1, compiled by the authors, consisted of about 300 observations collected from published studies covering the period 1992-1999. Among these, 114 observations came from measurements that lasted for one year or more, but no measurement periods were shorter than two months. Dataset 2, compiled by IFA/FAO (2001) and Bouwman et al. (2002), comprised more than 900 observations published

since 1980 covering a wide range of measurement periods, of which about 240 last for one year or more. Dataset 3 was taken from Kaiser & Ruser (2000) and covered about 100 observations from Germany only. All observations in Dataset 3 were annual emissions covering the period 1992–1996. Most, but not all, of the observations in Datasets 1 and 3 were included in the larger Dataset 2.

Organic soils, legumes and grazed grassland, as well as fertilizer rates above 500 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> were excluded in accordance with Bouwman's earlier selection criteria (Bouwman, 1996). Both of the Datasets 1 and 2 – but particularly the larger Dataset 2 - were inhomogeneous and unbalanced, e.g.:

- the observations cover a span of many years, but the individual observation periods last from only a few days to a few years;
- the geographical distribution and distribution over climates is uneven: 75% of long-term observations (one year duration) are from Europe. Further, experiments on bare soil and maize have mainly been done in North America, rice experiments dominate the tropics, while experiments on grassland, wheat, barley and vegetables have mainly been done in Europe;
- there is an unbalanced distribution of fertilizer types and amounts within and between the various crop types;
- information on management practices apart from fertilizer application rate is sparse;
- information on climatic conditions during the measurement period is variable.

For Dataset 2, observations shorter than 50 days were excluded from further analysis because they deviated from the others, with considerably higher emission rates and also a higher range of variation (Lægreid & Aastveit, 2002). The reduced Dataset 2 contained about 580 observations, of which 224 lasted for one year or more.

## Statistical analyses

Data included in the statistical analyses were:

- duration of observation: ≥50, ≥150, ≥300 days, ≥1 year, or 50-150, 151-300,
   >300 days;
- soil factors (categories): texture (sand, silt, loam, clay), drainage properties (good, poor), pH (<6; 6-7.5; >7.5), organic carbon (<1.5; 1.5-3; >3%);
- crop type: bare soil, grass with or without legumes, cereals with or without further sub-divisions, vegetables consisting of several different crops including also crops such as oilseed rape and sunflower;

- fertilizer type: pure organic and mixed organic/mineral fertilizers were treated as separate groups or combined, mineral fertilizers were taken as one group or divided into NH<sub>3</sub>-based, NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>-based, NO<sub>3</sub>-based, or further detailed into various types (e.g. urea, AN, CAN);
- management practices: fertilizer application method, irrigation, ploughing, notill, crop residues incorporated;
- location: continents (North America, Europe, Australia/New Zealand, Tropics) or further subdivided into countries for Europe and six regions for the US;
- climate: annual precipitation.

Missing information was termed "unknown". Actual weather conditions and other soil conditions (e.g. soil water content and temperature) are known to be important modifiers of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, so for Dataset 1 attempts were made to include more relevant factors. However, in many instances information was absent or presented in a form, which was difficult to extract and incorporate into a worksheet.

The data were treated by use of linear models with the statistical programme SAS – for details, see Lægreid & Aastveit (2002). In addition, principal component analyses with cross validation of the model estimates (Wold, 1979) were run on Datasets 1 and 2.

There was more information available in dataset 3 than in the other two datasets, making a more detailed analysis possible:

- information on crop yield and N in/out balances was given;
- fertilizer application rate was related to estimated rates for optimal yield: 0,
   0.5 and 1 times the optimum level was applied;
- N inputs from other sources than fertilizers were included, i.e., atmospheric deposition and mineralization of soil organic matter;
- the emissions during winter were also included.

## **Results and discussion**

## Global emission factors – N fertilizer induced emissions

No clear correlation pattern was found between any of the input factors and  $N_2O$  emissions when using principal component analysis. Linear regression analysis of dataset 2 showed a significant correlation between N input and  $N_2O$  emissions. However, N applied could explain less than 15 % of the variability in the  $N_2O$  emissions, indicating that other important drivers for  $N_2O$  emission need to be identified. Log-transformation of the data, which reduces the influence of extreme values, did not affect the importance of N rate. A plot of  $N_2O$  emission versus N

input for observations lasting for one year or more gave a scattered picture (Fig. 1A). The trend line indicated that on average 0.9% of N applied was emitted as  $N_2O$  based on linear regression, while the corresponding value for a regression of log-transformed values was approximately 0.7%. IFA/FAO (2001) and Bouwman et al. (2002) reported an emission factor of 0.8% for the same data.

Plotting the average emissions of each 10 observations at their average N application rate reduced the large variation and improved the explanation without changing the slope (Fig. 1B). Mineral fertilizers dominated as N source, so including only mineral fertilizers gave the same result.



Figure 1. Plots of N<sub>2</sub>O emission as a function of N applied for measurements lasting for one year or more. A: Linear plot from dataset 2; B: Like A, but taking averages of 10 emissions at their average N rate; C: linear plot of only German data from dataset 2; D: linear plot of data from dataset 3.

A linear regression plot of data set 1 gave an N-induced emission factor of 0.7%, with the same low degree of explanation.

Among the annual observations in dataset 2, 75% were from Europe, and half of these again were from Germany. Using a subgroup of dataset 2 including only observations from Germany (approx. 90 observations) gave an equally scattered picture, with an N-induced emission factor of 0.7% (Fig. 1C). Treating dataset 3 in the same way – excluding all legumes - resulted in an emission factor of 0.35% (Fig. 1D). The number of observations included was approximately the same for the two different German data sets. Most of the observations were also the same, but there were some deviations; dataset 3 contained slightly more observations on wheat and barley, while dataset 2 contained some more data on grass and other crops. Hence, the emission factor obtained depends on the data included. Similar scattered plots of N<sub>2</sub>O emission versus N applied were found by others (Kaiser et al., 1996; Kaiser and Ruser, 2000; Kasimir-Klemedtsson, 2001).

The total emissions from agricultural land are higher than from pristine unfertilized fields. Some of the difference is due to increased N inputs (N fertilizerinduced emissions), but other factors (e.g., crop type, management practice and weather conditions) may also enhance N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes from fields.



Figure 2. Annual (open symbols, fully drawn trend line) and summer (closed symbols, dashed trend line) emissions based on dataset 3. A: all data minus legumes; B: only mineral N.

Kaiser & Ruser (2000) included information on the fraction of the annual emissions which was being released during winter. The winter emission ranged from 7 to 89% of the annual emission, driven mainly by freeze/thaw cycles. The additional information made it possible to distinguish between annual and summer emissions, as shown in Fig. 2 for dataset 3 excluding legumes (Fig. 2A), and for mineral N only (Fig. 2B) where also green manure inputs are excluded. Including only mineral fertilizers reduced the emission factor further compared to when other N sources were included. However, in both cases the annual and the summer N fertilizer-induced emission factors were almost identical, but there is an upward parallel displacement of the trend line for the annual compared to the summer emission due to winter emissions. Winter emissions seemed to be independent of N fertilizer input.

The variability of  $N_2O$  emission factors depended on which data sets were included in the analysis. This is illustrated further in Table 1, where dataset 2 has been subdivided into regions/countries and observation periods.

10 , TCuuc	cs min		/•			
Location	n	Emission >50 d	n	Emission >150 d	n	Emission >300d
Europe	282	1.87 + 0.0119*N	227	2.1 + 0.009*N	170	1.64 + 0.0086*N
		0.40 + 0.00090*N		0.41 + 0.00081*N		0.37 + 0.00084*N
Germany	113	2.19 + 0.0169*N	100	2.39 + 0.0138*N	88	2.28 + 0.0072*N
Germany	115	0.24 + 0.0012*N	100	0.29 + 0.0011*N	00	0.255 + 0.00077*N
		0.24 + 0.0012 1		0.25 + 0.0011 1		0.233 + 0.00077 1
UK	101	2.23 + 0.0074*N	81	1.79 + 0.0082*N	53	1.13 + 0.0097*N
		0.18 + 0.00088*N		0.12 + 0.0010*N		0.0095 + 0.0013*N
Belgium/	18	7.85 + 0.0018*N	16	1.97 + 0.012*N	9	1.43 + 0.011*N
Netherlands	10		10		9	0.0013 + 0.0019*N
Nethenanus		0.028 + 0.0015*N		0.032 + 0.0020*N		$0.0013 \pm 0.0019$ m
Scandinavia	31	-0.6 + 0.057*N	19	1.63 – 0.0024*N	12	1.34 – 0.0004*N
		-0.001 + 0.0026*N		0.19 – 0.0010*N		0.12 – 0.00043*N
France/Spain	25	0.6 + 0.011*N	17	0.22 + 0.011*N	12	0.088 + 0.0103*N
/Italy	23	-0.32 + 0.0031*N	17	-0.63 + 0.00375*N	12	-0.80 + 0.0043*N
/italy		-0.32 + 0.0031 1		-0.03 + 0.00373 N		-0.00 + 0.0045 1
N. America	188	1.43 + 0.0285*N	95	0.19 + 0.028*N	35	1.19 + 0.0072*N
		0.38 + 0.00164*N		0.32 + 0.00160*N		0.29 + 0.0012*N
Tranica	00	0.0 1.0 01.4*N	21	1 25 · 0 015*N	17	1 52 . 0 015*N
Tropics	90	0.8 + 0.014*N	31	1.35 + 0.015*N	17	1.52 + 0.015*N
		0.31 + 0.00127*N		0.34 + 0.0013*N		0.37 + 0.00115*N
Australia/	14	-8.3 + 0.081*N	6	3.25 - 0.0022 *N	6	3.25 - 0.0022 *N
New Zealand		0.25 + 0.0022*N		0.48 + 0.00016*N		0.48 + 0.00016*N

Table 1: Dataset 2; numbers of observations (n) and emission equations derived for continents and countries/regions in Europe, for various observation periods. First line: linear regression ( $E = a + b*N_rate$ ); second line in italics: logtransformed regression ( $E = 10^a * 10^{b*N_rate}$ ; reduces influence from extremes).

For most countries and regions, the number of observations lasting for >300 days were too few to make a separate analysis meaningful, with Germany and the UK as exceptions. When including observations lasting for >50 and >150 days, emissions for the larger regions increased in the order Europe < The Tropics < North America, but when turning to observations of >300 days, the sequence

changed for the linear regression of emission data, but not for the log-transformed regression. When looking at only Germany and the UK, the sequence changed for both the linear and log-transformed regressions, i.e., the sequence when including observations >50 and > 150 days was UK < Germany, but when switching to observations >300 days the sequence became Germany < UK.

Thus, both global and country-specific emission factors changed depending on which data were included in the analysis. However, in nearly all instances the emission factors were lower than the currently used IPCC factor, and centered around 0.8%. Without exception, the degree of explanation was low. Due to climatic variations, regional emission models should be developed, but with the current low and varying amount of data available and with emission estimates based only upon N inputs, the justification for introducing country-specific emission factors is questionable. Furthermore, due to the dominance of observations from Northern Europe, the global emission factor mainly reflects this region with its particular climatic conditions, e.g., cold winters. Including more data from regions such as Asia might change the global emission factor.

Use of cover crops and crop residue incorporation are common practices in Europe, and emissions from these N sources will be reflected in the total annual emission. The new IPCC guidelines (IPCC, 2000) include emission factors also for incorporated crop residues and green manures. This is commendable, but requires adjustment of the emission factors to fit realities in the field. Unfortunately, in most of the available studies it is difficult to distinguish between the emissions from the various N sources. Including emission factors for these N sources based on the present emission factors may thus result in double accounting, since these are already included in the overall annual emission factor for fertilizers.

#### Other factors of importance for N<sub>2</sub>O emission

Visual inspection of the points above the trend line of the various data sets indicated that the following operations tend to be associated with enhanced emissions of  $N_2O$ :

- injection of anhydrous ammonia;
- application of organic or mixed organic/mineral fertilizers;
- growing of vegetables mainly potatoes irrespective of fertilizer type;
- ploughing-in of crop residues and green manure;
- fertilizers applied to poorly drained grassland in Scotland.

However, these trends were not distinct. When analyzing the entire dataset 2 in more detail (Lægreid & Aastveit, 2002), the following factors were found to have a

statistically significant influence on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in addition to N application rate:

- fertilizer type: organic plus mixed organic/mineral fertilizers emitted more N<sub>2</sub>O than pure mineral fertilizers, but there were no significant difference between the various mineral fertilizer types;
- crop type: generally the overall emission increased in the order grass < cereals</li>
   vegetables, but the N fertilizer induced emissions for these various crops was
   not significantly different;
- soil organic carbon: there is a trend of increasing N<sub>2</sub>O emission with increasing soil organic carbon;
- drainage: poorly drained soils emit more N<sub>2</sub>O than well drained soils;
- pH: there is a trend of increasing emissions with increasing pH.

Only soil organic carbon was found to interact with N application rate, i.e., the fertilizer-induced emission was higher from soils rich in carbon than from soils with a low carbon content.

Further breakdown of the data into sub-groups based on country or region, duration of observation, crop or mineral fertilizer type etc. gave no improved explanation.

Important drivers for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions are high soil moisture contents, freezing/thawing and drying/wetting cycles, and substrate availability (e.g., organic matter and nitrogen), together defining soil and climatic conditions (Flessa et al., 1995; Clayton et al., 1997; Dobbie et al., 1999). The few measurements spanning over two years or more showed that differences in emissions between management or fertilization practices within one year were smaller then the differences between identical treatments from one year to the next (Clayton et al., 1997; Kaiser et al., 1998a,b), as illustrated by Table 2.

Table 2:  $N_2O$  emission from grassland in Scotland at various fertilizer types and years (Clayton et al, 1997).

Year	N rate		AS	Urea	CN	AN	Slurry	Contro	bl
1992	360	Emission:	0.7	3.0	1.6	1.5	(0.5)*	0.04	kg N/ha,y
1993	360	Emission:	1.3	5.2	4.0	4.2	6.4	0.3	kg N/ha,y

\*no measurements immediately after first application;

AS = ammonium sulphate; CN = calcium nitrate; AN = ammonium nitrate

In the example above, winter emissions were low. Differences in weather conditions in the periods after fertilizer applications probably caused the interannual variability illustrated in Table 2. Further, as shown in several German studies, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions during winter can range from 7 to 89% of annual emissions (Flessa et al., 1995; Röver et al., 1998; Kaiser et al., 1998b; Kaiser & Ruser, 2000). We thus hypothesize that differences in emissions between management practices can be overshadowed by differences in emissions caused by climatic variations.

Crop type and yield, rotation and previous farming practices also influence N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Kaiser & Ruser (2000) found better correlation between average N<sub>2</sub>O emissions during a crop rotation and average soil N input/output balances during the same rotation than with N application rate when comparing six sites in Germany. However, there are few data covering an entire rotation, and no such correlation was found when looking at the larger set of individual annual emission rates and N input/output balances.

The influence of previous cropping history was illustrated by Mogge et al. (1999), who found that a field kept for 30 years under a crop rotation with manure application emitted more than twice as much N<sub>2</sub>O as a field farmed to maize monoculture for 20 years. Both fields had the same texture and organic matter content, they were both planted to maize during the observation period, and yields were similar. Differences in microbial biomass seemed to be the main reason.

Ploughing in of cover crops and crop residues increases  $N_2O$  emissions in inverse relation to the C/N ratio of the plant material (Baggs et al., 2000; Larsson et al., 1998).

Hence, climatic conditions, crop types and rotation practice as well as previous cropping history are all factors that need to be considered when evaluating  $N_2O$  emissions from agricultural land.

#### N<sub>2</sub>O emission and food production

Today, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions are reported per unit of land area, and the only way to reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emission with reference to the IPCC guidelines is to reduce N input. However, fertilizer input is a prerequisite for food production. Projections of population growth indicate the need for an increased input of fertilizers. Nitrous oxide emissions cannot be avoided, hence an optimal use of fertilizers to provide the necessary food for the world population with a minimum loss of N to the environment should be the ultimate goal. Information on N<sub>2</sub>O emission per unit yield is therefore of more interest than the present information related to land area. In most publications, yield information is lacking, but it was included by Kaiser & Ruser (2000). Using their data, it is clear that the N<sub>2</sub>O emissions per unit yield did not differ much between N applied at optimum, at half-optimum, or at zero N input where atmospheric deposition and mineralization of soil organic matter were the only sources of N (Fig. 3). The two high emission data points in square represent oilseed rape from 1996 when yields were very low; yields for the zero N plot of the same data series were nearly absent and thus not included in this comparison.

Henault et al. (1998) found that over-fertilization increased  $N_2O$  emissions compared to fertilization at optimum N rate. Hence, fertilization at optimum N rates with regard to crop yield seems to be the best practice for food production with least  $N_2O$  emissions. Overfertilization may increase  $N_2O$  emissions, while fertilization below yield optimum did not seem to reduce  $N_2O$  emissions per unit of food produced.



Figure 3. Percentage of N emitted as N<sub>2</sub>O per unit N yield for annual emissions (left) and summer emissions (right). Source: Kaiser & Ruser (2000). The two points with notably high emissions (marked in square) represent oilseed rape from 1996, the year with highest overall emissions.

Different regions of the world, such as hot dry and cold temperate regions, and different farming systems, e.g., irrigated versus non-irrigated land, and extensive versus intensive farming, have different productivity. Their overall N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates will most likely also vary. How the land is managed will probably also influence N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, but this is difficult to evaluate based on the data available today, particularly with regard to emissions per unit of product output.

#### Conclusion

Fertilizer N input explains only a fraction of the variation in N<sub>2</sub>O emitted from agricultural fields. Hence, a better model to estimate N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and improve the IPCC model, as well as to identify good management practices that improve crop N utilization and reduce all N losses including N<sub>2</sub>O emission, is desirable.

Statistical tools and modelling are becoming increasingly powerful, but this cannot substitute missing data. Many of the published studies available lacked relevant information on factors that might influence N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, or the information was given in a form which was difficult to extract and make use of in

worksheet form. We therefore recommend that the following data should be reported in future studies:

- split observations between high/low emission periods, and reporting of all relevant information for each period in an extractable form;
- soil parameters: include data for water filled pore space, the mineral N content in the soil, previous field use;
- crop: species and observed yields;
- climate: precipitation and temperature;
- management: type and method of fertilizer application, number and timing of splits, calculated optimal application and yield, as well as soil preparation, irrigation schedules, use of cover crops, crop residue incorporation.

Preferably observations should last for at least two years; even better data would be obtained if they lasted throughout a whole rotation. Additional improvements could be achieved if experiments were coordinated across field and country borders. EU programmes such as the MIDAIR (EVK2-2000-22045) on biogenic greenhouse gas emissions from dairy farming, which includes N<sub>2</sub>O monitoring from arable soils in several countries using identical methodology, could be the way forward. This would make it easier to identify the most important drivers and give recommendations for farming practices that may contribute to reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Vegetables might be hot-spots for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, but on a global basis grassland and cereals are the dominant crops. To reduce the number of factors involved, we therefore recommend to concentrate on grass and cereals.

#### Acknowledgements

We wish to thank A.F. Bouwman who put his data file at our disposal.

#### References

- Baggs, E.M., Rees, R.M., Smith, K.A. & Vinten, J.A. (2000) Nitrous oxide emission from soils after incorporation of crop residues. Soil Use and Management **16**, 82-87.
- Bouwman, A.F. (1996) Direct emission of nitrous oxide from agricultural soils. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **46**, 53-70.
- Bouwman, A.F., Boumans, L.J.M. & Batjes, N.H. (2002) Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and NO from fertilized fields: Summary of available measurement data. Submitted to Global Biogeochemical Cycles.
- Clayton, H., McTaggart, I.P., Parker, J., Swan, L. & Smith, K.A. (1997) Nitrous oxide emissions from fertilised grassland: A 2-year study of the effects of N fertiliser form and environmental conditions. Biology and Fertilityof Soils **25**, 252-260.

- Dobbie, K.E., McTaggert, I.P. & Smith, K.A. (1999) Nitrous oxide emissions from intensive agricultural systems: Variation between crops and season, key driving variables, and mean emission factors. Journal of Geophysical Research **104** (D21), 26891-26899.
- Flessa, H., Dörsch, P. & Beese, F. (1995) Seasonal variation of N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes in differently managed arable soils in southern Germany. Journal of Geophysical Research **100** (D11), 23115-23124.
- Henault, C., Devis, X., Page, S., Justes, E., Reau, R. & Germon, J.C. (1998) Nitrous oxide emissions under different soil and land management conditions. Biology and Fertility of Soils **26**, 199-207.
- IFA/FAO (2001) Global estimates of gaseous emissions of NH<sub>3</sub>, NO and N<sub>2</sub>O.: 66. http://www.fertilizer.org/ifa/form/pub\_det.asp?id=916
- IPCC (1997) Reporting Instructions (Vol. 1), Workbook (Vol. 2), Reference Manual (Vol 3). Greenhouse Gas Inventory. (Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines). Bracknell, UK, Meteorological Office.
- *IPCC (2000) Good practice guidance and uncertainty management in natural greenhouse gas inventories. http://www.ipcc.ch/pub/guide.htm.*
- Kaiser, E.A., Eiland, F., Germon, J.C., Gispert, M.A., Heinemeyer, O., Henault, C., Lind, A.M., Maag, M., Saguer, E., Van Cleemput, O., Vermoesen, A. & Webster, C. (1996)
  What predicts nitrous oxide emissions and denitrification N-loss from European soils?
  Z. Pflanzenernähr. Bodenk. 159, 541-547.
- Kaiser, E.A., Kohrs, K., Küche, M., Schnug, E., Heinemeyer, O. & Munch, J.C. (1998a) Nitrous oxide release from arable soil: importance of N-fertilization, crops and temporal variation. Soil Biol. Biochem. 30, 1553-1563.
- Kaiser, E.A., Kohrs, K., Küche, M., Schnug, E., Munch, J.C. & Heinemeyer, O. (1998b) Nitrous oxide release from arable soil: importance of perennial forage crops. Biol Fertil Soils 28, 36-43.
- Kaiser, E.A. & Ruser, R. (2000) Nitrous oxide emissions from arable soils in Germany An evaluation of six long-term field experiments. Journal of Plant Nutrition & Soil Science **163**, 249-260.
- Kasimir-Klemedtsson, Å. (2001) Metodik för skattning av jordbrukets emissjoner av lustgas. Underlag för Sveriges nationalrapport til Klimatkonventionen., Naturvårdsverket: 23 (in Swedish).
- Larsson, L., Ferm, M., Kasimir-Klemedtsson, Å. & Klemedtsson, L. (1998) Ammonia and nitrous oxide emissions from grass and alfalfa mulches. Nutrient Cycling in Agroeco-systems **51**, 41-46.
- Lægreid, M. & Aastveit, A.H. (2002) N<sub>2</sub>O emission from fertilizer use. Proceedings Third International Symposium on Non-CO<sub>2</sub> Greenhouse Gases (NCGG-3), Maastricht, Netherlands, 21-23 January. In prep.
- Mogge, B., Kaiser, E-A. & Munch, J-C. (1999) Nitrous oxide emissions and denitrification N-losses from agricultural soils in the Bornhöved lake region: influence of organic fertilizer and land-use. Soil Biology and Biochemistry **31**, 1245-1252.
- Röver, M., Heinemeyer, O. & Kaiser, E.A. (1998) Microbial induced nitrous oxide emissions from an arable soil during winter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry **30**, 1859-1865.
- Wold, S. (1979) Cross-validatory of the number of components in factor analysis and principal component methods. Technometrics, **20**, 397-406.

## Nitrous oxide emissions at low temperatures

Pertti J. Martikainen University of Kuopio, Department of Environmental Sciences, P.O. Box 1627, FIN-70211 Kuopio, Finland e-mail: pertti.martikainen@uku.fi

#### Summary

Microbial processes in soil are generally stimulated by temperature, but at low temperatures there are anomalies in the response of microbial activities. Soil physical-chemical characteristics allow existence of unfrozen water in soil also at temperatures below zero. Therefore, some microbial activities, including those responsible for nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) production, can take place even in "frozen" soil. Nitrous oxide emissions during winter are important even in boreal regions where they can account for more than 50% of the annual emissions. Snowpack therefore has great importance for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, as it insulates soil from the air allowing higher temperatures in soil than in air, and possible changes in snow cover as a result of global warming would thus affect the N<sub>2</sub>O emission from northern soils. Freezing-thawing cycles highly enhance N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from soil, probably because microbial nutrients, released from disturbed soil aggregates and lysed microbial cells, support microbial N<sub>2</sub>O production. However, the overall interactions between soil physics, chemistry, microbiology and N<sub>2</sub>O production at low temperatures, including effects of freezing-thawing cycles, are still poorly known.

#### Introduction

Microbial processes in soil are controlled by a network of physical, chemical and biological factors. Temperature is the key parameter driving microbial activity in soil. Among microbes there is a high diversity in their reaction to temperature. However, most microbial activities in soil decrease with decreasing temperature. The effect of temperature on soil and its biota is more complex at low temperature, especially when the temperature fluctuates between minus and plus degrees.

There is an urgent need to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases associated with various anthropogenic activities. Soils, especially the agricultural ones, are globally the main source of nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), an efficient greenhouse gas which also participates in reactions destroying ozone in the stratosphere (Kroeze et al., 1999). To control N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, knowledge about soil processes as affected by land-use practices is required. Recently, the high capacity of soils to produce N<sub>2</sub>O even at low temperatures has received attention (e.g. Flessa et al., 1998; Groffman et al., 2001; Kaiser et al., 1998a,b; Röver et al., 1998; Teepe et al., 2001; Papen & Buterbach-Bahl, 1999; Prieme & Christensen, 2001). Feedback mechanisms caused by global warming could also highly affect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from soils in the future. In northern regions, the soil temperature remains at a low level for several months and for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions the change in the temperature dur-

ing the "cold" seasons may therefore be even more important than the change in mean annual temperature.

The N<sub>2</sub>O production at low temperatures cannot be understood by considering only the physiological capacity of soil microbes to be active at various temperatures. At low temperatures, including sub-zero ones, soil physics and chemistry highly affect soil microbiology. This paper shortly discusses the physical, chemical and biological aspects of N<sub>2</sub>O production at low temperatures.

## Biology behind the N<sub>2</sub>O production

Nitrification and denitrification are the main microbial processes involved in N<sub>2</sub>O production. In chemolithotrophic nitrification, ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) is oxidized first to nitrite  $(NO_2)$  and further to nitrate  $(NO_3)$  by bacteria, which gain energy from the oxidation of these inorganic compounds and utilize carbon from carbon dioxide for cell growth. The bacterial species in chemolithotrophic nitrification oxidize either ammonium or nitrite – the same organism cannot oxidize both. Some N<sub>2</sub>O is produced in connection with ammonium oxidation, especially at low oxygen concentrations (Poth & Focht, 1985). In denitrification, denitrifying bacteria in their respiration replace oxygen with nitrate, if oxygen is depleted. Most of them need organic substrates as energy source and for the synthesis of cell constituents. Denitrification is a stepwise process, where nitrate is reduced via nitrite, nitric oxide (NO) and nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) to nitrogen gas ( $N_2$ ). Some denitrifiers are capable of starting the reduction with nitrite. Also, the gaseous species N<sub>2</sub>O and NO can be taken up from the environment and then be further reduced. Denitrification is closely linked to nitrification via nitrate/nitrite production. Nitrous oxide production can thus be favoured by increasing availability of ammonium and/or nitrate.

In soils, ammonium can originate from external sources (fertilization, deposition) or from mineralization of nitrogenous organic matter. Without external nitrate, some oxygen is always needed to generate nitrate/nitrite. In addition to nitrate, organic substrates are essential for denitrification. Therefore, also vegetation has a connection to denitrification, because plants take up inorganic nitrogen and release organic substrates in their above- and below-ground litter production. Also, root exudates are an important source of easily decomposable organic substances to the soil. Denitrification in soil is partly regulated by the general microbial activity which regulates the oxygen status of the soil via oxygen consumption (Fig. 1).

There are factors which affect not only the overall denitrification rate, but also the relative activity of the key enzymes in denitrification (Fig. 1). The activity of nitrous oxide reductase, the enzyme reducing  $N_2O$  to  $N_2$ , decreases under some conditions, thereby increasing the ratio of  $N_2O$  to  $N_2$  in the gaseous end products. Therefore, the emission of  $N_2O$  can increase even without any increase in total denitrification (the sum of  $N_2O$  and  $N_2$ ). An increase in oxygen availability is a basic factor increasing the  $N_2O:N_2$  ratio (Firestone & Davidson, 1989). Similarly, high concentrations of nitrate in soil cause an imbalance in the activity of nitrous oxide reductase and the preceding reductases which increases the ratio of  $N_2O$  to  $N_2$  from denitrification (Blackmer & Bremner, 1978; Cho & Sakdinan, 1978; Nömmik et al., 1984). Low pH and low temperature, typical characteristics of boreal soils, are among the factors retarding the activity of nitrous oxide reductase (Focht & Verstraete, 1977; Firestone & Davidson, 1989). In accordance with this,  $N_2O$  is often the main end product of denitrification in boreal acidic soils (Regina et al., 1996, Maljanen et al., unpublished).



Figure 1. Relationships between soil physical, chemical and biological characteristics  $N_2O$  production via denitrification.

## Soil as an environment allowing activity at low temperature

When considering N<sub>2</sub>O production in northern soils, periods with a temperature below zero cannot be neglected. Biological activity requires the presence of water, but the soil is an environment that allows the presence of unfrozen water below 0°C, During freezing, dissolved inorganic and organic compounds will concentrate in an unfrozen film around the soil inorganic/organic matrix. The proportion of unfrozen water drops rapidly as the soil temperature decreases from 0°C to -1 or -2°C. However, after this initial sharp decrease the content of unfrozen water remains almost constant with further temperature decrease (Patterson & Smith, 1981). As stated above, unfrozen water exists as a film around the soil matrix (Fig. 2), and clay soils with a high specific surface therefore have a greater capacity to retain unfrozen water than more coarse-textured soils. The nutritional conditions for microbes are good in the unfrozen film, because inorganic and organic solutes are excluded from the freezing water. Microbial oxygen consumption in an unfrozen film surrounded by ice can be expected to create oxygen deficiency and thereby stimulate denitrification (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. A conceptual model for  $N_2O$  production in soils at temperatures below 0°C. When soil temperature falls below zero there is a liquid water film around the soil matrix. Inorganic and organic microbial nutrients are transported from the freezing water into the liquid film. The high nutrient concentrations in the film would favour microbial processes like nitrification and denitrification. Low oxygen availability in water films surrounded by ice would enhance denitrification and  $N_2O$  production (modified from Teepe et al., 2001).

Microbial enzymatic activities in the "physiological" temperature range theoretically follow the temperature dependency of chemical reactions described by the Arrhenius equation. A temperature increase of 10°C,  $Q_{10}$ , is known to increase, e.g., respiration on average 2.4 fold (Raich & Schlesinger, 1992).  $Q_{10}$  values for denitrification have ranged from 1.5 to 3.0 at temperatures between 10 and 35°C (Knowles, 1982). However, at low soil temperatures (that is, a few degrees below and above zero) much higher  $Q_{10}$  values for microbial respiration have been reported, even higher than 10 (Clein & Schimel, 1995). It is probable that these high  $Q_{10}$  values do not describe solely the effect of temperature on microbial respiration, but reflect also an effect on the availability of substrates at low temperatures (Clein & Schimel, 1995). Relative microbial activities thus react much stronger to small temperature changes at low temperatures than at higher temperatures. This would have importance also for denitrification at temperatures close to zero (see below).

#### Freezing and thawing of soil

It has been clearly shown that microbial activities (Rivkina et al., 2000), including denitrification (Teepe et al., 2001), take place at soil temperatures below zero. There is evidence that N<sub>2</sub>O can be produced in boreal agricultural soils at least down to  $-6^{\circ}C$  (Koponen et al., unpublished). However, the highest N<sub>2</sub>O emissions generally occur during periods when the soil temperature fluctuates between minus and plus degrees (Prieme & Christensen, 2001; Teepe et al., 2000; 2001). Several reasons for the high microbial activity in thawing soil can be given. It has been known for decades that freezing-thawing or drying-wetting disturb soil aggregate structure, which increases the availability of inorganic and organic substances supporting activity of soil microbes (Soulides & Allison, 1961; Denel et al., 2001; Prieme & Christensen, 2001). In denitrification, the availability of energy is among the key factors regulating the process (Fig. 1). Therefore, it is not surprising that soil freezing-thawing as well as drying-wetting increases the N<sub>2</sub>O evolution from soil (Prieme & Christensen, 2001; Teepe et al., 2001). Both these "stress factors" can evidently also destroy microbial cells in the soil, and part of the substrate available probably originates from lysed cells. Also, the microbes contributing to the increase in the N<sub>2</sub>O production after soil thawing or wetting are able to respond rapidly to the elevated substrate availability. A portion of the N<sub>2</sub>O emitted during thawing can originate from the release of N<sub>2</sub>O produced in unfrozen water films, but trapped in the soil by the surrounding ice (Teepe et al., 2001; Koponen et al., unpublished).

Chemodenitrification would also participate in the  $N_2O$  production in frozen soil. Nitrite is known to react with humic substances producing  $N_2O$  (Stevenson, 1982). Nitrite from nitrification or nitrate reduction would concentrate in the unfrozen water film together with the other solutes (see above) and may react there with organic matter.

#### Nitrous oxide emissions during winter

Winter emissions of  $N_2O$  can contribute significantly to annual emissions, also in regions with sub-zero temperatures during winter (Table 1). The previous sections have shown that there is a potential for  $N_2O$  production in unfrozen films around soil particles at sub-zero soil temperatures. Also, the soil temperature during winter can be considerably higher than the air temperature if there is a thick snowpack insulating the soil from the air (Papen & Butterbach-Bahl, 1999). There are results showing that  $N_2O$  emissions during winter are highly regulated by the thickness and timing of snowpack, and by the length of the period with snow cover (Brooks & Schmidt, 1997).

Site location	Site type	Cold season emissions (% of the annual)	Reference		
Central Germany	Agricultural Fallow	58 45	Teepe et al. (2000)		
	Forest	50			
Lower Saxony, Gemany	Agricultural (silty loam)	70	Röver et al. (1998)		
Lower Saxony, Germany	Agricultural (luvisol)	50	Kaiser et al. (1998a)		
Lower Saxony, Germany	Agricultural (sandy loam)	47	Kaiser et al. (1998b)		
USA, Rocky Mountains	Alpine tundra	> 50	Brooks & Schmidt (1997)		
Eastern Finland	Organic agricultural Forested organic soil	30-60 60	Maljanen et al. (unpubl.)		
Eastern Finland	Organic agricultural Forested fen	38 28	Alm et al. (1999)		
Eastern Finland	Forested fen	37-52	Regina et al. (1998)		

Table 1. Emissions of  $N_2O$  during cold seasons as a percentage of total annual emissions from some soils located in boreal/temperate regions.

# Global warming and the N<sub>2</sub>O emissions

Global warming is likely to increase N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by enhancing both organic matter mineralization, nitrification and denitrification. However, if the extent of snowpack covering the soil is also reduced as a result of warm winters, the change in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions during winter is difficult to predict. If the insulating effect of the snowpack is reduced, the soil temperature would be lower during winter, decreasing microbial activities and N<sub>2</sub>O production. On the other hand, the possibly more frequent freezing-thawing cycles during winter would increase N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. In a changing climate, mild freeze events will probably be common. The effects of mild freeze on soil nutrient dynamics and denitrification seem to vary, at least in forest ecosystems (Groffman et al., 2001).

## Low-temperature N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and IPCC quidelines

The  $N_2O$  emissions at low temperatures have to be known for the accurate regional  $N_2O$  inventory. The short-term periods with high  $N_2O$  emissions associated with the sub-zero temperature fluctuations are a special challenge to the inventory methodology. There can be a great annual variation in the cold-season emissions depending, e.g., on the numbers of freezing-thawing cycles. As mentioned above the freezing-thawing cycles and their high N<sub>2</sub>O emissions would increase with global warming which obviously affects the N<sub>2</sub>O inventory.

#### References

- Alm, J., Saarnio, S., Nykänen, H., Silvola, J. & Martikainen. P.J. (1999) Winter CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes on some natural and drained peatlands. Biogeochemistry **44**, 163-199.
- Blackmer, A.M. & Bremner, J.M. (1978) Inhibitory effect of nitrate on reduction of N<sub>2</sub>O to N<sub>2</sub>by soil microorganisms. Soil Biology & Biochemistry **10**, 187-191.
- Brooks, P.D. & Schmidt, S.K. (1997) Winter production of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O from alpine tundra: environmental controls and relationship to inter-system C and N fluxes. Oecologia **110**, 403-413.
- Cho, C.M. & Sakdinan, L. (1978) Mass spectrometric investigation on denitrification. Canadian Journal of Soil Science **58**, 443-457.
- Clein, J.S. & Schimel, J.P. (1995) Microbial activity of tundra and taiga soils at sub-zero temperatures. Soil Biology & Biochemistry **27**, 1231-1234.
- Denel, K., Six, J., Paustian, K. & Merckx, R. (2001) Importance of macroaggregate dynamics in controlling soil carbon stabilization: short-term effects of physical disturbances induced by dry-wet cycles. Soil Biology & Biochemistry **33**, 2145-2153.
- Firestone, M.K. & Davidson, E.A. (1989) Microbiological basis of NO and N<sub>2</sub>O production and consumption in soil. In: Exchange of Trace Gases between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere, Life Sciences Research Report **47** (Eds M.O. Anders & D.S. Schimel), pp. 7-21, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester.
- Flessa, H., Wild, U., Klemisch, M. & Pfadenhauer, I. (1998) Nitrous oxide and methane fluxes from organic soils under agriculture. European Journal of Soil Science 49, 327-335.
- Focht, D.D. & Verstraete, W. (1977) Biochemical ecology of nitrification and denitrification. In: Advances in Microbial Ecology. Volume I, (Ed M. Alexander), pp. 135-214, Plenum Press, New York.
- Groffman, P.M., Driscoll, C.T., Fahey, T.J., Hardy, J.P., Fitzhugh, R.D. & Tierney G.L. (2001) Effects of mild winter freezing on soil carbon dynamics in a northern hardwood forest. Biogeochemistry **56**, 191-213.
- Kaiser, E.-A., Kohrs, K., Kucke, M., Schnug, E., Heinemeyer, O. & Munch, J.C. (1998a) Nitrous oxide release from arable soil: Importance of N-fertilization, crops and temporal variation. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 30, 1553-1563.
- Kaiser, E.-A., Kohrs, K., Kueke, M., Schnug, E., Munch, J. & Heinemyer, O. (1998b) Nitrous oxide release from arable soil: Importance of perennial forage crops. Biology and Fertility of Soils 28, 36-43.
- Knowles, R. (1982) Denitrification. Microbial Reviews 46, 43-70.
- Kroeze, C., Mosier, A. & Bouwman, L. (1999) Closing the global N<sub>2</sub>O budget: a retrospective analysis 1500-1994. Global Biogeochemical Cycles **13**, 1-8.
- Nömmik, H., Pluth, D.J. & Melin, J. (1984) Dissimilatory reduction of <sup>15</sup>N-labeled nitrate in the presence of nonlabeled NO or N<sub>2</sub>O. Canadian Journal of Soil Science **64**, 21-29.

- Papen, H. & Buterbach-Bahl, K. (1999) A 3-year continuous record of nitrogen trace gas fluxes from untreated and limed soil of a N-saturated spruce and beech forest ecosystem in Germany. I. N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Journal of Geophysical Research 1**04**, 18487-18503.
- Patterson, D.E. & Smith, M.W. (1981) The measurement of unfrozen water content by time domain reflectrometry: Results from laboratory tests. Canadian Geotechnical Journal 18, 131-144.
- Poth, M. & Focht, D.D. (1985)<sup>15</sup>N kinetic analysis of N<sub>2</sub>O production by Nitrosomonas europaea: an examination of nitrifier denitrification, Applied and Environmental Microbiology **49**, 1134-1141.
- Prieme, A. & Christensen, S. (2001) Natural perturbations, drying-wetting and freezingthawing cycles, and the emission of nitrous oxide, carbon dioxide and methane from farmed organic soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry **33**, 2081-2091.
- Raich, J.W. & Schlesinger, W.H. (1992) The global carbon dioxide flux in soil respiration and its relationship to vegetation and climate. Tellus **44B**, 81-99.
- Regina, K., Nykänen, H., Silvola, J. & Martikanen, P.J. (1996) Fluxes of nitrous oxide from boreal peatlands as affected by peatland type, water table level and nitrification capacity. Biogeochemistry **35**, 401-418.
- Regina, K., Nykänen, H., Maljanen, M., Silvola, J. & Martikainen, P.J. (1998) Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and NO and net nitrogen mineralization in a boreal forested peatland treated with different nitrogen compounds. Canadian Journal of Forest Research **28**, 132-140.
- Rivkina, E.M., Friedman, E.I., McKay, C.P. & Gilichinsky, D.A. (2000) Metabolic activity of permafrost below the freezing point. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **66**, 3230-3233.
- Röver, M., Flessa, H., Schilling, R., Steindl, H. & Beese, F. (1998) Microbial induced nitrous oxide emissions from arable soil during winter. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 30, 1859-1865.
- Soulides, D.A. & Allison, F.E. (1961) Effects of drying and freezing soils on carbon dioxide production, available mineral nutrients, aggregation, and bacterial population. Soil Science **91**, 291-298.
- Stevenson, F.J. (1982) Humus Chemistry. John Wiley & Sons. New York.
- Teepe, R., Brumme, R. & Beese, F. (2000) Nitrous oxide emissions from frozen soils under agricultural fallow and forest land. Soil Biology & Biochemistry **32**, 1807-1810.
- Teepe, R., Brumme, R. & Beese, F. (2001) Nitrous oxide emissions from soil during freezing and thawing periods. Soil Biology & Biochemistry **33**, 1269-1275.

# Nitrous oxide emissions derived from N leaching<sup>5</sup>

Peter M. Groffman<sup>1§</sup>, Arthur J. Gold<sup>2</sup>, Dorothy Q. Kellogg<sup>2</sup> and Kelly Addy<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Institute of Ecosystem Studies, Box AB, Millbrook, NY 12545 USA <sup>2</sup>University of Rhode Island, Department of Natural Resources Science, Kingston, RI 02881 USA <sup>§</sup>e-mail: GroffmanP@ecostudies.org

## Summary

Much of the fertilizer and manure nitrogen (N) that is applied to crop fields leaves the field in runoff and leaching to groundwater. This N is transformed as it moves across the landscape through riparian zones, rivers and estuaries, and nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) is produced along the way. In this paper, we 1) discuss the mechanisms that lead to these "indirect"  $N_2O$  emissions, 2) describe the Intergovernmental Program on Climate Change (IPCC) methodology for assessing these emissions, 3) review the data in support of the methodology, 4) discuss implications for mitigation and 5) summarize with a case study for the nation of Denmark.

## Introduction

Nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) is a "greenhouse" gas that influences the radiative budget of the earth and contributes to stratospheric ozone destruction (Mooney et al., 1987; Prather et al., 1995). The concentration of  $N_2O$  in the atmosphere is increasing at a rate of 0.2 - 0.3% a year and is responsible for approximately 5% of the global enhanced greenhouse effect (Prather et al., 1995).

Under the terms of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC) and the Kyoto protocol, each nation is required to compile national emission inventories for radiatively active trace gases (CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O). The Intergovernmental Program on Climate Change (IPCC) has developed protocols for quantifying N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from industry, agriculture and natural ecosystems (IPCC, 1997). The protocols for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from agriculture consider "direct" emissions from fertilized/manured crop fields as well as "indirect emissions." The indirect emission calculations attempt to account for N<sub>2</sub>O production associated with transformations of the significant amount of the fertilizer nitrogen (N) that leaves crop fields in harvest, leaching and runoff or is transferred to the atmosphere (Mosier et al., 1998).

In this paper, we discuss the mechanisms and rates of  $N_2O$  emission associated with the N that leaves crop fields in leaching and runoff. The IPCC methodology for calculating indirect emissions is based on the idea that small amounts of  $N_2O$ are produced as agriculturally derived N moves through the landscape from fields

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Much of the text in this paper is taken from Groffman et al. (2002).

to groundwater to streams to estuaries to the ocean. The validity of the methodology is hindered by the fact that the amounts of N moving across the landscape, and the emissions along the way, are poorly quantified. There is great interest in evaluating and improving the methodology because indirect emissions represent a significant fraction of the agricultural N<sub>2</sub>O source. Moreover, there is potential for mitigation of indirect emissions because there are active efforts to control the movement of N across the landscape for water quality protection. Methods for controlling N movement could possibly be adapted to reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. In the sections that follow, we 1) discuss the mechanisms that lead to indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, 2) describe the IPCC methodology for assessing these emissions, 3) review the data in support of the methodology, 4) discuss implications for mitigation and 5) summarize with a case study for the nation of Denmark.

#### Mechanisms

It has long been known that a significant portion of the fertilizer and manure N that is applied to crop fields leaves the field in leaching and runoff. A general assumption is that roughly 50% of N applied is removed in harvest (Keeney & Follett, 1991). Given that most agricultural soils are not accumulating organic matter (Paul & Clark, 1996), the other 50% of applied N leaves by either hydrologic or gaseous pathways. In regions where precipitation exceeds evaporation, especially during the non-growing season, the dominant vector of N loss is leaching of nitrate ( $NO_3^{-}$ ). Nitrate is a drinking water pollutant and a prime cause of eutrophication in marine waters (Keeney, 1986; Diaz, 2001).

Once NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaves crop fields it passes through the vadose (unsaturated) zone of the soil profile and into groundwater. While the potential for biological processing of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in the subsurface is often thought to be low, many studies have found biological activity, including N<sub>2</sub>O production in groundwater (Groffman et al., 1998). Groundwater-borne NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> moves towards streams and is subject to processing in the near-stream (riparian) zone (Fig. 1). In riparian zones, groundwater often approaches the soil surface where the potential for biological activity is much higher than in deeper aquifers. Once NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> moves into streams, lakes, estuaries and oceans, there is potential for biological processing in both the water column and sediments of these aquatic ecosystems.


Figure 1. Nitrogen flows through the landscape lead to indirect  $N_2O$  emissions from agriculture.

The dominant biological processes leading to  $N_2O$  production are denitrification and nitrification. Denitrification refers to the primarily anaerobic reduction of  $NO_3^-$  to nitrite ( $NO_2^-$ ) and the N gases nitric oxide (NO),  $N_2O$  and dinitrogen ( $N_2$ ). The yield of different gases is highly variable and is controlled by several environmental factors (e.g., oxygen, pH). Most of the denitrifying bacteria that have been studied are heterotrophic (use carbon as a source of energy), however there are some denitrifiers capable of deriving energy from the oxidation of inorganic compounds, e.g. pyrite (Hiscock et al., 1991). Denitrification is expected to be vigorous in wet, high C wetland soils and in the anaerobic layers of aquatic sediments.

Nitrification refers to the oxidation of  $NH_4^+$  to  $NO_2^-$  and  $NO_3^-$  by a specialized group of chemoautotrophic bacteria that derive energy from these oxidations.  $N_2O$  is produced as a by-product of the oxidation of  $NH_4^+$  (Davidson et al., 2001). The process is considered to be aerobic, but has been observed to occur under microaerophilic (low oxygen) and anaerobic conditions (Firestone & Davidson, 1989). Nitrification is vigorous in upland soils, the water column of lakes, streams and estuaries and in aerobic layers of aquatic sediments.

## IPCC methodology for calculating indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from agriculture

The IPCC methodology for calculation of national emission inventories for agriculturally derived N<sub>2</sub>O includes both direct and indirect emissions. Direct emissions from fertilized fields are assumed to be 1.25% of fertilizer and manure N applied to the field. The calculation for indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions is:

 $N_2O(Indirect) = N_2O(G) + N_2O(L) + N_2O(S)$  where:

- $N_2O(G)$  = emissions associated with atmospheric deposition of agricultural N that has been transferred to the atmosphere.
- $N_2O(L)$  = emissions associated with the N that leaves crop fields in leaching and runoff.
- $N_2O(S)$  = emissions associated with human sewage.

 $N_2O(L) = NLEACH * EF5$  where:

- NLEACH = the amount of N that leaves crop fields in leaching and runoff. This is assumed to be 30% of the fertilizer and manure N that is applied to crop fields.
- $EF5 = N_2O$  emission factor for N that leaves crop fields in leaching and runoff and is processed as it moves ultimately to the world ocean. This factor is assumed to be 2.5% and is partitioned as EF5-g (groundwater, 1.5%), EF5-r (rivers, 0.75%) and EF5-e (estuaries, 0.25%).

The indirect emissions represent 1/3 of total agricultural emissions and are dominated (75%) by those associated with leaching and runoff, which in turn is dominated (60%) by the emissions from groundwater. It is interesting to note that EF5 is the highest emission factor in the inventory methodology, higher even than the emission factor for direct emissions from fertilized fields, suggesting that leached N is even more likely to lead to N<sub>2</sub>O emissions than fertilized N applied directly to surface soil. The uncertainty associated with indirect emissions is large and the dataset supporting EF5 is small (Nevison, 2000).

The original formulation of EF5-g was based on the idea that some of the N<sub>2</sub>O produced in surface soils is transported to groundwater with leaching water and eventually degasses to the atmosphere. The value of EF5 was derived from a small number of studies that reported N<sub>2</sub>O:NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> ratios in agricultural drainage water. This formulation is problematic because it assumes that there is no biological processing of N and N<sub>2</sub>O production between surface soils and streams (Groffman et al., 2000). Numerous studies of the vadose zone, groundwater and riparian zones have found active N processing and significant N<sub>2</sub>O production along the pathway from fields to streams (Hill, 1996; Lowrance, 1998; Groffman et al., 2000). Degassing of surface-produced N<sub>2</sub>O is likely important in areas with artificial drainage that greatly increases the speed, and reduces the biological processing, of water and N movement from fields to streams (Hack & Kaupenjohann, 2002). Nevison (2000) reviewed the literature

on groundwater degassing and suggested that the original value for EF5-g (0.015) was overestimated and should be reduced, possibly to as low as 0.001.

Values for EF5-r and EF5-e were based on the idea that N processing and  $N_2O$  production in rivers and estuaries are a function of  $NO_3^-$  inputs to these water bodies (Seitzinger & Kroeze, 1998). The database in support of these factors is small. Moreover, factors such as water depth and residence time may be more important controllers of  $NO_3^-$  processing and  $N_2O$  production in rivers than  $NO_3^-$  inputs (Cole & Caraco, 2001).

## Data in support of the IPCC methodology

There are very few data available to validate the IPCC emission factors for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions associated with leaching and runoff. This lack of data is in marked contrast to the emission factor for direct emissions, which is based on several hundred field studies (Bouwman, 1996; Lægreid, 2002). True validation of indirect emissions requires a combination of data on N flows across the landscape with measurement of N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations and fluxes. While hydrologic-based analyses of N flows in agricultural watersheds are relatively common, N<sub>2</sub>O data are seldom collected in these studies. Evaluation of the methodology for indirect emissions is also complicated by the fact that these emissions are a spatially explicit phenomenon, involving the interaction of specific parcels of water with specific landscape features with different potential for N processing and N<sub>2</sub>O production. It is difficult to incorporate spatially explicit phenomena into a methodology that is driven solely by the amount of N added.

Weller et al. (1994) presented data on N flows and N<sub>2</sub>O emission from a small watershed in Maryland, USA with maize cropping in the upland and riparian forests at the interface between the fields and stream. N<sub>2</sub>O production in the riparian forest was equal to 0.0065 kg N<sub>2</sub>O per kg of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> input into the riparian forest, which is less than the IPCC value for EF5-g of 0.015.

Gold et al. (2002) produced estimates of riparian N<sub>2</sub>O emission for an 850-km<sup>2</sup> watershed in Rhode Island that attempted to account for the spatially explicit nature of indirect emissions. Their analysis considered variation in the amount of N that different riparian zones process by denitrification as well as variation in N<sub>2</sub>O production during this denitrification (the N<sub>2</sub>O:N<sub>2</sub> ratio). They accounted for variation in riparian denitrification using field data on riparian characteristics known to influence the ability of these areas to intercept and denitrify upland-derived NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (Rosenblatt et al., 2001). These characteristics were linked to soil characteristics (parent material, drainage class) that are included in new soils databases (SSURGO) available for many states in the U.S. (Soil Survey Staff, 1997). Variation in N<sub>2</sub>O:N<sub>2</sub> ratios was assessed with <sup>15</sup>N-based field measurements at four

riparian sites in the watershed. For the entire watershed, 0.014 kg  $N_2O$  were produced per kg of  $NO_3^-$  leached, a value very close to the IPCC value for EF5-g of 0.015.

Cole & Caraco (2001) assembled data on  $N_2O$  emissions from rivers and evaluated the assumption that these emissions are driven by  $NO_3^-$  inputs. They were able to assemble data from seven rivers and compared measured emissions with those derived from an emission-factor type model driven by  $NO_3^-$  input (Seitzinger & Kroeze, 1998). The model tended to over-predict  $N_2O$  emissions, suggesting that river physical and/or biological characteristics may also need to be considered, along with  $NO_3^-$  inputs, as a driver of emissions.

While there have been no systematic evaluations of indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in the Nordic countries, several studies have quantified landscape N flows and associated N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Ambus & Christensen (1995) measured N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from riparian zones but found no clear relationships between emissions and N inputs, and high variability that could not readily be explained by environmental factors. Paludan & Blicher-Mathiesen (1996), and Blicher-Mathiesen & Hoffmann (1999) quantified NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> absorption and N<sub>2</sub>O dynamics in a riparian fen in Denmark and found that the N<sub>2</sub>O yield varied with hydrologic flowpath, i.e., if there is a long anaerobic flowpath through the wetland, denitrification acts as a strong sink for N<sub>2</sub>O. Nitrogen retention by Nordic lakes and rivers has also been shown to be dependent on hydrologic conditions, with retention increasing along with residence time in both lakes (Windolf et al., 1996) and rivers (Svendsen & Kronvang, 1993).

There is a clear need for more data to evaluate the components of EF5. While the two riparian studies described above suggest that the values for EF5-g may be reasonable, the degassing-based formulation of this factor needs to be revised to include microbial processing of leached N, and many more spatially explicit evaluations are needed to increase confidence in its validity. The analysis of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from rivers suggests that EF5-r may be an overestimate, but again, many more measurements are needed. More fundamentally, we need to consider if we need to make the methodology for computing indirect emissions spatially explicit to at least some degree. It is clear that there is great variation in the ability of groundwater, riparian zones, wetlands, rivers and estuaries to process agriculturally derived NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and produce N<sub>2</sub>O. Incorporating this variation into the methodology may be critical for reducing the uncertainty associated with indirect emissions.

One efficient route to improving the database underlying the indirect emission calculations is to add N<sub>2</sub>O measurements to existing hydrology-based studies of N flows in landscapes. For example, Steinheimer et al. (1998) presented data from

23 years of intensive monitoring of a 40 ha maize-dominated watershed in Iowa, USA. They determined that approximately 50% of the N applied in fertilizer left the field in harvest, 17% left in leaching and runoff and roughly 30% was unaccounted for. If we assume that most of this unaccounted for N was lost as gas (assuming that the soils are not accumulating N), this provides an upper limit on the amount of  $N_2O$  that could be produced. However, our ability to assess the actual amounts of N<sub>2</sub>O emitted is limited by lack of knowledge of the N<sub>2</sub>O:N<sub>2</sub> ratio during gaseous loss. Given that this ratio can range from 1:50 to 99:1, estimates of N<sub>2</sub>O emission from this watershed could range from 0.6 to 30% of the N applied to the field (Groffman et al., 2000). The IPCC methodology predicts that 1.7% of the N applied would be emitted as N<sub>2</sub>O in direct (1.25%) and indirect emissions (0.45%) from groundwater (1.5% of leached N, which is 30% of the fertilizer applied, i.e. 0.3.\*1.5 = 0.45). If N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations and fluxes had been measured along with the N flows in the Steinheimer et al. (1998) study, we would have a powerful evaluation of the IPCC methodology. Given that there are numerous national and regional programs to monitor N flows, at a wide range of scales, adding analysis of N<sub>2</sub>O to these programs would be an efficient mechanism for improving the scientific basis for EF5.

## Implications and opportunities for mitigation

Consideration of indirect emissions of  $N_2O$  from agriculture readily leads to consideration of mitigation. There is great interest in managing N flows in the environment for water quality reasons. There is particular concern about  $NO_3^-$ , which is a drinking water pollutant and an agent of eutrophication in coastal waters (Keeney, 1986; Diaz, 2001). Coastal eutrophication is a truly global problem and is most frequently linked to agricultural N use (Diaz, 2001). Approaches to controlling eutrophication include reducing fertilizer use, increasing the efficiency of fertilizer use, i.e. reducing leaching loss, and establishing "sinks" for N in watersheds by managing riparian areas, wetlands and streams (Mitsch et al., 2001). Each of these approaches has implications for direct and/or indirect emissions of  $N_2O$ .

While reductions in fertilizer use to decrease NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching would clearly reduce indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (indeed, this is the only route to reduce emissions under the IPCC methodology), other efforts to manage N flows in the landscape have more complex, and possibly contradictory effects on emissions. For example, if NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching is reduced in a field, the current IPCC methodology would produce a reduction in indirect losses because the N<sub>2</sub>O production in groundwater, rivers and estuaries is driven by the amount of N leaching (currently fixed at 30%). However, if N stays in the field, e.g., in winter cover "catch crops" instead of leaches, this could lead to an increase in direct emissions (currently fixed at 1.25% of fertilizer and manure input). The IPCC methodology would partially account for this possible increase because it includes an emission from crop residues, and the addition of N in the cover crop residues would be included in this calculation. Still, there is a clear need to evaluate the effect of reducing N leaching on both direct and indirect emissions. In many cases, leaching is less than 30% of the N applied, and there are active efforts to reduce leaching in many areas. The effect of these reductions on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions could be significant (Brown et al., 2001; Silgram et al., 2001) but needs to be verified with data.

Widespread management of landscape N flows by creating "sinks" could have significant effects on indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. This management essentially changes the location of N<sub>2</sub>O production, e.g., moving it from estuaries to riparian zones. If the yield of N<sub>2</sub>O during denitrification in riparian zones is less than the yield in estuaries, this management would reduce indirect emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O. In contrast, managing N flows in the landscape for water quality purposes could increase indirect emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O, e.g., if riparian zones emit more N<sub>2</sub>O during denitrification than estuaries. The central question is our ability to control N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in these systems.

The effect of managing landscape N flows on indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions depends fundamentally on variation in N<sub>2</sub>O:N<sub>2</sub> ratios in different landscape features. We have been investigating environmental controls on this ratio in riparian forests, with an eye towards developing protocols for management of these forests to reduce indirect emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O. Unfortunately, this ratio does not exhibit coherent patterns with environmental variables amenable to management in riparian zones. For example, we hypothesized that soil pH, dissolved oxygen and denitrification rate would all be strong controllers of N<sub>2</sub>O:N<sub>2</sub> ratio. However, none of these variables were significant predictors of the ratio in our field studies. Several studies have found strong control of this ratio by these variables in the laboratory (Firestone & Davidson, 1989). However, these controls are not readily expressed in the field due to multiple factor interactions and the effect of physical factors, e.g. diffusion, hydrologic flow path, that are important in the field, but not in the laboratory (Blicher-Mathiesen & Hoffmann, 1999). If we cannot control the ratio in landscape features that we are managing as NO<sup>3</sup> sinks, we will not mitigate indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.

## Indirect emission scenarios for Denmark

Data from the nation of Denmark are useful for illustrating the nature of indirect emissions and the potential for, and complexities of, options for mitigation of these emissions. An emission inventory for 1998 showed N input to crop fields (fertilizer plus manure) of 653 kt, which produces 196 kt of N leaching using the IPCC default leaching fraction of 30%. This application yields 8.2 kt of direct and 4.9 kt of indirect emissions of  $N_2O$  using the IPCC default factors of 1.25% and 2.5% for direct and indirect emissions respectively (Table 1).

These data allow us to explore the effect of different N management schemes on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. The most straightforward approach to N management is to reduce fertilizer input. A 30% reduction in input produces a 30% reduction in leaching losses and both direct and indirect emissions (Table 1, line 2). Reducing input is the only way to mitigate emissions in the current IPCC methodology. However, in some areas, reducing fertilizer input could result in unacceptable reductions in crop production. Moreover, in many areas, leaching is currently less than 30% and/or there are active efforts to reduce leaching to less than 30%. By the current methodology, a 50% reduction in leaching would yield a 50% reduction in indirect emissions and a significant reduction in total emissions (Table 1, line 3). However, the fate of N preserved by reducing leaching is unclear. If this N remains in the crop field, it can be cycled by plants and microorganisms with emission of N<sub>2</sub>O. We must accept the possibility that reducing leaching could increase direct emissions from the field, negating some of the benefit from reducing the indirect emissions (Table 1, line 4). Research to determine the effect of leaching reductions on direct and indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions should be a priority and should be evaluated before the IPCC methodology is altered to allow for reduction of the 30% N leaching default value.

	N	N	Direct	Indirect	Total
Scenario	Input	leached	emissions	emissions	emissions
	kt	kt	kt	kt	kt
Current	653	196	8.2	4.9	13.1
Reduce fertilizer input by 30%	457	137	5.7	3.4	9.1
Reduce leaching by 50%	653	98	8.2	2.4	10.6
Reduce leaching by 50%, but increase di- rect emissions by 15%.	653	98	9.4	2.4	11.8
Reduce indirect emissions by 50% by man- aging riparian zones.	653	196	8.2	2.4	10.6
Increase indirect emissions by 50% by man- aging riparian zones	653	196	8.2	7.4	15.6

Table 1. Nitrogen input, management and N<sub>2</sub>O emission scenarios for Denmark using national input and leaching data for 1998 from Kyllingsbæk et al. (2000).

The data from Denmark also allow us to evaluate the possible effects of riparian zone management on indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. If we can develop clever ways to manage the N<sub>2</sub>O:N<sub>2</sub> ratio during denitrification in these zones, there could be significant reductions in indirect emissions (Table 1, line 5). However, given that we currently do not have a clever way to manage this ratio, it is quite possible that aggressive use of riparian zones to prevent the movement of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to coastal waters will increase indirect and total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Table 1, line 6).

# Conclusions

- There is a clear need for more data to evaluate the magnitude of indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and to assess the validity of the IPCC methodology for quantifying these emissions. Data on both N flows across the landscape and the N<sub>2</sub>O emissions associated with these flows are required. There are currently active programs to assess the movement of water and N across the landscape in many nations. Adding N<sub>2</sub>O measurements to these programs would be an efficient way to rapidly reduce the uncertainty in the IPCC methodology for assessing indirect emissions.
- It may be necessary to make the IPCC methodology for assessing indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions at least partially spatially explicit. These emissions depend fundamentally on the interaction of specific parcels of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-laden water interacting with specific landscape features with variable capacity for transforming N and producing N<sub>2</sub>O. In areas with well-developed databases on groundwater, geology, soils and hydrology (e.g. SSURGO in the US), it should be possible to markedly improve assessment of indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.
- The potential for mitigating indirect emissions is highly uncertain and somewhat controversial. While there is great interest in managing N flows across the landscape for water quality purposes, the effects of this management on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions is not clear. There is a strong need to evaluate the effects of water quality-based N management schemes on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (both direct and indirect). There is potential for these schemes to reduce emissions, but only if we can develop techniques to manage the N<sub>2</sub>O:N<sub>2</sub> ratio during denitrification.

# References

- Ambus, P. & Christensen, S. (1995) Spatial and seasonal nitrous oxide and methane fluxes in Danish forest-, grassland-, and agroecosystems. Journal of Environmental Quality 24, 993-1001.
- Blicher-Mathiesen, G. & Hoffmann, C.C. (1999) Denitrification as a sink for dissolved nitrous oxide in a freshwater riparian fen. Journal of Environmental Quality **28**, 257-262.

- Bouwman, A.F. (1996) Direct emission of nitrous oxide from agricultural soils. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **46**, 53-70.
- Brown, L., Jarvis, S.C. & Headon, D. (2001) A farm-scale basis for predicting nitrous oxide emissions from dairy farms. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **60**, 149-158.
- Cole, J.J. & Caraco, N.F. (2001) Emissions of nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) from a tidal, freshwater river, the Hudson River, New York. Environmental Science & Technology **35**, 991-996.
- Davidson, E.A., Keller, M., Erickson, H.E., Verchot, L.V. & Veldkamp, E. (2001) Testing a conceptual model of nitrous and nitric oxides. BioScience **50**, 667-680.
- Diaz, R.J. (2001) Overview of hypoxia around the world. Journal of Environmental Quality **30**, 275-281.
- Firestone, M.K. & Davidson, E.A. (1989) Microbiological basis of NO and N<sub>2</sub>O production and consumption in soil. In Exchange of Trace Gases between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere (Eds M.O. Andreae & D.S. Schimel), pp. 7-22. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.
- Gold, A.J., Groffman, P.M., Addy, K., Kellogg, D.Q. & Nowicki, B. (2002) Assessment of N<sub>2</sub>O production from nitrate enriched groundwater in different riparian settings. Oral presentation at Third International Symposium on Non-CO<sub>2</sub> Greenhouse Gases (NCG-3). Maastricht, The Netherlands.
- Groffman, P.M., Gold, A.J. & Jacinthe, P.A. (1998) Nitrous oxide production in riparian zones and groundwater. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **52**, 179-186.
- Groffman, P.M., Gold, A.J. & Addy, K. (2000) Nitrous oxide production in riparian zones and its importance to national emission inventories. Chemosphere - Global Change Science **2**, 291-299.
- Groffman, P.M., Gold, A.J., Kellogg, D.Q. & Addy, K. (2002) Mechanisms, rates and assessments of N<sub>2</sub>O in groundwater, riparian zones and rivers. In Non-CO<sub>2</sub> Greenhouse Gases: Scientific understanding, control options and policy aspects (Eds. J. Van Ham, A.P.M. Baede, R. Guicherit & J.G.F.M. Williams-Jacobse). Rotterdam: Millpress, pp. 159-166.
- Hack, J. & Kaupenjohann, M. (2002) N<sub>2</sub>O discharge with drain water from agricultural soils of the upper Neckar region in Southern Germany. Oral presentation at Third International Symposium on Non-CO<sub>2</sub> Greenhouse Gases (NCG-3). Maastricht, The Netherlands.
- Hill, A.R. (1996) Nitrate removal in stream riparian zones. Journal of Environmental Quality **25**, 743-755.
- Hiscock, K.M., Lloyd, J.W. & Lerner, D.N. (1991) Review of natural and artificial denitrification of groundwater. Water Research **9**, 1099-1111.
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change/Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development). (1997) Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Paris: OECD/OCDE.
- Keeney, D.R. (1986) Sources of nitrate to ground water. CRC Critical Reviews in Environmental Control 16, 257-304.
- Keeney, D.R. & Follett, R.F. (1991) Managing nitrogen for groundwater quality and farm profitability: Overview and introduction. In Managing Nitrogen for Groundwater Quality and Farm Profitability (Eds R.F. Follett, D.R. Keeney & R.M. Cruse), pp. 1 17. Madison, WI: Soil Science Society of America.
- Kyllingsbæk, A., Børgesen, C.D., Andersen, J.M., Poulsen, H.D., Børsting, C.F., Vinther, F.P., Heidmann, T., Jørgensen, V., Simmelsgaard, S.E., Nielsen, J., Christensen, B.T.,

Grant, R. & Blicher-Mathiesen, G. (2000) Kvælstofbalancer i dansk landbrug. Mark- og staldbalancer. Miljø- og Energiministeriet, Danmarks Miljøundersøgelser.

- Lægreid, M. (2002) N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from N fertilizers. Oral presentation at Third International Symposium on Non-CO<sub>2</sub> Greenhouse Gases (NCG-3). Maastricht, The Netherlands.
- Lowrance, R. (1998) Riparian forest ecosystems as filters for nonpoint-source pollution. In Successes, Limitations and Frontiers in Ecosystem Science (Eds M.L. Pace & P.M. Groffman), pp. 113-141. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Mitsch, W.J., Day, J.W., Gilliam, J.W., Groffman, P.M., Hey, D.L., Randall, G.W. & Wang, N. (2001) Reducing nitrogen loading to the Gulf of Mexico from the Mississippi River basin: Strategies to counter a persistent ecological problem. BioScience 51, 373-388.
- Mooney, H.A., Vitousek, P.M. & Matson, P.A. (1987) Exchange of materials between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. Science **238**, 926-932.
- Mosier, A., Kroeze, C., Nevison, C., Oenema, O., Seitzinger, S. & van Cleemput, O. (1998) Closing the global atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O budget: Nitrous oxide emissions through the agricultural nitrogen cycle. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **52**, 225-248.
- Nevison, C. (2000) Review of the IPCC methodology for estimating nitrous oxide emissions associated with agricultural leaching and runoff. Chemosphere – Global Change Science **2**, 493-500.
- Paludan, C. & Blicher-Mathiesen, G. (1996) Losses of inorganic carbon nitrous oxide from a temperate freshwater wetland in relation to nitrate loading. Biogeochemistry 35, 305-326.
- Paul, E.A. & Clark, F.E. (Eds) (1996) Soil microbiology and biochemistry, second edition. New York: Academic Press.
- Prather, M., Derwent, R., Ehhalt, D., Fraser, P., Sanhueza, E. & Zhou, X. (1995) Other trace gases and atmospheric chemistry. In Climate Change 1995: Radiative Forcing of Climate Changes and an Evaluation of the IPCC IS92 Emission Scenarios (Eds) J. Houghton, L.G. Meira, E. Haites, N. Harris & K. Maskell). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Rosenblatt, A.E., Gold, A.J., Stolt, M.H., Groffman, P.M. & Kellogg, D.Q. (2001) Identifying riparian sinks for watershed nitrate using soil surveys. Journal of Environmental Quality **30**, 1596-1604.
- Seitzinger, S.P. & Kroeze, C. (1998) Global distribution of nitrous oxide production and N inputs in freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 12, 93-113.
- Silgram, M., Waring, R., Anthony, S. & Webb, J. (2001) Intercomparison of national & IPCC methods for estimating N loss from agricultural land. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **60**, 189-195.
- Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service (1997) National Soil Survey. Handbook, title 430-VI. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Steinheimer, T.R., Scoggin, K.D. & Kramer, L.A. (1998) Agricultural chemical movement through a field-size watershed in Iowa: Surface hydrology and nitrate losses in discharge. Environmental Science & Technology **32**, 1048-1058.
- Svendsen, L.M. & Kronvang, B. (1993) Retention of nitrogen and phosphorus in a Danish lowland river system: implications for the export from the watershed. Hydrobiologia 251, 123-135.

- Weller, D.E., Correll, D.L. & Jordan, T.E. (1994) Denitrification in riparian forests receiving agricultural discharges. In Global Wetlands: Old World and New (Ed W.J. Mitsch), pp. 117-131. New York: Elsevier Science.
- Windolf, J., Jeppesen, E., Jensen, J.P. & Kristensen, P. (1996) Modelling of seasonal variation in nitrogen retention and in-lake concentration: A four-year mass balance study in 16 shallow Danish lakes. Biogeochemistry **33**, 25-44.

# List of participants

Andrew Dustan Swedish Institute of Agricultural and Environmental Engineering (JTI) Uppsala, Sweden andrew.dustan@jti.slu.se

Asa K. Klemedtsson Trollhättan University Dept. Informatics and Mathematics Trollhättan, Sweden Asa.Kasimir.Klemedtsson@htu.se

Birna Sigrún Hallsdóttir Environmental & Food Agency of Iceland Reykjavík, Iceland BirnaH@hollver.is

Britta Hoem Statistics Norway Oslo, Norway britta.hoem@ssb.no

Christel Cederberg Swedish Dairy Association Stockholm, Sweden christel.cederberg@svenskmjolk.se

Frode Lyssandtræ Norwegian Ministry of Agriculture Oslo, Norway frode.lyssandtra@ld.dep.no

Gitte Blicher-Mathiesen National Environmental Research Institute Dept. Streams and Riparian Areas Silkeborg, Denmark gbm@dmu.dk

Hans M. Hanslin Norwegian Crop Research Institute Særheim Research Centre Norway hans.martin.hanslin@planteforsk.no Hlynur Óskarsson The Icelandic Agricultural Research Institute Reykjavik, Iceland hlynur@rala.is

Håkan Staaf Swedish Environmental Protection Agency Stockholm, Sweden Hakan.Staaf@environ.se

Jan Bertilsson Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Dept. Animal Nutrition and Management Uppsala, Sweden jan.bertilsson@huv.slu.se

Johan Wahlander Swedish Board of Agriculture Jönköping, Sweden johan.wahlander@sjv.se

Jón Guðmundsson The Icelandic Agricultural Research Institute Reykjavík, Iceland nonni@rala.is

Jørgen E. Olesen Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences Dept. Crop Physiology and Soil Science Tjele, Denmark JorgenE.Olesen@agrsci.dk

Jørgen Fenham Risø National Laboratory System Analysis Department Roskilde, Denmark j.fenhann@risoe.dk

Kristiina Regina MTT Agrifood Research Finland Soils and Environment Jokioinen, Finland kristiina.regina@mtt.fi Kristin Rypdal Statistics Norway Oslo, Norway kristin.rypdal@ssb.no

Lars Bakken Agricultural University of Norway, Department of Soil and Water Sciences Ås, Norway Lars.Bakken@ijvn.nlh.no

Leif Klemedtsson Göteborg University Institute of Botany Göteborg, Sweden leikl@tema.liu.se

Marit Lagreid Hydro Agri Research Centre Porsgrunn, Norway Marit.Lagreid@hydro.com

Martin Nørregaard Hansen Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences Dept. Agricultural Engineering Horsens, Denmark MartinN.Hansen@agrsci.dk

Mette Hjort Mikkelsen National Environmental Research Institute Dept. Policy Analysis Roskilde, Denmark MHM@dmu.dk

Mette Thyme Risø National Laboratory Plant Research Department Roskilde, Denmark mette.thyme@risoe.dk

Niels Otto Jensen Research Centre Risø Dept. Atmospheric Physics, Wind Energy Roskilde, Denmark n.o.jensen@risoe.dk Olof Andrén Swedish University of Agriculture Dept. Soil Science Uppsala, Sweden olle.andren@mv.slu.se

Pertti J. Martikainen University of Kuopio Dept. Environmental Sciences Kuopio, Finland pmartika@messi.uku.fi

Pete Smith University of Aberdeen Dept. Plant & Soil Science Aberdeen, UK pete.smith@abdn.ac.uk

Peter Groffman Institute of Ecosystem Studies NY, USA GroffmanP@ecostudies.org

Rolf Adolfsson Statistics Sweden Stockholm, Sweden rolf.adolfsson@scb.se

Sven G. Sommer Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences Dept. Agricultural Engineering Horsens, Denmark SvenG.Sommer@agrsci.dk

Søren O. Petersen Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences Dept. Crop Physiology and Soil Science Tjele, Denmark Soren.O.Petersen@agrsci.dk

Tove Heidmann Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences Dept. Agricultural Systems Tjele, Denmark Tove.Heidmann@agrsci.dk

### **DIAS Foulum**

Research Centre Foulum P.O. Box 50, DK-8830 Tjele Tel. +45 8999 1900 • Fax +45 8999 1919 djf@agrsci.dk • www.agrsci.dk

Board of Directors Administration

Dept. of Animal Product Quality Dept. of Animal Breeding and Genetics Dept. of Animal Nutrition and Physiology Dept. of Animal Health and Welfare Dept. of Agricultural Systems Dept. of Crop Physiology and Soil Sciences

Dept. of Farm Management and Research Facilities Dept. of Analytical Chemistry Dept. of Information International Unit Dept. of Centre Management, Foulum

### **DIAS Aarslev**

Research Centre Aarslev Kirstinebjergvej 10, DK-5792 Aarslev Tel. +45 6390 4343 • Fax +45 6390 4390

Dept. of Horticulture

### **DIAS Flakkebjerg**

Research Centre Flakkebjerg Flakkebjerg, DK-4200 Slagelse Tel. +45 5811 3300 • Fax +45 5811 3301

Dept. of Plant Biology Dept. of Crop Protection Dept. of Centre Management, Aarslev

### **DIAS Bygholm**

Research Centre Bygholm Schüttesvej 17, P.O. Box 536 DK-8700 Horsens Tel. +45 7629 6000 • Fax +45 7629 6100

Dept. of Agricultural Engineering Dept. of Centre Management, Bygholm

#### Units at other locations

Dept. of Variety Testing Teglværksvej 10, Tystofte DK-4230 Skælskør Tel. +45 5816 0600 • Fax +45 5816 0606

Askov Experimental Station Vejenvej 55, DK-6600 Vejen Tel. +45 7536 0277 • Fax +45 7536 6277

Biotechnology Group (Dept. of Plant Biology) Thorvaldsensvej 40, 2. DK-1871 Frederiksberg C Tel. +45 3528 2588 • Fax +45 3528 2589

Borris Experimental Station Vestergade 46, DK-6900 Skjern Tel. +45 9736 6233 • Fax +45 9736 6543

Experimental Station for Organic Farming Rugballegaard P.O. Box 536 DK-8700 Horsens Tel. +45 7629 6000 • Fax +45 7629 6102

Foulumgaard, P.O. Box 50 DK-8830 Tjele Tel. 8999 1900 • Fax +45 8999 16 33

Jyndevad Experimental Station Flensborgvej 22, DK-6360 Tinglev Tel. +45 7464 8316 • Fax +45 7464 8489

Rønhave Experimental Station Hestehave 20, DK-6400 Sønderborg Tel. +45 7442 3897 • Fax +45 7442 3894

Silstrup Experimental Station Højmarken 12, DK-7700 Thisted Tel. +45 9792 1588 • Fax +45 9791 1696

Tylstrup Experimental Station Forsøgsvej 30, DK-9382 Tylstrup Tel. +45 9826 1399 • Fax +45 9826 0211